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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERERS




Dear Fellow Shareholders,

On behalf of New Silkroad Culturaltainment Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”), | am pleased to present the annual results of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 (‘the Year”).

2023 was another turbulent year for the world economy. The economic
aftereffects of the COVID-19 pandemic persisted. Many new and ongoing
challenges, such as geopolitical tensions, soaring interest rates, high inflation and
climate disasters also impeded a global economic recovery.

The Group's winery business implemented a diversification strategy during
the year and developed new revenue from grape consignment planting and
processing. During the year, the revenue from winery business increased by
3.6% to approximately HK$86.7 million (2022: HK$83.7 million), and the Group
temporarily changed the sales price policy and provided sales discounts to
customers to reduce marketing expenses, resulting in a decrease in gross profit
margin. Through its tireless effort, the Group's net loss is approximately HKS$0.3
million for the year (2022: 3.0 million net loss).

The Group's two businesses in Jeju, South Korea are still in stagnation. After
careful consideration, the Group intends to explore a potential disposal of its
South Korean business at the appropriate time if any suitable opportunity arises.

The Sydney Opera Residences Project completed the delivery of three residential
units in 2023. Together with the rental of the shopping malls for sale, the related
income amounted to approximately HK$43.6 million (2022: HK$285.8 million)
recognized in financial results for the year.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFREHRS

The Group has officially acquired 100% equity in a property management
company with the brand name “Yuehao Property”in the mid-2023. This segment
has maintained excellent performance in the past few months, bringing
HK$337.7 million to the Group's revenue, and had a net profit of approximately
HK$40.5 million.

The entertainment licence in Jeju, South Korea recorded a non-recurring
impairment of approximately HK$46.3 million, and the commercial mall of
the Sydney Opera Residences Project recorded a non-recurring impairment of
approximately HK$51.7 million. The main reason was that the banks maintained
a high interest rate environment which affected the fair value of assets in the
market.

Based on the above increase in recurring income and non-recurring
impairments, the overall revenue of the Group for the Year increased by 27.0% to
HK$469.2 million (2022: HK$369.5 million), but a loss of HK$122.9 million (2022:
profit of HK$171.7 million) was recorded. Loss attributable to shareholders of the
Company (the "Shareholders”) was HK$82.3 million (2022: Loss of HK$112.5
million). Basic loss per share was HK2.56 cents (2022: loss of HK3.51 cents). As
at 31 December 2023, the Group had total assets and net assets valued at
HK$2,290.5 million and HK$1,693.8 million respectively.
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The Group has more than HK$200 million equivalent of cash and more than
HK$170 million equivalent of sustainable real estate and commercial properties
in the Group. It is also expected that this part of the value will continue to boost a
better 2024 performance in greater income and return on investment.

Looking forward to 2024, the Group will adhere to the concept of ‘creating a
beautiful cultural tourism and life circle’, and integrate wine, resorts, high-end
commercial and residential properties and property management into people’s
beautiful lives, and gradually become a comprehensive cultural tourism and
property management service provider.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to the

support and trust of our shareholders and business partners as well as the
dedicated efforts of all our employees.

Ma Chenshan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & A

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Group's operating results for the Group's operating results for the Year were
contributed by the (i) development and operation of integrated resort and
cultural tourism in South Korea; (i) development and operation of real estate
in Australia; (i) production and distribution of wine in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"); and (iv) operation of entertainment business in South Koreg;
and (v) provision of property management service in the PRC.

Revenue

Revenue for the Year increased by 27.0% to approximately HK$469.2 million
(2022: HK$369.5 million), mainly due to revenue of approximately HK$337.7
million brought by the new property management segment (the "New
Segment’) (2022: Nil) being recognised during the Year.

The revenue from the Group's wine business for the Year increased by 3.6%
to HK$86.7 million (2022: HK$83.7 million) mainly due to the increment of
consigned processing business.

Revenue generated from our entertainment business for the Year was
approximately HK$1.2 million (2022: Nil).

Gross Profit

Gross profit for the Year increased by 26.4% to approximately HK$108.9 million
(2022: HK$86.2 million), mainly due to the increase in the gross profit generated
from the property management business to approximately HK$72.9 million
(2022: Nil).

The gross profit of the wine business decreased by 4.8% to approximately
HK$35.4 million (2022: HK$37.2 million), due to the impact of sales price policy
during the Year in which sales discounts were offered to customers to reduce
marketing expense. The gross profit margin decreased by 3.6 percentage points
t0 40.8% (2022: 44.4%).

Other Revenue

Other revenue decreased by 9.7% to approximately HK$20.0 million during the
Year (2022: HK$22.2 million), mainly due to the decrease in government grants of
HKS5.7 million (2022: HK$12.0 million).

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses decreased by 49.1% to approximately HK$33.6
million during the Year (2022: HK$66.1 million), mainly due to the decrease in
selling and distribution expenses of Opera Residence Project to approximately
HKS6.1 million (2022: HKS$33.1 million). Selling and distribution expenses as a
percentage of revenue decreased by 10.7 percentage points to 7.2% (2022:
17.9%) as the revenue increased.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses mainly consisted of management
staff salaries, office rental, professional fees and operating expenses of the
entertainment business. The administrative and other operating expenses
increased by 48.2% to approximately HK$126.6 million during the Year (2022
HK$85.4 million) mainly attributable to the New Segment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
BEEB WA

FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
Impairment losses of right-of-use assets

In view of the deteriorated performance of the entertainment business and
the unfavorable market conditions, the Group recognised impairment losses
on right-of-use assets in Korea of approximately HK$1.8 million during the
Year (2022: Nil) with the reference of a business valuation prepared by an
independent professional valuer.

Impairment loss on Property, Plant and Equipment

With reference to the impairment assessment of the entertainment business in
South Korea based on the valuation of the fair value of the underlying facilities
appliances relating to the business, an impairment loss of approximately HK$2.1
million was recognised during the Year (2022: Nil) as the estimated fair value of
the facilities appliances was less than the carrying amount of the project.

Impairment losses of intangible assets

In view of the deteriorated performance of the entertainment business and the
unfavorable market conditions, the Group recognised impairment losses on
intangible assets of approximately HK$46.3 million during the Year (2022: Nil)
based on a business valuation prepared by an independent professional valuer.

Impairment loss on completed properties held for sale

In view of the expected sale prices of properties, and the sales price of the
properties with comparable locations and conditions, the Group recognised
impairment losses on completed properties held for sale of approximately
HKS$51.7 million during the Year (2022: Nil) based on a business valuation
prepared by an independent professional valuer.

Loss before Taxation

During the Year, the Group recorded a loss before tax of approximately HK$133.2
million (2022: loss of HK$141.1 million).

Taxation

Taxation during the Year mainly comprised current income tax expenses of

approximately HK$19.8 million (2022: HK$13.1 million), over-provision in prior

year of approximately HK$6.9 million (2022: under-provision in prior year of
pproximately HK$17.1 million) and deferred tax credit of approximately HK$23.1
illion (2022: deferred tax expense of HK$0.5 million).

Loss Attributable to Owners of the Company

Taking into consideration the abovementioned factors, loss after tax for the
Year was approximately HK$122.9 million (2022: loss of HK$171.1 million). Loss
attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$82.3 million
(2022: loss of HK$112.5 million). Basic loss per share attributable to owners of the
\Company for the Year was HK2.56 cents (2022: loss of HK3.51 cents).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & A

FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Cash and Borrowings

The Group's sources of fund were mainly generated from cashflows from its
operating activities and loan facilities provided by financial institutions. As at 31
December 2023, the Group recorded a decrease in cash and cash equivalents by
63.6% to approximately HK$201.7 million (2022: HK$554.7 million).

As at 31 December 2023, total borrowings (excluding lease liabilities) increased
by 319.1% to approximately HK$59.9 million (2022: HK$14.3 million) as the bank
loan borrowed for the wine business. Our major borrowings are denominated
in Renminbi and Korean dollar(s). In view of the Group's cash and bank balances,
funds generated internally from our operations and the unutilised loan facilities
available, we are confident that barring any unforeseen circumstances, the Group
will have sufficient resources to meet its debt commitment and working capital
requirements in the foreseeable future.

Capital Expenditure

During the Year, our total capital expenditure amounted to approximately
HK$402.7 million (2022: HK$12.2 million) which was mainly used for the
acquisition of a subsidiary and the purchase of property, plant and equipment
in mainland China. For the Year 2024, we have budgeted approximately HK$20.0
million for capital expenditure mainly on construction of winery factories.

Inventories

Our inventories primarily consist of finished goods, work in progress and raw
materials. As at 31 December 2023, the Group's inventories decreased by 0.6%
to approximately HK$217.4 million (2022: HKS$218.7 million). Finished goods
increased by 50.7% to approximately HKS$26.7 million (2022: HK$17.7 million)
and finished goods turnover ratio of the wine business (being average closing
finished goods divided by cost of sales) was 153 days for the Year (2022: 132
days).

Balance Sheet Analysis

As at 31 December 2023, total assets of the Group increased by 6.8% to
approximately HK$2,290.5 million (2022: HK$2,144.8 million). Total assets were
composed of current assets of approximately HK$869.1 million (2022: HK$1,133.2
million) and non-current assets of approximately HK$1,421.5 million (2022:
HK$1,011.5 million). The increase in total assets was primarily due to the goodwill
of approximately HK$314.3 million (2022: Nil) and the intangible assets of
approximately HK$157.1 million (2022: Nil) as a result of the acquisition of a new
subsidiary during the Year.

As at 31 December 2023, total liabilities, which included current liabilities of
approximately HK$498.1 million (2022: HK$257.8 million) and non-current
liabilities of approximately HK$98.7 million (2022: HK$76.7 million), decreased
by 784% to approximately HK$596.7 million (2022: HK$334.5 million) mainly
because of the increased payables of the New Segment and the bank loan
borrowed for the wine business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

"SEE'EE ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ*ﬁ'

FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
Balance Sheet Analysis (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, our total equity was composed of owners' equity of
approximately HK$1,443.5 million (2022: HK$1,556.3 million), mainly due to
loss for the year of approximately HK$122.9 million and translation exchange
difference of approximately HK$31.3 million, and non-controlling interests of
approximately HK$250.3 million (2022: HK$253.9 million).

The Group’s current ratio as at 31 December 2023 decreased to 1.7 (2022: 4.4) as
a result of the decrease in current asset and increase in current liabilities. Gearing
ratio, representing total borrowings (excluding lease liabilities) divided by total
equity, increased to 3.5% (2022: 1.4%) as a result of the loan borrowed for the
winery business.

Trade receivables turnover ratio (being average trade receivables divided by
revenue) for the Year increased to 54 days (2022: 5 days) as the trade receivables
of the New Segment had a longer credit period.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the Year, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 2.1% (2022:
67.9%) of the Group's total purchases and the purchases attributable to
the Group’s largest supplier was 1.0% (2022: 28.1%). The Group’s five largest
customers accounted for 20.1% (2022: 54.8%) of the Group’s total revenue and
the revenue attributable to the Group's largest customer was 6.4% (2022: 19.4%).

None of the Directors, their close associates (within the meaning of the Rules
(the "Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange)
or the Shareholders which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any beneficial interest in the five
largest suppliers or customers of the Group during the Year.

GOVERNMENT SUBSIDIES

During the Year, the Group has been granted subsidies in an aggregate amount
of approximately HK$5.7 million (2022: HK$12.0 million) from the respective local
governments for subsidising the Group's technical development.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the Year (2022:
Nil).

RLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 December 2023, bank loan of HK$55,029,000 (2022: Nil) was secured by
(1) the Group's buildings and land use rights located in the PRC with carrying

"~ amounts of HK$14,451,000 and HK$4,574,000, respectively, and (2) personal

guarantee from Mr. Huang Fei, a director of the Company’s subsidiaries and Mrs.
Hu Pian, the spouse of Mr. Huang Fei.

' JCONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in the below section headed “LITIGATION UPDATE"in respect of
the outstanding legal proceedings against the Group, The Group had no other
material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE RATES

The Group's revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are denominated in HKS,
RMB, AUD, Canadian dollar(s) and South Korean Won.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & A

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE RATES
(Continued)

The functional currency of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC is RMB whereas
the functional currencies of the Group’s subsidiaries in South Korea, Australia
and Canada are KRW, AUD and CAD respectively. There is a natural hedging
mechanism in place during the course of its respective business operation
and the impact of the foreign exchange risk is low, therefore no financial
instruments for hedging purposes are considered necessary. To enhance overall
risk management, the Group will review its treasury management function from
time to time and will closely monitor its currency and interest rate exposures
in order to implement suitable foreign exchange hedging policy as and when
appropriate to prevent related risks.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to treasury and funding
policies, with a focus on risk management and transactions that are directly
related to the underlying business of the Group.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

On 4 January 2023, the Group as purchaser entered into the sale and purchase
agreement (the “Acquisition Agreement’) with JLREAREKRERR
A8 (Beijing Yunhe Zhangji Investment Limited), a connected person of the
Company, as vendor, to acquire (the “Acquisition”) the entire equity interest
of bR B AEFEXILEEBRAF (Beijing Chaolaichaowang Culture
Media Company Limited) at the total cash consideration of RMB430,000,000.
The acquisition target is a property management group with the brand name
“Yuehao Property Management”. Details of the Acquisition are set out in the
announcement and the circular of the Company dated 4 January 2023 and 22
March 2023 respectively. The relevant resolution to approve the Acquisition
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder was duly passed in
the special general meeting of the Company held on 14 April 2023. After the
completion of the Acquisition, the financial results of the property management
group were consolidated into the result of the Group starting from May 2023.

In addition, the relevant supplemental subscription agreement, supplemental
loan agreement, and supplemental total-return-swap agreement for the
Opera Residence (the “Australian Project”) in Sydney, Australia were entered
into by the Group on 29 November 2022, details of which are set out in the
announcement and the circular of the Company dated 29 November 2022
and 27 February 2023 respectively. The relevant resolution approving the
aforementioned supplemental agreements and the transactions contemplated
thereunder was duly passed at the special general meeting of the Company held
on 22 March 2023. After the resolution was passed, the end-day of sales of the
last batch of the properties will be carried forward until 31 December 2024, and
the Group will receive the relevant income and profit.

Save as disclosed above, there was no material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures by the Group during the Year.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this announcement, there were no important events after
the Year and up to the date of this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

"SEE'EE ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ*ﬁ'

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no significant investment with a value
of 5% or more of the Group’s total assets.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION AND EMOLUMENT
POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total of 1,688 (2022: 353) full
time employees. The Group's emolument policies are formulated based on the
performance of individual employees and are reviewed annually. The Company
has a share option scheme for selected participants as incentive and reward
for their contribution to the Group. The Group also provides medical insurance
coverage and provident fund schemes (as the case may be) to its employees in
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations.

LITIGATION UPDATE

Legal proceedings of NSR Toronto Holdings Ltd.
(“NSR Toronto”)

Reference is made to the previous annual report 2022 and the disclosure made
on pages 14-16 of the following litigation. Capitalised terms used herein shall
have same meanings as those defined in such annual report. The following sets
out the updates during the Year:

(i) CIM Case

In June 2023, the parties reached a settlement whereby NSR Toronto
agreed to pay 2728926 Ontario Inc, the sum of CAD720,000.00 in full
satisfaction of its indemnification obligations under the Security Purchase
Agreement and related purchase agreements. Additionally, under the
terms of the settlement, 2728926 Ontario Inc. agreed to pay NSR Toronto
the sum of CAD165,000.00 in full satisfaction of amounts owing under
the a Facilitation Agreement, dated 21 October 2021. As a result of this
settlement, the arbitration that had been scheduled for fall 2023 has been
discontinued.

On 20 February 2024, the freeze motion and cross motion to stay the
counterclaim for failure to disclose the CIM-Sunny settlement to NSR on
a timely basis were both heard. On 6 March 2024, the Court released its
decision ruling in favour of NSR Toronto on both motions. As a result, the
CIM Parties’ counterclaim against NSR Toronto has been permanently
stayed and only NSR Toronto's action against the CIM Parties remains to be
litigated.

Globa King Case

In May 2023, a settlement was reached pursuant to which NSR Toronto
agreed to seek a dismissal of its action against Global King on a without
costs basis. On 10 November 2023, the Court issued a dismissal order
formally bringing the litigation to an end.

Based on the advice from Canadian legal counsel, the Directors consider that it
would be premature to assess the likelihood of the potential financial impact of
the above litigation cases on the Company, if any. As such, at this juncture, no
provision has been made in the accounts during the Year in respect of all the
legal claims mentioned above.
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MA CHENSHAN
Chairman and Executive Director

Mr. Ma Chenshan, aged 48, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company and the chairman of the Board on 30 December 2019. He is the
authorised representative, the chairman of the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and a member of the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) of the Company. Mr. Ma is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He holds a bachelor degree in Chinese Literature
from Shanxi University. From July 1998 to December 2003, he was a reporter
of CCTV. From January 2004 to May 2006, he served as the deputy director
of All China Federation of Supply and Marketing Cooperatives — Audio-visual
Center. From June 2006 to January 2009, he was an editor for journals of China
Cooperative Times. From February 2009 to October 2011, he was the deputy
president of China Cooperative Times and the executive deputy director of All
China Federation of Supply and Marketing Cooperatives — Audio-visual Center.
From November 2011 to December 2017, he served as the general manager
in the manager department, and the director in each of the Group Office,
the distribution department and the photography art department of Guang
Ming Daily. From January 2014 to May 2016, he was a member of the Standing
Committee of the Guangyuan Municipal Committee of Sichuan Province and the
deputy secretary of the Party Group of the Municipal Government. Mr. Ma is now
the chairman and the director of Macrolink Culturaltainment Development Co,,
Ltd. ("Macrolink Culturaltainment”) which is a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 000620) and is a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of Macro-Link Holding, and also a director of Macro— Link International Land
Limited ("MIL") which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Macrolink Culturaltainment
and the controlling shareholder of the Company.

ZHANG JIAN
Executive Director

Mr. Zhang Jian, aged 50, was appointed as an executive director of the Company
on 25 February 2004. He serves as the director of Macrolink Culturaltainment,
the director of Keda Manufacture Energy Co,, Ltd. which is a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600499) and the director of Sichuan
Hongda Co, Ltd. which is a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600331). He has many years of experience in investment banking
and corporate finance. He holds a bachelor degree in law and economics from
Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics and a master degree in business
administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.

HANG GUANYU
Executive Director

Mr. Hang Guanyu, aged 57, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 8 June 2015. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Hang holds a master degree in business administration from
Asia International Open University (Macau). He also holds Chinese Securities
Practising Certificate and Chinese Career Manager Qualification Certificate. From
January 2007 to June 2008, Mr. Hang was the director of UBS Securities Co,, Ltd.
He joined Beijing Macrolink Land Ltd. as the vice-president since December 2009.
He now acts as the vice-president. Mr. Hang is also a director of MIL.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEBRERN

LIU HUAMING
Executive Director

Mr. Liu Huaming, aged 52, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 8 June 2015. He is a member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr.
Liu is a PRC certified public accountant and certified public valuer. He worked as
vice-general manager and financial controller in Beijing Macrolink Gas Ltd. and
Beijing Macrolink Industrial Investment Co. Ltd. He now acts as the Chairman
of the Supervision Committee of Macrolink Culturaltainment. Mr. Liu is also a
director of MIL.

TING LEUNG HUEL, STEPHEN
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen, MH, FCCA, FCPA (Practising), ACA, CTA (HK),
FHKIoD, aged 70, was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of the Company on 25 February 2004. He is the chairman of each of the Audit
Committee of the Company and the Remuneration Committee, and a member
of the Nomination Committee. Mr. Ting is an accountant by profession and has
more than 40 years of experience in Accounting, Auditing and Management.
Currently, he is a partner of Messrs Ting Ho Kwan & Chan, Certified Public
Accountants and the director of Ting Ho Kwan & Chan CPA Limited. He is a non-
executive director of Chow Sang Sang Holdings International Limited (stock
code: 116) and holds independent non-executive director in five other listed
companies, namely Tongda Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 698), Tong
Ren Tang Technologies Co. Ltd. (stock code: 1666), Computer and Technologies
Holdings Limited (stock code: 46), China SCE Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1966) and Dongyue Group Limited (stock code: 189).

TSE KWONG HON
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Tse Kwong Hon, aged 69, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 24 November 2015. He is a member of each of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Tse holds a bachelor degree in Business Administration and
a diploma in Chinese Law from the University of East Asia, Macau, a bachelor
degree in Law from China University of Political Science and Law, a postgraduate
diploma in Macau Law from University of Macau, a master degree in International
ommercial Law from Asia International Open University (Macau) and a doctor
gree in Civil and Commercial Law from Xiamen University.

,
* _“Mr.Tse is the founder and director of ‘Che Kuong Hon Legal & Translation Service
Centre. He is now the part-time professor of Xiamen University at the Center for

Social Governance and Soft Law Research, and the distinguished professor of
Qilu University of Technology. He has over 30 years of experience in corporate
management and corporate legal counsel. He currently serves as director and
Ssenior consultant in various companies which are engaged in real estate, tourism
and entertainment related businesses. He has been awarded the ‘Diploma of
Merit" and ‘Medal of Merit in Profession” issued by the Macau Security Forces
and the Macau Governor respectively. He has also been awarded the “Medalha
de Mérito Desportivo” in 2015. He is now the vice president of Macao ASEAN
International Chamber of Commerce.
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CAO KUANGYU
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Cao Kuangyu, aged 73, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 25 February 2004. He is a member of each of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. He holds a bachelor degree in economics from the University of
Hunan and a master degree in financial management from the University of
London. Mr. Cao has extensive experience in the areas of banking and finance.
He worked in Bank of China, Hunan Province branch for the period from July
1981 to February 1996 and his last position was the deputy president of the
branch. For the period from February 1996 to September 1999, Mr. Cao was the
deputy general manager of Bank of China, Singapore branch. For the period from
September 1999 to September 2003, he was the president of China Citic Bank,
Shenzhen branch. He also acted as the managing director of the investment
banking division of BOCI Asia Limited from September 2003 to September
2007. Mr. Cao is currently an independent non-executive director of Dingyi
Group Investment Limited (stock code: 508), Dongwu Cement International
Limited (stock code: 695). He was an independent non-executive director of
Huili Resources (Group) Limited (stock code: 1303) from December 2011 to
September 2017 and Macrolink Capital Holdings Limited (stock code: 758) from
December 2013 to June 2021.

NG MO CHUN
Company Secretary

Mr. Ng Mo Chun, aged 39, is the company secretary and the authorised
representative of the Company since 18 September 2020. He is a fellow member
& an authorized supervisor of potential CPA of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a member of of Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants, a member of Hong Kong Company Governance Institute (Formerly
known as Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered
Governance Institute (Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators)
and obtained the dual professional qualifications of Chartered Secretary and
Corporate Governance Professional. He holds a bachelor degree in business
administration (accounting and finance) and a master degree in economics
from the University of Hong Kong. Mr. Ng has worked in a Big-4 international
professional services firm, a luxury chain hotel group, a regional airline group
and a PRC property developer, accumulating over 16 years of experience in
accounting, financial management, mergers and acquisitions, capital financing
and regulatory & compliance matters of listed companies.

Prior to joining of the Company, he has held the financial controlling and
company secretarial positions for China New City Commercial Development
Limited (stock code: 1321) from January to November 2019.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their annual report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in (i) development and operation of real estate in Australia;
(i) development and operation of integrated resort and cultural tourism in
South Korea; (jii) production and distribution of its own brand of wine in the
PRC; and (iv) operation of entertainment business in Jeju, South Korea. Details of
the principal activities and other particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are shown in note 47 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance is set out as below:

Overview

A fair review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 7 of this
annual report.

Key financial and business performance indicators

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using key financial
and business performance indicators comprising revenue, gross profit margin,
current ratio, gearing ratio and capital adequacy levels is set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion & Analysis” on pages 8 to 14 of this annual
report.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group is committed to environmental conservation. We have adopted
environmental, social and governance ("ESG") policy, leading us in pursuit
of sustainable business operation. With the implementation of various
environmental initiatives and practices in our business segments, the Group
strives for effective air emissions control, proper waste management and
wastewater treatment, optimising resource efficiency and building climate
resilience, in order to minimise the adverse impacts on the environment
and continually improve our environmental performance. The Group also
ensures that all our businesses operations strictly comply with all applicable
environmental laws and regulations. For further details of the ESG initiatives,
practices and performance of the Group, please refer to the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report”on pages 64 to 109 of this annual
report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risks of non-compliance with such requirements that
could have a significant impact on the conduct of our business and our
prospects. Non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations could result
in sanctions being levied against us, including fines, censures and suspension
which could adversely affect our reputation, prospects, revenues and earnings.
Accordingly, the Group has been allocating staff resources to ensure ongoing
compliance with rules and regulations and the new regulatory and reporting
standards. We also maintain cordial working relationships and communication
with local governments and relevant departments.

During the year, the Group's principal operations are carried out in South Korea,
Australia and the PRC while the Company’s shares are listed on the main board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). As far as the
Directors are aware, there was no material impact on the Group resulting from
non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations.

The Company has complied with the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571) ("SFO"), the Rules (the “Listing Rules") Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange, the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622), the
Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs and other relevant rules
and regulations during the year. Details regarding the measures and policies
taken relating to real estate, cultural tourism and entertainment businesses
in South Korea, real estate business in Australia and wine business in the PRC
on compliance with applicable laws and regulations are set out in the section
headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 64 to 109 of
this annual report.

Principal risks and uncertainties

During the year under review, the Group's businesses, financial conditions, results
of operations or growth prospects may be affected by risks and uncertainties
directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group's businesses. The principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group are set out below. This is not an exhaustive
statement of all relevant risks and uncertainties. Matters which are not currently
known to the Board or events which the Board considers to be immaterial may
Iso have a material adverse effect on our businesses, financial conditions, results
of operations or growth prospects.

;

"~ Risks related to our general operation

) Global economy and macro-economic conditions

The Group is exposed to the fluctuation of the global economy as well
as the industries and geographical markets in which it operates. Any
significant change in the level of economic growth in the global or
regional economy could adversely affect the Group’s financial conditions
or results of operation. In addition, if any event arises which materially and
adversely affects the social environment of the markets where we operate,
such as the pandemic, it may cause a significant impact on our ability to
operate business in a normal manner. Such event may cause disruptions
to our normal business activities and suspension of our business
operation temporarily.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

Risks related to our general operation (Continued)

(ii)

Currency fluctuations

The Group is an investment company with diversified businesses in
Australia, South Korea and Mainland China, and is exposed to potential
currencies fluctuations in those countries in which the Group operates.
The results of the Group are recorded in Hong Kong dollars but its
various subsidiaries may receive revenue and incur expenses in other
currencies. Any currencies fluctuations on translation of the accounts of
these subsidiaries may therefore impact on the Group’s financial position
or potential income, asset value and liabilities. The Group has not yet
engaged in any financial instruments for hedging purposes. Instead,
the Group will closely monitor potential currencies and interest rates
exposures in order to implement suitable foreign exchange hedging
policy where necessary to minimise the related risk.

Risks related to our entertainment business in Jeju, South Korea

@

(ii)

Economic trends

Market demands for entertainment are influenced by the economic
conditions in the relevant regions or countries. Our entertainment
business is particularly susceptible to the economic condition in China
where a significant number of our customers come from. Unfavourable
economic condition could cause decline in customer spending on
entertainment and thus reduce demand for our services, which could
adversely affect our revenue, results of operation and cash flows.

Regional events

Our entertainment business is sensitive to the willingness of the
customers to travel as all of them are non-local. Regional events, including
those resulting in travellers perceiving the area as unstable, regional
conflicts or an outbreak of hostilities or war or diseases, may cause severe
disruption on international travel, which would result in a decrease
in visitors to Jeju, South Korea and thus, may affect the results of our
operation. For risk mitigation and diversification purpose, the Group has
adjusted the development strategy to invest in countries which are more
politically stable with degree of certainty in financial return.

Risks related to our real estate business in Sydney, Australia

()

Property market risk

The real estate business of the Group is highly dependent on the
performance of the property market it operates. Any property market
downturn in the country generally or in the city and region in which
the Group's property project is located, or the lack of suitable land banks
or reserves for project development could adversely affect the Group's
business, results of operation and financial conditions.

HEDEE ®

DIRECTORS’
S

TERBRRAREBER @
R—REENARRR @)

(i)

EFRE

FEERS—BEBSTEZIREAT EH
FHEERORN E# Rk PEAM AL Z
FHEXEEAHETER R EAR AEH
MUATIEAREEENEREA ETEW
BABRAAEMNAEMEEESIWREE &
EWBARNRBITENEE RS IETE
FEENMBERIAEETRA -BEERE
BeAERURERAEMNZR TEFEHTA
w EREEREXRRANKEEZ AR
EERERFERBEEOINEHPER BIE
BRRR -

BLRE R N IR S X FE R0 A R B B

(i)

(i)

T S5 T
AT 2

T 3% 4 4R 44 79 7 SR 2 AE B ot (& S B SR AY A
BERFATE - ARAMNERKRZRER
Bl - R EFRMZPREAGHEBRARZE -
EREBERENBERRERNETR ZREHET
f » (R R D B ARRA AR B RO R 3K > BT FIBIUK
mEBEXRERBRERANEN TR E-

B EMF

HPIRFBIFEHMNE R REXHZZER
RESRAEE MEEN SEKRED S
BB R MEER B EAREF IR
RRESHBERKTENBRETNTZE &
N EMNRERLD AMEEEEEE S
BEREBRERZTEER AEEEREE
BRI RNBEEEERENERKREUR
EASAOER -

BLEUNE FE B3 3th & 3 F5 9 A8 BA =L B

(1)

/EE

AEEEMEXBSERELEEMEM
MEDHBERR - HAEEYEBEERMENE
R W T Rt EEENYETSHREAT
RRCNRZEEERNSBE I MEHE B
HAEENER ZBEXRBERMBRRENR
TRIF &

W B XK AR A B € FERS 2023

21



22

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EETHRS

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

Risks related to our wine business in the PRC

(@

(ii)

(ii})

(iv)

Macroeconomic environment

Our wine business may be affected by the volatility and uncertainty of
local and global macroeconomic conditions, particularly the changes in
domestic economy and local customer preferences. The unfavourable
factors and market uncertainty affecting China’s consumer market may
result in reduced demand for our products and thus, leading to lower
revenue and increased inventory pressure. It is therefore necessary for the
Group to diversify its investments and to adjust its business model and
operation approach to adapt to the change.

Government policies

Given the government policies to restrict ostentatious consumption and
impose stringent control over government spending on entertainment
and gifting, the markets for high-end winery products plunged. We have
been developing new and innovative products, managing manufacturing
and operating in a more scientific way, and adjusting our product mix so
as to adapt to the market shift caused by the effect of such policies.

Intense competition

With fierce competition brought by e-commerce and imported products,
challenges in wine industry remain. By enhancing brand awareness and
producing better quality products, we intend to differentiate ourselves
from our competitors and maintain leading position in our major markets.

Reputational risk

We rely on brand reputation and brand image to maintain a leading
position in the market. Should there exist any negative publicity
concerning our brands or products or in the industry in general, whether
true or not, it may degrade consumer confidence and in turn have a
material adverse effect on our business and operational results. It is
important that we continue to uphold the brand value, corporate image,
product safety and maintain high business ethics.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

Risks related to our wine business in the PRC (Continued)
(v)  Food safety risk

Food safety risk can arise in every step along the entire supply chain, from
plantation, raw materials storage, production process, to wine delivery,
storage and sales. Without efficient control measures to monitor and
trace the entire production process, food safety risk may give rise to
material impact on our business. Food safety incidents may bring negative
information dissemination and cause considerable damage to corporate
reputation.

Relationships with key stakeholders

The Group's success also depends on the support from key stakeholders which
comprise employees, customers, shareholders, media, business partners and
suppliers. Such relationship is further discussed in the section headed “1.3
Stakeholder Engagement” in “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on
pages 69 to 70 of this annual report.

Future business developments

An indication of future development of the Group's business is presented in the
section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 7 of this annual report.

RESULTS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 117.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

CHARITABLE DONATION

No charitable donation was made by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on page 234 to 235.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 7 June 2024
to Thursday, 13 June 2024 (both days inclusive) for the purpose of ascertaining
shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote at the annual general
meeting of the Company (the 2024 AGM") to be held on Thursday, 13 June
2024. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the 2024 AGM, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Progressive Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong by 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 6 June 2024.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set
out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and of the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 121
and note 35 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not have any distributable reserves.

EQUITY FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

There was no equity fund raising by the Company during the year, nor were
there any unutilised proceeds brought forward from any issue of equity securities
made in previous financial years.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Ma Chenshan (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Jian

Mr. Hang Guanyu

Mr. Liu Huaming

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen
Mr. Tse Kwong Hon
Mr. Cao Kuangyu

accordance with bye-law 87(1) of the Company’s bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”),

r. Zhang Jian, Mr. Hang Guanyu and Mr. Tse Kwong Hon will retire from office

by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 2024 AGM.

* None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the 2024 AGM has a service

one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

QContract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
|

r

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 15 to 17 of this annual
report.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for service and employment contracts, no other contracts, relating to the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
Group's business were entered into or existed during the year.

INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
AND CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in notes 28 and 45 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which the Company, any
of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any time during the
year, nor had there been any contract of significance entered into between the
Group and a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
except the related party transactions disclosure at the page 30 of this report,
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws provides that the Directors shall be indemnified by the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which shall or
may incur by reason of any act done or omitted in the execution of their duties.
The Company has maintained directors’and officers’liability insurance during the
year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Each of Mr. Ma Chenshan, Mr. Zhang Jian, Mr. Hang Guanyu and Mr. Liu Huaming
is the director and/or senior management of Macrolink Culturaltainment
Development Co, Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with
stock code 000620, which is involved in the development and operation of
residential and commercial real estate and cultural tourism businesses in the PRC
through its subsidiaries.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or any of their respective
associates had any interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

The above-mentioned competing businesses are operated and managed by
companies with independent management and administration. In addition, the
Board is independent of the boards of the above-mentioned companies carrying
on the competing businesses. Accordingly, the Group is capable of carrying on
its businesses independent of the competing businesses mentioned above.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS o iR BB

(@) Interests of Directors (@) ESHH#ED=
As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors ATECF+R=+—H EERAEAA
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares B FETHRABRAREHEAEEZE (F
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporation (within the ERBFRIPEKRFIEXVER) 2% B
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to MRESFFEBRBRNALQBRIERS &
be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise BERAFEI R BEFEZECMAN#ER K
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model KB NIBE EHRAME EHETAES
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model ETHEEXENEESTE) (MZXEFE])) BR
Code") contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows: THEARRE MMM ERRABWT .
(i) Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of (i) RERTRMRERAKRONETEE

the Company

No. of shares/underlying shares held in the Company

FRFA A ATRG, MERRHMEE

Interest in

underlying Approximate
shares percentage of
Nature of Interest in pursuant to issued share
Name of Directors interest shares  share options Total interests capital
IRERFE A1
FR¥FERR HBEZITRE
B REHEME RS BRI / A B2 EE
Mr. Zhang Jian Beneficial owner - 7,850,400 7,850,400 0.24%
RESE BmbEE A
Mr. Hang Guanyu Beneficial owner - 7,850,400 7,850,400 0.24%
MEFAEE BmbEE A
Mr. Liu Huaming Beneficial owner - 7,850,400 7,850,400 0.24%
BlzERLE BmbEE A
(ii) Long positions in the registered capital in associated (i) MEXFABZEEMELNEE

corporation of the Company

Registered
capital held in Approximate
Name of associated the associated percentage of
Name of Director corporation Capacity corporation registered capital
FRriss ARk £ E LM E A
BEEis REEE RS 513 HMEAR BB
Mr. Zhang Jian Cheung Shek Investment Beneficial owner RMB6,715,000 3.36%
Limited
' | SRESE EAREARRA BmEAA AE6,715,0007T
_F' I Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the PREXFIIREEIN R _T_=F+_A
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had or was =t+—B BEESERARATETHRASR
deemed to have any interests and short positions in the shares, RARRBDRETAEREE (EEREHF K
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its FAERBISBXVER) Z tn ~ AR D K R 55
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) R BAR 25 A S0 BRI A A Bl AR IR SR 55 e A
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company BIRBIS3521% 877 B 2 & 50 M AR EAE
under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the mRKE WRFERETUNASTHEEA
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code. B R Bt 32 P RO AT AR AR o B 3
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (Continued)

(b)

Interests of substantial shareholders

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the Company) had,
or were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company

Name of Shareholders Nature of interest

RRERMR iE

Macro-Link International Land Limited Beneficial owner

MEHEREMBRAT BmlEB A
Macrolink Culturaltainment Controlled corporation

Development Co,, Ltd.
MEBEREERROBRAR SELE
MACRO-LINK International Investment  Beneficial owner

Co, Ltd.

MEMERREBRAT BEmEBA
Macro-Link Industrial Investment Limited Controlled corporation
MEMBXRERRAT ZEEE
Macro-Link Holding Company Limited ~ Controlled corporation
EMIZRBRAT A
Mr. Fu Kwan Controlled corporation
BERE RELE
Beneficial owner
BmEEA
Cheung Shek Investment Limited Controlled corporation
EARERRAF 2L
Ms. Xiao Wenhui Controlled corporation
HXE3xt SEEE
Beneficial owner
BEmEBA

A= Ny

SR ()

HE
(b)

DIRECTORS’
&

FERREDR

NI =ZF+"RB=+—H ®MEZEFM
Mo UTAL EFEHARBDEETHAER
5N RARBRMDRAARRMNER R R
ERBESMAERMEXVEFE2R3IDER
ERMAERRB KRB PARENCEHNERT
RIEBFRAERNEBMFAFTEZER
MAREZIKE

REQBRMG RERRKRONGEE

Approximate
No. of shares/ percentage of
underlying issued share
shares held capital
FR¥sRE1R HERITRA
HERA R 17 B B RS I=Radan
1,757,450,743 54.79% 1,2
1,757,450,743 54.79% 2
215,988,336 6.73% 3
215,988,336 6.73% 4
1,973,439,079 61.52% 24
1,973,439,079 61.52% 4,5
10,000,000 031%
1,973,439,079 61.52% 5
1,973,439,079 61.52% 5
6,010,000 0.19%

WMo B X IR AR 2B € FERS 2023
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (Continued) HEHEIRE =

(b) Interests of substantial shareholders ontinued) by FTERF#ER ®
Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the REAT KRG RBRKRGHEFE @
Company (Continued)
Notes: Wizt -

These shares are held by Macro-Link International Land Limited which is a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Macrolink Culturaltainment Development Co,, Ltd. whose issued
shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock code 000620.

Macrolink Culturaltainment Development Co., Ltd. is owned as to 61.17% by
Macro-Link Holding Company Limited.

These shares are held by MACRO-LINK International Investment Co, Ltd. which
is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and is a wholly-owned

subsidiary of Macro-Link Industrial Investment Limited.

Macro-Link Industrial Investment Limited is wholly owned by Macro-Link
Holding Company Limited which in turn is owned as to 93.40% by Cheung Shek
Investment Limited, as to 2.83% by Mr. Fu Kwan and as to the remaining 3.77% by

five individuals.

Cheung Shek Investment Limited is owned as to 59.76% by Mr. Fu Kwan (who
has been granted 10,000,000 share options on 31 March 2017 under the share
option scheme adopted by the Company on 23 August 2012 (the "Share Option
Scheme”), as to 33.46% by Ms. Xiao Wenhui (who also has a personal interest in
3,010,000 shares of the Company and has been granted 3,000,000 share options
under the Share Option Scheme on 31 March 2017), as to 3.36% by Mr. Zhang
Jian and as to 3.42% by an individual.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors were

1. ZERMBEFEREEREMBRATFE Z
NBAREBAMALZAERAT L AHE
B bikEERROBRAD HEETROM
FNEHRZZ A B RID MRS A000620) 2 &
BB AT o

2. HMEMSEIREERERM B RAS B ERHE
RAERABEE6.17%EH

3. ZERMVBFTERERREARRADTE &
ARENEBELHESEMAI LA EREE
REBRABDZEZEMB AR -

4, MENSELEERATBMERERERA
B2BERBE MEMIERERATEEARKE
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not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company) who had, or was deemed to have, interest or
short position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which
were required to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which

were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under 1B 533618 B 77 B 2 & 50 it P9 B9 25 3803k
section 336 of the SFO. Bo
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A summary of the Share Option Scheme is set out in note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements. Details of the outstanding share options during the year

ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

Options to subscribe for shares

AIfitER)
Exercise
price Balance
Name and category of Exercise per share asat
participants period HK$  01/01/2023
?
ZEZ=
SHEEHLR skT#EE —B—H
PR 5! f7fEHA BT 28R
Directors
B3
Mr. Zhang Jian 04/07/2016 to 20381 7,850,400
03/07/2026
RERE 04/07/2016%
03/07/2026
Mr.Hang Guanyu 04/07/2016 to 20381 7,850,400
03/07/2026
nEFRE 04/07/2016F
03/07/2026
Mr. Liu Huaming 04/07/2016 10 20381 7,850,400
03/07/2026
DIERLE 04/07/20162
03/07/2026
Other employees 04/07/2016 to 20381 36,308,100
or participants 03/07/2026
HitfEEHBHE 04/07/2016%
03/07/2026
31/03/2017 to 20000 3,000,000
30/03/2027
31/03/2017%
30/03/2027
Substantial
shareholder
TERE
Mr. Fu Kwan 31/03/2017 to 20000 10,000,000
30/03/2027
BELE 31/03/2017%
30/03/2027
Total 72,859,300
st

Note: None of the above granted share options have any vesting periods or

vesting conditions and they were all fully vested on the respective dates of

grant.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT
SECURITIES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company, any
of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debt securities, including debentures, of the Company
or any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed above, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Company, or existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group during the year are set
out in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements. The transactions in

paragraph (a) fall under the definition of “continuing connected transaction”

in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Except for the continuing connected
transactions summarized as below, all of the related party transactions were fully
exempted from disclosure under the de minimis rule.

(i) On 13 September 2021, Diging Shangri-la entered into the 2021 Zhenjiu
Agreement with Guizhou Zhenjiu, pursuant to which Diging Shangri-
la has agreed to purchase Zhenjiu Wines from Guizhou Zhenjiu with
an annual cap of RMB8.3 million (equivalent to approximately HK$9.96
million) for each of the three years ending 31 December 2023. As the
actual purchase amounts for the three years ended 31 December 2023
ended up to be significantly lower than the annual cap, with the figures
being nil for the two years ended 31 December 2023, the 2021 Zhenjiu
Agreement was not renewed by the parties thereto.

Guizhou Zhenjiu is ultimately owned as to 90% by Mr. Wu Xiangdong who
is an associate (as defined in the Listing Rules) of Mr. Fu Kwan, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company. Therefore, Guizhou Zhenjiu is a
connected person of the Company and the transactions contemplated
under the 2021 Zhenjiu Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For all definitions and details of the transactions, please refer to the
announcement of the Company on 13 September 2021.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(i)

On 22 March 2023, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Sichuan
Silkroad Data Technology Co., Ltd. and the Company's controlling
shareholder Macrolink Culturaltainment Tourism Development Co.,
Ltd. and/or its associates, signed the contract regarding the continuing
connected transactions for the property management service income,
rental office space fees and security and guard service fees for three
years ending 31 December 2025, the relevant resolutions have been
passed at the company’s special general meeting held on 15 May 2023.
Details of incurred amount in the current year are set out in note 45
to the consolidated financial statements. As at the date of this report,
it is expected by the parties that Macrolink Culturaltainment Tourism
Development Co, Ltd. and/or its associates will cease to engage Sichuan
Silkroad Data Technology Co, Ltd. for the provision of security and guard
services from 1 April 2024 and the Group will be providing the security
and guard services by itself for the relevant properties.

For all definitions and details of the transactions, please refer to the
announcement and circular of the Company on 22 March 2023 and 28
April 2023 respectively.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing

connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions have been entered

into:

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
normal commercial terms or better; and
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transaction

on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's continuing

connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance

Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of

Historical Financial Information”and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s

Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions in

respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group above
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 29 November
2022 (the "CT Announcement”). Capitalised terms used herein shall have the
same meanings as defined in the CT Announcement unless otherwise stated.

On 29 November 2022, Wealth Venture and Macrolink Australia entered into the
Supplemental Agreements, pursuant to which Wealth Venture and Macrolink
Australia have agreed to, conditional upon the Company having obtained
approval from the Independent Shareholders, among other matters, (i) extend
the Redemption Date to the date falling on the expiry of 84 months from
the Closing Date, i.e. 19 December 2024, and to amend the rate at which the
Premium is calculated; (ii) extend the maturity date of the Loan to the date falling
on the expiry of 83 months from the date of the Loan Agreement, i.e. 28 August
2024, and to amend the interest rate of the Loan; and (iii) change the time and
specific terms of the return swap arrangement between Wealth Venture and
Macrolink Australia under the TRS Agreement.

To the best of the knowledge, information and belief of the Directors and having
made all reasonable enquiries, 51% voting rights of Macrolink Australia is owned
by Wealth Venture as holder of the Redeemable Preference Shares, and 49%
voting rights of Macrolink Australia is owned by Macro-Link International Land
which is the controlling shareholder of the Company interested in approximately
54.79% issued Shares as at the date of the CT announcement. As such, Macrolink
Australia is a connected person of the Company within the meaning of the
Listing Rules and the transaction contemplated therein constitute connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Supplemental Agreements were approved by the independent shareholders
at the special general meeting of the Company held on 22 March 2023.

The Board confirms that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in relation
to the above connected transactions (including continuing connected
transactions).

EVENTS AFTER THE PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no important events after the Year
nd up to the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

" % Details of the corporate governance code duly adopted by the Company are set

out on pages 34 to 63 of this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen (Chairman), Mr. Tse Kwong Hon and Mr.
Cao Kuangyu.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal control and risk
management systems of the Group, and financial reporting matters including a
review of the Group’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
Audit Committee was content that the accounting policies of the Group are in
accordance with the current best practice in Hong Kong.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws of
Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to shareholders by
reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023
were audited by CCTH CPA Limited ("CCTH") whose term of office will expire
upon the 2024 AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of CCTH as the auditor
of the Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the 2024 AGM.

The auditor of the Company had changed from Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
to CCTH with effect from 17 December 2021. Save as disclosed, there were no
changes to the auditor of the Company in the preceding three years.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information which is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float of more than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under
the Listing Rules.

On behalf of the Board
Ma Chenshan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE PURPOSE, STRATEGY AND
CORPORATE CULTURE

The Board defines the purpose, values and strategy of the Company and
considers that the Company's corporate culture is aligned. The Group is
committed to creating value for consumers, and to delivering attractive and
sustainable returns to the Shareholders. Despite the ever-changing operating
environment, the Group places strong emphasis on workplace safety, employee
relations and the efficient use of materials, energy and resources, promoting a
culture of ethical conduct and integrity. A healthy corporate culture is important
to good corporate governance which is crucial for achieving sustainable long-
term success of the Group.

ESG-RELATED MATTERS

The Company adheres to improving internal sustainability governance,
strengthening the management and control of corporate development’s impact
on the environment and society, and creating value for our stakeholders. The
Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s ESG strategy and reporting,
and oversees the overall ESG governance of the Company. In particular, the
Board conducts a regular review of the Group's ESG-related matters and
considered, among others, (i) the adequacy of resource, staff qualification and
experience, training programmes and budget of those relating to Group’s ESG
performance and reporting; (i) the changes, since the last annual review, in the
nature and extent of significant ESG risks (if any); and (iii) the scope and quality of
management’s ongoing monitoring of ESG risks. For further details, please refer
to the Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Good corporate governance has always been recognised as vital to the Group’s
success and to sustain development of the Group. We commit to attain and
maintain high standards of corporate governance to enhancing shareholders’
value and safeguarding interests of shareholders and other stakeholders. The
Board has implemented corporate governance code appropriate to the conduct
and growth of the Group's businesses.

Throughout the year, the Company has applied the principles of good corporate
governance and complied with all the applicable code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") as set out in Part 2 of Appendix C1
of the Listing Rules, except for the deviation from code provision C.2.1 which is
explained as follows:

Code provision C2.1 provides that the responsibilities between the chairman
and chief executive should be divided. Mr. Ma Chenshan, the chairman of the
Company, currently performs the duties of chief executive. The Board believes
that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief executive in the same person
can ensure consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective
and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board further believes
that the balance of power and authority for the present arrangement will not
be impaired and is adequately ensured by the current Board which comprises
experienced and high caliber individuals with sufficient number thereof being
independent non-executive Directors. However, the Group will also regularly
review the board composition and appoint a chief executive if a suitable
candidate is identified.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules.

Upon specific enquiry by the Company, all Directors, confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout
the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company has also established written guidelines on terms no less exacting
than the Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) for securities
transactions by employees who, because of such office or position, are likely to
possess inside information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the
employees was noted by the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company's business is vested in the Board,
which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the Company and
is collectively responsible for promoting success of the Company by directing
and supervising its affairs. All Directors should make decisions objectively in the
interests of the Company.

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the Company, including the
approval and monitoring of all operating policies, business strategies, financial
budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material transactions
(in particular those which may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as
the advice and services of the Company’s company secretary (the “Company
Secretary”) with a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules
and regulations are followed.

Each Director is able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
ircumstances at the Company's expense upon making request to the Board.

Tl>1e day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are

“delegated to the executive Directors and/or senior management. The delegated

functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained
from the Board prior to any significant transactions or commitments entered into
on the Company's behalf.

IThe Board has the full support of the senior management to discharge its
responsibilities.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions
as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code including, among other
matters:

To develop and review the Company's policies and practices on corporate
governance;

To review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and employees; and

To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has reviewed the
Company’s corporate governance practices and the Company's compliance with
the CG Code.

Composition

The Board currently comprises four executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. The function of the Board is to guide the management
to ensure the interests of the Shareholders and other stakeholders are
safeguarded.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse board
to enhance the quality of its performance. The size and composition of the Board
are reviewed from time to time with reference to the board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) adopted by the Company, taking into account the scope
and nature of operations of the Company, to ensure that the necessary balance
of skills and experience appropriate to the requirements of the business of the
Company and facilitate effective decision-making.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Composition (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Board comprised the following members:

Name of Directors

EFUR

Mr. Ma Chenshan

BELLE

Mr. Zhang Jian

SREEAE

Mr. Hang Guanyu
MEFRE

Mr. Liu Huaming
BIFERKLE

Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen

T RERE

Mr. Tse Kwong Hon
HEEARLE

Mr. Cao Kuangyu
BERFLRLE

Positions

B iz

Chairman/Executive Director/Chairman of

Nomination Committee

TE/PTEE REEEETFE

Executive Director
BITES
Executive Director
BITES
Executive Director

WITES

Independent non-executive Director/

Chairman of Remuneration
Committee and Audit Committee

BUFRTES FHHEETK

BREEELIR
Independent non-executive Director
BIIFITES
Independent non-executive Director

BIFNITES

BEET &
4B AR @

RIZZ=F+"A=+—H ' EFEHAUATHE
R

Date of first Date of last
appointment to re-election at
the Board general meetings
BHREZES RIE—RR
E5gHE A EEE
B B HA EERREA
30/12/2019 8/6/2022
25/2/2004 8/6/2022
8/6/2015 8/6/2022
8/6/2015 8/6/2023
25/2/2004 8/6/2023
24/11/2015 8/6/2022
25/2/2004 8/6/2023

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director having sound

industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic planning experience

and expertise relevant to the business operations and development of the

Group. All executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors come

from diverse background with varied expertise in finance, legal and business

fields. Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
iographies of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 15 to 17 of this
annual report. The Company has maintained an updated list of Directors

_identifying their roles and functions on the websites of the Company and the

" Stock Exchange.

Save and except that Mr. Ma Chenshan, Mr. Zhang Jian, Mr. Hang Guanyu and

Mr. Liu Huaming are the senior management of Macro-Link International Land

Limited and/or Macrolink Culturaltainment Development Co,, Ltd. as disclosed

I in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management’, there

is no relationship (including financial, business, family, or other material/relevant

relationship(s)) among the Board members.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Appointment and Re-election

The Company has established formal, considered and transparent procedures
for the appointment of new Directors. A person may be appointed as a member
of the Board at any time either by the shareholders in general meeting or by the
Board upon recommendation by the Nomination Committee. The procedures
for Shareholders to propose a person as a Director are accessible from the
Company's website.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has accepted a formal
appointment by the Company for a period of three years and subject to
retirement by rotation. According to the Bye-laws and the code provision of
the CG Code, all Directors (including executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors) are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

Pursuant to bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, the Board may appoint any Director(s)
to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing Board.
Any Director(s) so appointed shall hold office only until the following general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that
meeting. Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code also stipulates that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years and be subject to re-election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after their appointment.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted the Board Diversity Policy in August 2013 which sets out its
approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board. The Board Diversity
Policy has been published on the Company's website for public information.

The Company recognises the benefits of board diversity and endeavours to
ensure that the Board has the appropriate balance and level of skills, experience
and perspectives required to support the execution of its business strategies and
sustainable development. According to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company
seeks to achieve board diversity through the consideration of a number of
factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
The Company will also take into consideration factors based on its own business
model and specific needs from time to time in determining the optimum
composition of the Board.

The Nomination Committee has set measurable objectives (in terms of gender,
age, skills and experience) to implement the Board Diversity Policy. Such
objectives will be reviewed from time to time to ensure their appropriateness
and the progress made towards achieving those objectives will be ascertained.
The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate,
to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the
diversity of the Board and considered that the Company has achieved the
measurable objectives of the Board Diversity Policy in terms of age, educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of services.

The Nomination Committee has considered the changes to the CG Code which
came into effect on 1 January 2022, including the requirement for listed issuers
with a single gender board to appoint a director of a different gender before the
end of the 3-year transition period, and will continue to review the composition
of the Board and make its recommendations to the Board as appropriate in
due course and in any event, appoint at least 1 female director no later than 31
December 2024.

The Company will continue to take gender diversity into consideration during
recruitment and increase the female proportion at all levels over time with the
ultimate goal of achieving gender diversity, such that there is a pipeline of female
senior management and potential successors to the Board in the future.

Nomination Policy

The Board adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) in December
2018 which sets out the process and criteria for identifying and recommending
candidates for election to the Board. The Nomination Policy has been published
on the Company's website for public information.

When making recommendations regarding the appointment of any proposed
candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing member(s) to the
Board, the Nomination Committee shall consider (including but not limited to)
the following criteria (the “Criteria”) in assessing the suitability of the proposed
candidate:

a. Character and integrity;

b. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge,
accomplishment and experience that are relevant to the Company's
business and corporate strategy;

Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service;

Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

e. Potential contributions that the individual can bring to the Board in terms
of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender diversity;
and

ii Compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed under Rule
3.10(2) and 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the appointment of independent
non-executive Director.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Nomination Policy (Continued)

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for appointment as

additional Director or to fill any casual vacancy on the Board in accordance with

the following procedures:

Vi

The Nomination Committee may consult any source it deems appropriate
in identifying or selecting suitable candidates, such as referrals from
existing Directors, recommendations from personnel agents or as
proposed by shareholders with due consideration given to the Criteria;

The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it deems appropriate
in evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such as interviews,
background checks and third-party reference checks;

The Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of written
resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation to the Board
for appointment;

The Nomination Committee will provide the relevant information of the
selected candidate to the Remuneration Committee for consideration of a
remuneration package of such candidate;

The Remuneration Committee will make a recommendation to the Board
on the proposed remuneration package; and

All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the signing of the
consent to act as Director (or any other similar filings requiring the
relevant Director to acknowledge or accept the appointment, as the case
may be) and filing of the same with the Companies Registry of Hong Kong
and/or the Companies Registry of Bermuda.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no new Director was appointed.

Board Meetings

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

Regular Board meetings should be held two times a year at half-year intervals

for reviewing and approving the financial and operating performance, and

considering and approving the overall operating strategies and policies of the

Company. The Board will also meet on other occasions when a board-level

decision on a particular matter is required.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Board Meetings (Continued)
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board held 10 meetings, among
these there are two meetings only for executive directors only for operation issue
discussion. The attendance records of the Directors are set out below:

EEg®

EECTEE B

EEXRUREFLERRE @)

HE_Z_=—f+_A=-+-—HLEE BEgL

1710)\ B HIRARSENTESTRBER
BEE  TRBIEEHEH

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

Executive Directors
HITEE

Mr. Ma Chenshan
BELSE

Mr. Zhang Jian
RESE

Mr. Hang Guanyu
mEFrEE

Mr. Liu Huaming
BIZERSE

Independent non-executive Directors
BUIFBMITEE

Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen
TRIERE

Mr. Tse Kwong Hon

HEESTE

Mr. Cao Kuangyu

ERTRE

HERYEERYU

10/10
10/10
10/10

10/10

8/8
8/8

8/8

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days
before the meetings. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given. Board papers together with all appropriate, complete
and reliable information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board
meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest
evelopments and financial position of the Company and to enable them to
ake informed decisions. The Board and each Director also have separate and
in'Hependent access to the senior management whenever necessary.

The meetings are structured to allow open discussion. All Directors participate in
discussing the strategy, operational and financial performance, internal control
and risk management of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

THE BOARD (Continued)
Board Meetings (Continued)
Practices and Conduct of Meetings (Continued)

The Company Secretary is responsible to take and keep minutes of all Board
and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors for
comment within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is
open for Directors'inspection.

According to the current Board practice, any material transaction, which involves
conflict of interests on a substantial shareholder or a Director, will be considered
and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting. The Bye-laws
also contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to be
counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which such
Directors or any of their close associates have a material interest.

Independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business and
financial expertise, experiences and independent judgement to the Board.
Through serving on Board committees and active participation in Board
meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of
interests, all independent non-executive Directors make various contributions to
the effective direction of the Company.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation, the Company considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

In compliance with HKEx's Code Provision B.2.3 of Part Il of the Corporate
Governance Code (as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules"))
regarding the re-election of the independent non-executive directors, two of
the company’s three independent non-executive directors have been in office
for more than nine years, and their re-election decisions should be deliberated
and approved by shareholders in the form of independent resolutions, with
explanation of the reasons why the board (or nomination committee) believes
that the director is still independent and should be re-elected, including the
factors considered, the process by which the board (or nomination committee)
made this decision, and the content of the discussions. The Company will seek to
pass such resolutions at the Annual General Meeting to be held in June 2024.

In compliance with the above code provision B.2.4, it is estimated that after the
end of 2024, all independent non-executive directors on the company's board of
directors will have served for more than nine years.

The independence of each independent non-executive Director is
reviewed annually by the Nomination Committee based on the definition
of independence defined in the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
is satisfied as to the independence of Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen, Mr. Tse
Kwong Hon and Mr. Cao Kuangyu, each of whom has fulfilled all the criteria for
independence as stated in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views from Directors

During the year, the Nomination Committee also reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of mechanisms to ensure independent views and input
are available to the Board. Taking into account the following channels, the

BEET®
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Nomination Committee considered that the Company had in place mechanisms
which remain effective to ensure a strong independent element on the Board.

To ensure independent views and input from any Director, the following I :

mechanism is established by the Board:

HEENBURMEASR EFECHEUATHE

Independence Assessment

Each of the independent non-executive Directors shall provide a
written annual confirmation of independence to the Company on their
compliance with the independence requirements as set out under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee shall assess
the independence of independent non-executive Directors upon
appointment and annually to ensure they can continually exercise
independent judgement.

Composition of Board

Currently, approximately 57.1% of the Board members are executive
Directors while approximately 42.9% of the Board members are
independent non-executive Directors respectively, which exceeds the
requirement of the Listing Rules that at least one-third of the Board are
independent non-executive Directors.

Board Proceedings and Decision Making

At least 14 days’ formal notice of regular Board and Board Committee
Meetings will be given to all Directors, and all Directors are invited to
include any matters for discussion in the agenda. By at least three business
days in advance of every regular Board and Board Committee Meeting,
Directors are provided with the meeting agenda and the relevant board
papers containing complete, adequate and timely information to enable
full deliberation on the issues to be considered at the respective meetings.

All Directors are required to declare their direct/indirect interests, if any,
in any business proposals to be considered at the meetings and, where
appropriate, they are required to abstain from voting on any Board
resolution concerned.

Independent non-executive Directors should attend all regular meetings
of the Board and Board Committees on which they serve. They should also
attend general meetings of the Company to acquire understanding of the
views of the shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

THE BOARD (Continued)
Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views from Directors

4.

Remuneration of Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors receive fixed fee(s) for their role as
members of the Board and Board Committees and no equity-based or
incentive based compensation program is granted to independent non-
executive Directors as this may lead to bias in their decision-making and
compromise their objectivity and independence.

Access to Professional Advice and Up-to-date Information

The Company Secretary provided induction pack and orientation program
for all new recruits to the Board. Such program would familiarise the newly
appointed Director with the nature of the business, the corporation’s
strategy, the internal control and corporate governance practices and
policies, and directors' duties and responsibilities. Subsequent information
packages are regularly provided to the Directors to keep them abreast of
their responsibilities and infuse them with new knowledge relevant to the
Group's current business and operating environment.

To facilitate proper discharge of Directors’ duties and responsibilities, all
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are entitled
to seek advice from the Company Secretary as well as from independent
professional advisers at the expense of the Company.

Independent Views and Inputs Treasured and Valued

During the Board and Board Committee meetings, the independent non-
executive Directors are encouraged to express freely their independent
views and inputs in an open and candid manner. The Chairman also
encourages questions and challenges from Directors, in particular
independent non-executive Directors and their comments and concerns
are closely followed up by the management.

In addition to Board meetings, the Chairman schedules a meeting
annually with independent non-executive Directors without the presence
of other Directors to discuss the affairs of the Group.

The Company Secretary is required to prepare minutes that record not
only the decision reached but any concerns raised or dissenting views
expressed by Directors. Draft versions of the minutes are circulated to
all Directors for their comment and confirmation before it is finalised for
records. Minutes of all Board and Board Committee Meetings are available
for Directors'inspection.

The implementation and effectiveness of the above mechanisms have been
reviewed by the Boards on an annual basis and the Boards believe these
measures would allow Directors to contribute effectively and independent views
and input are available to the Boards and Board Committees.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Supply of and Access to Information

The management supplied the Board with adequate and sufficient information
through financial reports, business and operational reports, in a timely manner, to
enable them to make informed decisions.

The management also provided Directors with management accounts and all
relevant information giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Company's performance, position and prospects on a regular basis to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties under Rule 3.08 of
the Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance and Indemnity

The Company has arranged appropriate directors and officers’ liability insurance
for the Directors and officers of the Company in respect of legal action against
them arising from the performance of their duties. The insurance covers directors’
and officers’ liability, company reimbursement, legal representation expenses and
securities claims.

Continuing Professional Development

Every Director keeps abreast of his responsibility as a Director and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Group. The Company regularly
reviews the business development of the Group. The Company Secretary from
time to time updates and provides written materials to the Directors on the latest
development of the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory requirements to
ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance practices.

Every newly appointed Director, if any, will be provided with a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction so as to ensure he has appropriate understanding
of the Group’s business and of his duties and responsibilities under the Listing
Rules and the relevant statutory requirements.

The Directors have complied with the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code on
continuous professional development by participating in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills and
providing the Company their records of training for the year ended 31 December
2023. The training attended by the Directors during the year are as follows:
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Continuing Professional Development (Continued)

Director

e

Executive Directors
HITEE

Mr. Ma Chenshan
BELRE

Mr. Zhang Jian
RESE

Mr. Hang Guanyu
MEFAEE

Mr. Liu Huaming
BIFERTE

Independent non-executive Directors
BUIFRITEE

Mr.Ting Leung Huel, Stephen

T RIBS&E

Mr. Tse Kwong Hon

HEERE

Mr. Cao Kuangyu

EMFRE

BEET®
HEBEEEER ®

Corporate governance/updates on laws,
rules and regulations/finance/business

TEER RMER

HMARER, B 8%

Attended seminars/

Read materials trainings

REME  HERSEEE

v v
v v
v v
v v
v v
v v
v v

WMo B X IR AR 2B € FERS 2023

47



48

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRS

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The roles of chairman and chief executive are not separate and Mr. Ma Chenshan
currently performs these two roles.

Mr. Ma was appointed as the executive Director and chairman of the Board on
30 December 2019. He provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning of the Board in accordance with good corporate governance
practice. With the support of the senior management, he is also responsible for
ensuring that the Directors receive adequate, complete and reliable information
and appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board meetings in a timely manner.
Besides, he currently performs the duties of chief executive to undertake the day-
to-day management of the Company's businesses and strategic planning of the
Group.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, details of which are as
follows:

ESTEIRERITHRER
FAAFERENEETIRRTHEHIBE
RUISCERE FEMERS

BARERZZE-—NE+TZR=+THEZERNT
EFREFTIFE-REERELG BEHERE
FERBERELXECERAVNBETRE Tk
EEENIXET BTEERFREFSERESR
D TERARER UEMEFEERLIEHZ
FEFEERR I REFTEERATER
WHEEEKRAEERIREERE -

EEXEZB8Y
% = DXAL—'TEIZZE‘@ ’
éﬁ rEBEZEZEEE U
PEEIBWR

DARREREES  F
BERARBAZEEFHE

Committee membership

ZEENE

Nomination Remuneration
Committee Committee Audit Committee
REZEE FZEEE BiZZEEg
Mr. Ma Chenshan @ M
ERWLLSE
Mr. Zhang Jian
RESE
Mr. Hang Guanyu
mEFHEE
Mr. Liu Huaming M
2R
Mr.Ting Leung Huel, Stephen M C C
TRERE
Mr. Tse Kwong Hon M M M
'ff/\r Cao Kuangyu M M M
BN FRE
C Chairman of the relevant Board committees C ERESZERER
M Member of the relevant Board committees M EESZERME

The written terms of reference of each of the Board committees, which set out
‘the committees’ major duties, are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company's expenses.

HINEEETEREZREFTEEEE
B T8 AR B Rt 2 PR Ak o

Gl %3

EFZEEEREERETRE £ EEXT
REBENBERASKBUEXER  BAHEARF
S fite
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(M

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE RE

BEEHZET ®

Nomination Committee (1) RLZEEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 31 July 2005 with specific KRB ZEEAFELA=F+T—HMIIIR%
terms of reference setting out the committee’s authority and duties. The ZEg W:]HARHESE S EFR
Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director namely Mr. Ma NEBE - REEZEEGH—SLHITEERNSE
Chenshan (Chairman) and three independent non-executive Directors EUEE (EF) UK=2BIIIERITESR
namely Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen, Mr. Tse Kwong Hon and Mr. Cao TREBNRE -BERETERERTILEAMN-
Kuangyu.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for, among other matters, the RLELEEHE EHPad uT:

following:

to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service) of the Board annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify and nominate qualified individual for appointment as
additional Director or to fill Board's casual vacancy for the Board's
approval as and when the circumstances arise. In identifying
suitable individual, it shall consider individual on merit and against
the objective criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board;

to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors and to review the independent non-executive Directors’
annual confirmations with respect to their independence; and
make disclosure of its review results in the Corporate Governance
Report;

to regularly review the time required for the Directors to perform
their responsibilities and to assess if they are spending enough
time to fulfill their duties;

to make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular the chairman and chief
executive; taking into consideration the Company’s corporate
strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity
needed in the future;

to ensure that on appointment to the Board, Directors receive a
formal letter of appointment setting out clearly the key terms and
conditions of their appointment;

to review the Board Diversity Policy as appropriate and review the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing the
Board Diversity Policy, the progress on achieving the objectives and
disclose the Board Diversity Policy or a summary of the same and
its review results in the Corporate Governance Report annually;

WMo B X IR AR 2B € FERS 2023
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(M

Nomination Committee (Continued)

to review the policy for the nomination of Board members which
includes the nomination procedures and the process and criteria
adopted by the Nomination Committee to identify, select and
recommend candidates for directorship during the year and make
disclosure of such policy in the Corporate Governance Report
annually;

where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as
an independent non-executive Director at the general meeting, it
should set out in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting:

- the process used for identifying the individual and why the
Board believes the individual should be elected and the
reasons why it considers the individual to be independent;

- if the proposed independent non-executive Director will be
holding their seventh (or more) listed company directorship,
the reason why the Board believes the individual would still
be able to devote sufficient time to the Board;

- the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual
can bring to the Board; and

- how the individual contributes to the diversity of the Board;
to do such things to enable the Nomination Committee to
discharge its duties conferred on it by the Board; and

to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may

from time to time be prescribed by the Board or imposed by the
Listing Rules or applicable laws.

The Nomination Committee met once during the year ended
31 December 2023. Following is a summary of works performed by the
Nomination Committee during the year under review:

reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board,
and made recommendations to the Board;

reviewed the board diversity policy and the nomination policy;

EFZEEw

(1)
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(M

Nomination Committee (Continued)

reviewed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

made recommendations to the Board on the retirement and
re-appointment of Directors by rotation at the annual general

meeting of the Company.

The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee is set out
below:

Name of members

B t%

Mr. Ma Chenshan (Chairman)
BELULE EFE)

Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen
TREBLLE

Mr. Tse Kwong Hon
HEERE

Mr. Cao Kuangyu
BERFEL

EFZEEw

(1)

RHZEEG @
BEEBUIIFNTEF BN K

REEREARARRBAFAE LE#HE
RERETOEFEREES-

RYEZEGEMEZHFBEREINNT ¢

Number of meeting attended/Number of meeting held

HERYS FERH

11

11

11

11

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 31 July 2005 with
specific terms of reference setting out the committee’s authority and
duties. The Remuneration Committee comprises two executive Directors
namely Mr. Ma Chenshan and Mr. Liu Huaming and three independent
non-executive Directors namely Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen (Chairman),
Mr. Tse Kwong Hon and Mr. Cao Kuangyu.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for, among other matters,
the following:

to advise the Board on and to review the remuneration policy
and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

to approve compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors or misconduct;

HNEES

ARBR _ZERFLA=+—B M
ZEg WIIRARREERE FIEZE8 g%
DEBE - FMEEETEMBAITESRISE
BULAERFERLE UK=L EIULIFRIT
ERNTREAE (XF) BEELERE
P S MR o

HNEZEERE HPeR) uT:

MEERSREEE ZFHNBE KRS
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MEFEEZEANATESTRSRE
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(2)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

to address and deal with such other matters as may be delegated
by the Board from time to time;

to ensure that no Director nor any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration;

to assess performance of executive directors and approve the
terms of their service contracts; and

to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Emolument Policy

The Directors are paid fees in line with market practice. The Group

adopted the following main principles of determining the Directors
remuneration:

No individual should determine his own remuneration;

Remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with
whom the Group competes for human resources; and

Remuneration should reflect performance and responsibility with
a view to attract, motivate and retain high performing individuals
and promoting the enhancement of the value of the Company to
its shareholders.

In addition to the basic salaries, a share option scheme has been adopted
for rewarding good performers as well as retaining talented staff for the
continual operation and development of the Group.

Remuneration Paid to Members of Senior Management

Details of remuneration paid to members of senior management
(excluding the Directors) fell within the following bands:

Remuneration band

HEHH

Nil to HK$1,000,000
T 1,000,00078 75
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000
1,000,001 7T 21,500,0007 75

BEELZET ®
2 HMNEZEET @
EERRAEES RN ERENEME

H;

BRETNEFSNHEAHREASH
H#M 2 RRBERE

FEHTEFEUNRAEERBE SR ;
P4

ERE/RHERR EHRAFE 7S
BRI BIREE
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EFEIfNZRESTamHEN REEK
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ERENALT N EEEEME
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REAAE ;5 &
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(2)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

Remuneration Paid to Members of Senior Management
(Continued)

Particulars relating to Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 to the
Listing Rules are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements
as set out on pages 173 to 175 of this annual report.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year ended 31
December 2023, during which it conducted the annual review for the
remuneration packages of the Directors, and made recommendation to
the Board on the remuneration package of the senior management.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is set
out as below:

Name of members

e

Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen (Chairman)
TRIESRE (FE)

Mr. Ma Chenshan

BEWLEE

Mr. Liu Huaming

2IZERRS L

Mr. Tse Kwong Hon

HEESTE

Mr. Cao Kuangyu

e e

BEEHZET ®

(2)

wEET @
Xt FEREBENFN @

RiEETRBMED2BEF K EREEEN
ERBESHFN - ALEEFHBHNEERS
1738175 BiRa M IRRME

BE_ T _—F+_BA=+—HIEFEE #
MEEERT—REH PN LHEENH
MR ETFER THEREERBN
MEBnESgRHESR

HINEZEERMEZHEBREIWMT

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HEREEERY

11

11

11

11

11

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 31 July 2005 with specific
terms of reference setting out the committee’s authority and duties. The
Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen (Chairman), Mr. Tse Kwong Hon and
Mr. Cao Kuangyu with Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen who possesses the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. None of the members of the Audit Committee is
a former partner of the Company’s existing external auditor.

(3)

BZEZEg

AABN _ZEERFLA=+—HRIER
ZEg WIRARRELE 3728 g%
WEBE - BREZEEH-LBIUFANTE
FHTRERE (XF) EEELERER
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MERZEEME R ETREREIBIZEED
ZRIEBA-
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

3)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The main duties of the Audit Committee include, among other matters,

the following:

()

to review the financial statements and consider any significant or
unusual items raised by the staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, internal audit, compliance or
external auditors before submission to the Board;

to review the relationship with the external auditors by reference
to the work performed by the auditors, their fees and terms of
engagement, and make recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditors;
and

to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures.

The Audit Committee met 2 times during the year ended 31 December

2023. Executive Directors and the external auditor of the Company joined

the discussion at the relevant meetings. Following is a summary of works

performed by the Audit Committee during the year under review:

reviewed the 2022 annual results and 2023 interim results of
the Group and related announcement including the related
disclosures, integrity of financial reporting and the accounting
policies adopted by the Group prior to the submission to the
Board's approval;

reviewed the effectiveness and adequacy of the internal control
and risk management systems of the Company;

considered the independence and the appointment of the external
auditor; and

reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance procedures,
internal control and risk management systems of the Group.

BEELZET ®

3)
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(3) Audit Committee (Continued)

The Board has not taken any different view from that of the Audit
Committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal
of external auditors.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2023 has
been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is set out below:

EELEF @

3) BZZEZEG #
BREETHREET T EMINERR
B BEBERBERFRER

ARBBE_E_=F+_RB=+—HLF
EZFEXECHERZETER-

BERZZEEEMEZHEFREIWT

Name of members Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

B t%

Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen (Chairman)
TREB&LLE (EF)

Mr. Tse Kwong Hon

HEERE

Mr. Cao Kuangyu

BERFEL

HERYFERE
2/2
2/2

2/2

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration paid/payable to
the Company’s external auditor, CCTH, in respect of their audit and non-audit
services (if any) is set out as follows:

Type of services

isee bl

Audit of annual financial statements

BRFEMBHRE

Non-audit service

IEBEZRTF

A% 2 B 5 A
BE_S_=F+-A=+—-BLEFE RBEE
EBRRY WA BN/ EAAATZIBEY
BisREX B HBFIm T

Fees paid/payable
IRFEEERI N, R E A

HK$ 1,800,000
1,800,00078 7T

HK$50,000
50,0008 7T

The Audit Committee reviewed the independence of CCTH and has
concluded that it is satisfied with their professional performance, and therefore
recommended to the Board that CCTH be re-appointed as the Company's
auditor at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

BEZEZEGEERPEXREZBI M IRHESE
EXRBRLARE BILEBEFENBERRAF
ARG LEBPEXRERENT ZZHEH-
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RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports and other disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial
statement of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment for the Group's
performance, position and prospects.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The statement of CCTH, being the external auditor of the Company, reporting
their responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor's Report”on pages 110 to 116.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The main objectives of the risk management and internal control systems are
to provide a clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as well as
reporting mechanism to facilitate the Group in managing its risks across business
operations.

The Group has established a risk management framework, which consists of the
Board, the Audit Committee and the management. The Board is responsible for
assessing and determining the nature and extent of risks in achieving the Group's
strategic objectives and to ensure that adequate and effective risk management
and internal control systems have been established and maintained. The Board
also has the overall responsibility for monitoring of the design, implementation
and the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has formulated and adopted effective risk management policies to
provide guidelines in identifying, evaluating and managing risks. On an annual
basis, the management will identify and assess the risks that may adversely affect
the Group's objective and operations, then a set of criteria will be used to identify
nd prioritise the risks. Risk mitigation plans for those risks considered to be

)

nificant are then established and risk owners are assigned accordingly.

* . In addition, the Group will also engage independent professional advisor(s) to

assist the Board and the Audit Committee with ongoing monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems where necessary. Deficiencies in the
internal control systems will be identified and recommendations are proposed
for improvement. Significant internal control deficiencies will be reported to the
JAudit Committee and the Board on a timely basis. Then, rectification plan will
be established and risk owners will be assigned to ensure prompt remediation
actions are taken.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Risk management report and internal control report are submitted to the Audit
Committee and the Board at least once a year. The Board will perform annual
review on the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems, including but not limited to:

- the changes in the nature and severity of significant risks since last year’s
review;

- the Group's ability to cope with its business transformation and changing
external environment;

- the scope and quality of management’s ongoing review on risk
management and internal control systems;

- result of internal audit work;

- the extent and frequency of communication with the Board in relation to
result of risk and internal control review;

- significant failures or weaknesses identified and their related implications
during the year (if any); and

- the financial reporting and status of compliance with the Listing Rules by
the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board was not aware of any
significant internal control or risk management issues that would have an
adverse impact on the financial position or operations of the Group. The Board,
through the review of the Audit Committee, considered that risk management
and internal control systems of the Group are effective and adequate. The
Board, through the Audit Committee, also satisfied itself that the accounting
and financial reporting of the Group are adequately resourced with staffs of
appropriate qualifications and experience.

The above risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

The Group complied with requirements of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
and the Listing Rules in relation to inside information during the year. The Group
discloses inside information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable
unless the information falls within any of the safe harbours as provided in the
Securities and Futures Ordinance. Before the information is fully disclosed to
the public, the Group ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If
the Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be
maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would
immediately disclose the information to the public. The Group is committed to
ensure that information contained in announcements are not false or misleading
as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of a material fact
in view of disclosure of inside information in a balanced, adequate and effective
way. The procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information are as follows:

the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules, the Disclosure Guidelines and its own

policy;

the Group has implemented and disclosed events or matters on fair
disclosure by non-exclusive distribution of information to the public
through channels such as financial reporting, public announcements and
its website;

the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or
inside information; and

the Group has established procedures for responding to external
enquiries about the Group’s affairs so that only the executive Directors,
company secretary and other person duly authorised by the Board are
authorised to communicate with parties outside the Group.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLE BLOWING
Anti-Corruption Policy

The Company is committed to high standards of business integrity, ethics,
honesty, fairness, impartiality and transparency in all its business dealings
at all times. The Company strictly prohibits any form of fraud or bribery,
and is committed to prevention, deterrence, detection, reporting and
investigation of all forms of fraud and bribery.

Up to the date of this report, the Company has set out the Anti-Corruption
Policy for the basic standard of conduct which applies to all directors
and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries and related third

| parties. It provides guidance to all employees on acceptance of advantage

and handling of conflict of interest when dealing with the Company’s
business. Our business partners including suppliers, contractors and
clients are also encouraged to abide by the principles of the Policy.

Details of the anti-corruption policy are contained in the section headed
"Anti-corruption” of the ESG report on page 90 in this annual report.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLE BLOWING
(Continued)

2. Whistleblowing Policy

Up to the date of this report, the Company has adopted arrangement
to facilitate employees and other stakeholders to raise concerns, in
confidence, about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters. The Board shall review such arrangement
regularly, conduct independent investigation on these matters if
necessary, and considers and provides appropriate follow-up action.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ng Mo Chun was appointed as the Company Secretary by the Board on
18 September 2020. He plays an important role in supporting the Board by
ensuring good information flow within the Board and that the Board policy and
procedures are strictly followed.

The Company Secretary has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs.
All Directors may have access to the professional advice and services of the
Company Secretary who regularly updates the Board on governance and
regulatory matters.

The Company Secretary is also responsible for ensuring the procedures of the
Board meetings are observed and providing the Board opinions on matters in
relation to the compliance with the procedures of the Board meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Ng Mo Chun has undertaken not
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules, including his active participation and in-depth facilitation in
the professional forums in Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and Hong Kong Company Governance Institute (formerly known as Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries).

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of effective communication with the
shareholders and investors. The Company communicates with its shareholders
and investors through various channels including publication of interim
and annual reports, announcements, circulars and publications which are
all available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
Corporate communications issued by the Company have been provided to the
shareholders in both English and Chinese versions for better understanding.

Designated executive Director(s) and senior management maintain regular
dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to keep them abreast
of the Company's developments. Enquiries from investors are dealt with
in an informative and timely manner. Investors may write directly to the
Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong or email at
investor@newsilkroad472.com for any inquiries.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (Continued)

In order to provide shareholders with information about the Company, to
enable them to engage actively with the Company and exercise their rights
as shareholders in an informed manner, the Company has a ‘shareholders
communication policy” which is available on the Company’s website. The
policy is reviewed on an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness. During the
year, the Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the shareholders’ communication policy through discussions amongst Board
members during board meetings. The Company has reviewed communication
activities and engagement with Shareholders conducted in 2023 and was
satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy which allowed Shareholders to engage actively with the
Company.

At general meetings, each substantially separate issue has been considered by
a separate resolution, including the election of individual Director. The chairman
of the Board, chairmen of the respective Board committees, senior management
and the external auditor are normally available to answer questions at the
shareholders’ meetings.

During the year, one general meeting was held. The 2023 annual general
meeting was held on 8 June 2023. The attendance records of the Directors are

set out below:

Directors

X

Executive Directors
HITEE

Mr. Ma Chenshan
BEWLRE

Mr. Zhang Jian
RERE

Mr. Hang Guanyu
MEFAEE

Mr. Liu Huaming
2IZERLLE

}ndependent non-executive Directors

C BUFHITEE

Mr.Ting Leung Huel, Stephen

T RESRE

Mr. Tse Kwong Hon

HEERLE

Mr. Cao Kuangyu
 ERTRL
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Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HEREEER

11

11

11

11

11

11

11
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (Continued)

Constitutional Documents

Pursuant to the Consultation Conclusion on Listing Regime for Overseas Issuers
published by the Stock Exchange in November 2021, the Stock Exchange has
revised the core shareholder protection standards under Appendix 3 to the
Listing Rules with effect from 1 January 2022. Listed issuers are required to make
necessary amendments to their constitutional documents by the second annual
general meeting following 1 January 2022 to bring the constitutional documents
to conformation with the revised Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules.

The Company has made the relevant Proposed Amendments and the proposed
adoption of the Amended Bye-Laws became effective upon the approval of
the Shareholders by way of passing a special resolution at the special general
meeting of the Company held on 22 March 2023.

A consolidated version of the Memorandum of Association and the Bye-laws is
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Dividend Policy

Policy on payment of dividend is in place setting out the principles and
guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration,
payment or distribution of its net profits as dividends to its shareholders.
The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. The
declaration and payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion
of the Board after taking into account the Company’s financial performances,
working capital requirements, future prospects and other factors, and subject
to the Bye— laws and all applicable laws and regulations of Bermuda. The
policy shall be reviewed periodically and submitted to the Board for approval if
amendments are required.

The policy has been published on the Company’s website for public information.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Procedure for shareholders to convene a special general meeting

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, shareholder(s) holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the voting right at general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to request a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself/themselves may do so in the same manner.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

Procedure for shareholders to put forward proposals at general
meetings

Shareholders can submit a requisition to move a resolution at general meetings
pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The number of shareholders
necessary for a requisition shall be:

either representing not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights
of all shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to vote at
the meeting; or

not less than 100 shareholders.
The written requisitions must:

state the resolution, with a statement not more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in the proposed resolution or the
business to be dealt with at the meeting;

be signed by all the requisitionists (may consist of several documents in
like form each signed by one or more requisitionists); and

be deposited at the head office of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Company Secretary not less than six weeks before the
meeting in case of a requisitionist requiring notice of a resolution and not
less than one week before the meeting in case of any other requisition.

With respect to proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures can
be accessible on the Company’s website.
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Shareholders enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries to the Board in writing with contact
details, including registered name, address, telephone number and email
address, to the Company Secretary as follows:

Address: 15/F, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2591 9919

Fax: (852) 2575 0999

Email: investor@newsilkroad472.com

Any matter in relation to the transfer of shares, change of name or address, loss
of share certificates should be addressed to the Company's Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer agent as follows:

Tricor Progressive Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2980 1333

Fax: (852) 2810 8185
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1 REPORT OVERVIEW 1REME

1.1 About the Report 1.1 BARA®RS
We are pleased to present the annual environmental, social KMMAESRMMARERXIRERL
and governance (“ESG") report (“the Report”) of New Silkroad (TERE)) REWB AT (48 r$$

E)EBEE_E_=F+"B=+—H
IEHBEE ((REFEE) NRE g
)S'ZE./u (MEHE - HgRER) % (K

L) HMAEERBRE HE R
a,uﬁﬁeﬁﬁwf B BE BiER
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Culturaltainment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 December
2023 (the "Reporting Year"). The Report summaries the Group's
commitments, policies, approaches, initiatives and annual
performance in ESG, in creating values for the environment, people
and the community as well as maintaining responsible operations
to foster the sustainable development.
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Reporting Standard and Reporting Principles

The Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide as set out in Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), as well as adhering to the ESG reporting
principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency. The
application of the reporting principles is elaborated as follows:

Quantitative

B21E

Materiality
BEMN

Following an ESG stakeholder engagement exercise and a
materiality assessment, this Report is structured based on
the materiality of ESG issues of the Group. The Board and
management review these sustainability issues annually to
ensure that stakeholder’s opinions are reflected. The results
of the materiality assessment process is set out in the section
headed ‘Materiality Assessment’in this Report.
TRE-HERERFNHESEFINEER MG
B AMENEBENAIEFRR - HEREAREN
BN -EEENEEEC TS ErHELRE
URGRFENHENERBIIRMR - BEE M (BN
RENARESEE M TE—EN

This Report discloses relevant ESG key performance indicators
("KPIs") and quantitative information of the various business
segments of the Group. Quantitative information is further
accompanied by descriptions where appropriate.
RREWE T AEBSEBRBNEFIRIE - HE R
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1

REPORT OVERVIEW (Continued)

1.1

About the Report (Continued)

Reporting Standard and Reporting Principles
(Continued)

Balance
T

The Report impartially describes the Group's performance
for the Current Year, to avoid selections, omissions, or
presentation formats that may inappropriately influence a
decision or judgment by the report reader.
RREREMBR T REBRFEERZES > DR
RGBT EREBENRENAIBNEE ER
R o

1 HREWME =
1.1 BAREXHRE @
REERBRSERERLY @)

Consistency

—H%

This Report follows methodologies that are consistent with
previous years. Due to the change in the Group's business, the
reporting scope has been modified for this year.
TRERAETF-BNF L AN AEEERHBNE
B AFENRSHECEFENR -

The Report has complied with the ‘comply or explain” provisions
set out in the ESG Reporting Guide. With the exception for the
provisions that the Group considers to be inapplicable to our
business operations or where partial disclosure is provided,
together with explanations in the corresponding section as well
as the index of ESG Reporting Guide at the end of the Report. The
Report has been reviewed and approved by the board of directors
of the Company (the “Board”).
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1

REPORT OVERVIEW (Continued)

1.1

1.2

About the Report (Continued)

Reporting Scope

The Report covers the core business segments of the Group,
including wine production and distribution in the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC") and provision of property management service
in the PRC. This report excludes the development and operation
of integrated resort and cultural tourism in South Korea; and
development and operation of real estate in Australia, as these
two business segments only contribute around 10% of the total
revenue of the Group.

Unless otherwise stated, the Report covers the Group's ESG policies
and strategies as well as its environmental and social performance
during the Reporting Year. For information of the corporate
governance, please refer to the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” on page 34 to page 63 of our 2023 annual
report.

Contact and Feedback

The Group continues to work towards sustainable growth
through communicating and cooperating with its stakeholders.
You are welcome to share your views with us by email at
enquiry@newsilkroad472.com. For more information about
the Group's ESG initiatives, please also refer to our website at
www.newsilkroad472.com and its annual report.

Governance Structure

The Group has formed a three-level top-down and bottom-up
governance structure consisting of the Board, the ESG Taskforce
Group and the department units for management on ESG issues
and performance.

The Board actively participates in planning sustainability strategies
and lead the direction of the Group in long-term sustainable
development. The Board oversees the overall ESG strategies,
management approaches and all ESG matters of the Group,
including ESG risk management, action plans and related targets
setting and initiatives. The Board proactively engages in providing
strategic guidance on the ESG-related risk identification and
material ESG issues, and regularly reviews the progress and
achievement on ESG objectives and targets. The Board is also
responsible in approving ESG report submitted by the ESG
Taskforce Group.
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1

REPORT OVERVIEW (Continued)

1.2

Governance Structure (Continued)

The ESG Taskforce Group is authorised by the Board and composed
of the company secretary of the Company and representatives
from the Human Resources and Administration Department,
Finance Department, Quality Management Department, Operation
Department/Production Department of each business segment
to advise all ESG matters and implementation of the Group
from different perspectives. The ESG Taskforce Group assists
in establishing ESG strategies, identifying and analysing the
significant ESG risks and opportunities in investment strategy and
risk management with associated impacts on the Group, as well
as setting and monitoring relevant targets and initiatives with
actions plans in line with the determined ESG strategies. Moreover,
the ESG Taskforce Group monitors the current market trends
and development, industry practices, and norms in respect of
ESG related issues, the activities of stakeholder engagement and
materiality assessment of the Group and the annual ESG reporting
disclosure. The ESG Taskforce Group shall meet and report the
findings and recommendations of ESG performance to the Board
on a regular basis.

The department units are responsible for executing ESG-related
action plans decided by the ESG Taskforce Group and monitoring
progress and achievements against the determined targets
and initiatives in daily operations. They carry out the activities
of stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment, collect
relevant ESG data for reporting disclosure and performance review,
and coordinate the preparation of ESG report.
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1 REPORT OVERVIEW (Continued) 1 HREHME @
1.3 Stakeholder Engagement 13 FfhEZH
In order to facilitate the long-term business growth and BHRERPEBERANSRIE 1Y
improvement of ESG management, our Group maintain constant REAREE AEBRRSFNERET
communication with various stakeholders. We provide a wide- BEB - BRMREBRBZNEEERZF
range of channels for effective communication with various MEETENER BREERAEE
stakeholders, including customers, employees, government and BRREEHE - REERREHE
regulators, investors and shareholders, suppliers, business partners, EEBBH EBR AR FELL M
media, and the public. By doing so, we are able to properly address AUERAREARMNETEER
their needs, concerns and expectations associated with our RIE- g REAMENHERASE R R
business development and ESG issues. AR o
Communication with key stakeholders BMIERKMERBE
%3 ;l;tlomers O' 1EEm=ponees
(fafp Covllae
- Customer service hotline « Employee activities
ERRBIE - BEEH
After-sales customer service - Employee handbook
BERERIRY - BEFH
Regular visit to partners'retail outlets - Employee satisfaction survey
EHFABHNTEESH - EEREERE
Customer satisfaction survey «Annual congress, intranet, internal publications,
BERAMRERDT bulletin board system, social media and seminars
Day-to-day communication - Fg- Wﬂfﬁfﬂlﬂ ~REFI N ETRIRAS TR
==t Y
Education and training
A RKIE
Employee performance appraisal
BERIVEZZ
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1 REPORT OVERVIEW (Continued)

1 HREWME =

*O /Q\ Media & The Public
(&) :

+  BEERaX

Product launches

Em#Ehg

Media interviews, press and conferences
HASERE S E g

Social media platform

HRERBTE

Company website

REVHELE

Emails and phone call

EHRE:

@ Investors/shareholders
O wEE B

Corporate communications
=S5

Company website
REVELE

General meetings
RERE

Site visits

BEH

Suppliers & Business Partners

HEER R EH B

Supplier site inspections and audits
BB RBZHERD
Supplier performance selection and assessment
B E R T
Procurement and tendering
REB R IER

Strategic cooperation negotiation
BRI SRER

Information and experience sharing
BRI RERHES

Business meetings

Bkt

Government & Regulators
B REEHE

Document submission

B

Meetings with regulatory authorities
REEWHRTES

Site investigations

BithE

Compliance assessment reports
BRMEIRE

Forum, seminar/webinar and conference

MBS RN e REE
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1

REPORT OVERVIEW (Continued)

14

Materiality Assessment

According to the reporting principle of “Materiality’, we conducted
a materiality assessment to identify the ESG topics that are material
to the Group and our stakeholders so as to direct the formulation of
ESG strategy and reporting disclosure.

Process of materiality assessment
Identification of relevant ESG topics

Based on the Group's existing businesses, the requirements of ESG
reporting guidelines, and industry ESG management priorities,
potential ESG topics were identified.

Review of materiality matrix and material ESG topics

Considering the business operations, industry development trends,
ESG related standards and guidelines, together with the material
ESG topics identified last year, we then reviewed and updated the
materiality matrix with ESG topics that are material to the Group.

Response to material ESG topics

According to the materiality of ESG issues and key concern
of our key stakeholders, we determined the focus area of ESG
management as well as the direction of the reporting disclosure.

1 HREWME =

1.4

Materiality Matrix
EZMER

BB
HARBETEEM I WERSERAE

78
BT M H AEE RE MR
HEM=BEENIBE HERELE
FOWNMETRE e REARES
ERREWBEIN A o

EEMTHBERF

HAERIRIR - ERERRE
BEFAEEREEB RE - HERE
AREESIREUARTERE - HER
ERAEERH ANEBEERE HER

VANE= 4=
B

T

BHEEHEBREARE HER
EAHE

TRINEBEE - TEERBB R
B ERELEBRERES Uk
LT FEHNEENEXNIRR - HER
EaEE RMERRN L EMEAE
EEEANRE HERELHEENE
2Bk

BHEXRRR -HERELHRE
BERE-HERELRENEZLER
FTEFMENRIEN ETRE 1
EREANEEERHBERRERE
FMEe

Moderate Importance

hEEMN

Importance to the Stakeholders
HANHERANEEM

D

Low Importance

BEZM

High Importance

BEEH
(1)
2]
®

®
22
®

D ©

(18)17)
(19001)

q>¢)€>

Importance to the business operation of the Group

HAEREENE2MN

WA B XK A RGBS

FERE 2023
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1 REPORT OVERVIEW (Continued) 1 HREHME @
14 Materiality Assessment (Continued) 1.4 BEEMTE @
. Enwronment Employment And Labour Practices
& {& R %5 TIEH
01  Energy efﬁoency 10 Employment rights and benefits

RER A & BE#TR

02  Greenhouse gas emissions and management 11 Employee recruitment and retention
BRERBHRRER BEEBERIRE

03  Response to climate change 12 Employee engagement
FEH REEE EESH

04 Air emissions 13 Diversity and equal opportunities
BE RBE ZtRTFEHRE

05  Waste management 14 Occupational health and safety
BEEYEIE WERRRZE

06  Wastewater management 15 Employee training and career development
[BEKEIE BEEIRBEERE

07  Water management 16 Elimination of child and forced labour
AKERE MARE T Ksafhss T

08  Materials consumption
[RIEHFE

09  Green procurement
iR
Operational Practices Community
EEEA 1HE

17 Product and service quality 27 Community investment
EmkRBER Hers

18  Customer health and safety
ERRERREZR

19  Protection of customer data privacy
REEFRERTLRE

20  Customer satisfaction
ERREE

21 Supply chain management
HEEEIE

22 Product labelling
EmiRE

23 Sales, advertising and marketing practices and compliance
HE R EHIEA KSR

24 Intellectual property rights protection

R B8 R0 5 AE R
25 Anti-corruption and business ethics
RESREXEER
26 Anti-competitive behaviour
RFEFITHR
: _.‘ﬂ'
J - Based on the result of materiality assessment and the reporting principle, BEEZMTENEREBEREA AR E
"o f the disclosure of the Report is mainly focused on the issues categorised E’J KEFEETREEEZENZE - AEE
as being of high importance. The Group considers providing the overall RARDPBEAPEEERBEEENIRIE
management approaches on such ESG issues categorised as being HEREARBRHEEREE S UAK
; of moderate importance and low importance of the Group in order MERBRE - HEREATESENER
+ r to provide the overall picture to stakeholders in ESG management. BN - AEEFEEETIBENIRE - HER
The Group will continue to review the existing ESG strategies, policies EIARE IR &Efji PERFEFESCENEE
' and objectives so as to optimise the ESG performance and reporting RIE - HEREAEIRBEZHE-
\ disclosure in pursue of continuous improvement.
h

72 NEW SILKROAD CULTURALTAINMENT LIMITED 4 ANNUAL REPORT 2023



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE RE

1 REPORT OVERVIEW (Continued)

1.5

Our ESG Management

The Group recognises that a sound ESG management approach
can foster sustainable business development and strengthen our
competitive advantage, as well as bringing long-term values to our
stakeholders and the Group. We have formulated the ESG policy
in guiding us to implement initiatives and practices to promote
sustainable development. We put the focus on four key areas,
namely, our environment, our people, responsible operations and
our community to sustain the future growth.

Our Environment

FKFIRVIRIR

g

Responsible Operations

HRAINEHEE

Our Community

#HFIHHE

B B R E

IREWBEE @)

15 RE- HEREAREE
AEBEPEABFNIBIE - HteREAE
B EAEREANSBESEERMER
BANBEED LARHERSER
BREEBE -RECHTEE e
BB ABUENIS S| B iR RAEA > L
BB E RPUEROETS
S IRMANBE RANST R
FMERSBERRMANLE  RERF
RHE o

Our People
HEMWET
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2 OURENVIRONMENT

We place great emphasis on protecting the environment in our group. We
integrate environmental considerations into all aspects of its operations
and business decision-making processes in order to achieve sustainable
development. We have implemented a variety of environmental
management measures in accordance with the applicable environmental
laws and regulations where we operate so as to prevent and mitigate
potential environmental impacts in each business segment operate, such
as Environmental Protection Law of the PRC (FPZE A RHMEIRIE
fRe&7E) . Our property management business obtained 1S014001:2015
Environmental Management System certification. During the Reporting
Year, the Group was not aware of material breaches of relevant laws and
regulations relating to the air and greenhouse gas ("“GHG") emission,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous waste and
non-hazardous waste.

2.1

Air Emission Management
Wine Production and Distribution

At the wine production plant in Qinhuangdao, we have adopted
air source heat pump and phased out the oil boiler to reduce the
air emission during our wine production. We periodically engage
external qualified third party to conduct air quality monitoring of
the air pollutants emission level and provide the test results to the
local government when required. Air emissions, including sulphur
oxide (SOx) and nitrogen oxide (NOx) and particulate matter (PM)
are mainly produced from transportation.

Property management

As part of our property management business in Beijing, our
administrative department regularly inspects vehicles to ensure air
pollutants are within the emission level. The property management
department of each property project monitors the air emissions
from air-conditioners, electricity generators, etc, to ensure they are
operating properly and are within standard. The primary source
of air emissions is transportation, including sulphur oxide (SOx),
nitrogen oxide (NOx), and particulate matter (PM).

Air Emissions & R HERR
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) KA1EH (NOX)
Sulphur Oxides (SOx) BREEY (SOx)
Particulate Matters (PM) FERIYD (PM)

As a results of the successful implementation of the above
measures, we have been maintaining a relatively low level of
emissions. We aim to achieve the target of maintaining or reducing
the total emissions intensity in the next reporting year, on the basis
of that in 2023.

K MIRIR

AEBFEERRERE - RMBRERER
BAHBEEREBRAREENSE@E @
MERAFEZERE -BRACRBERMEER
FHMNBERRIELIRRER W(PEAR
HNEIREFRE L)) BHLBEIRIZEIERE
Mo UB R RESERDBEEEEN
BTIREFZZ - BMANYVESEERES
ISO14001:2015IRIRE IR RABEB - N|WEF
ER AEBTANEREENRAER MR
=R (CRERME)) BB Kk £#BE5 Y
RELEBEEEYMESEREY ARG
ERRER

21 BERFRER

AEBEERDH
EREENFEBEER RMUIRBZE
REERR W ZE L BN M8 IE - LUR D
BEELEEBRTNERER - RME
HEFINBERE=ZTHERTRY
PR FETERESESE TERE
RrASHBEFRERAIGR ZR5E
By BERAEHCONMNAamEY
(NOX) AR LA (PM) » EEE LN RIB
B

MEER

ERRMIIRYEEEEBN—E D
HANTHEHPIERREEE  UER
ERSEMITHRKFEZR  EY) 218
EMYEEERAE TR HEREN
BRI UEREESEFRFTER
EoBRFBNEBRREAARBEER
BEMRAIEY (Sox) ~@E 1 (NOx)
UK FEHRIHD (PM) ©

Kg
TR

17349
0.52
16.33

B A IHIRE T Eatts i A —BER
FEBRMBMBERKF - HMPNBEEZRAE
TECFMNERLE ETERSEF
EEREFNEEAERCRENEZ
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ENVIRONMENTAL,

2 OURENVIRONMENT (Continued)

2.2

Waste Management
Wastewater
Wine Production and Distribution

The Group's wastewater mainly originates from the process of
wine production, such as cleaning and washing operations during
crushing and pressing of grapes, rinsing of tanks, barrel and bottle
washing and container cleaning etc. Onsite wastewater treatment
facilities with advanced biological aerated filter (BAF) have been
installed at our wine production sites for proper treatment before
discharge. We maintain monitoring test at least annually by a
certified third party to ensure that the concentration of pollutants
met with Discharge Standard of Water Pollutants for Fermentation
Alcohol and Distilled Spirits Industry.

Property management

Property management did not produce wasterwater in the
ordinary course of business.

2 HFAMNIRER @

2.2

EBEEYER

EE7K

BEBEERDH
AEENEKXKIEREEEBREES
BoREEERERRPNEERE
T IR T N BB BT U R R
ARBE - BRMANBREEI SO TE
Fip f Jo 1 BB R £ W B A (BAF) Y IR 15 BE
KEEHEE UWEERAIETEE
HEKRE ITRVEFELRVENE
ZHETERRE  BRSRYNEE
B (BB BNIENKTRYBERE
Do

YEEE

MESETHOEERBRPIEESE
BE7K ©

................................................................................................

24,100.74 m*31 53K

¢ Wastewater discharge
BEIKBEIR

................................................................................................

Waste and Others
Wine Production and Distribution

Organic residues such as grape stem, seeds, skins, are generated
during the wine production and such organic waste can be
recycled and acted as organic fertilisers for plantation in order
to reduce direct waste disposal. During the Reporting Year, 405
tonnes of organic waste was generated. All the waste was recycled.
We also set up waste recycling facilities for waste separation and
recycled the waste where possible.

WMo B X IR AR 2B € FERS 2023

BEEY R EH M

BEELtERD
AEELEEBETELERRERY W
AEEET RE FJRE WA F
IR A KB B BEEYRE -
RREFE EEE405BEHRERY
SRR A S avaz =ty Bl & 3
MEEEY) DB WIERIITIB R TR
LEEY-

75



76

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HLERERERS

2

OUR ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

2.2

Waste Management (Continued)
Waste and Others (Continued)
Property management

Office and other general waste are produced during the ordinary
course of business. In our property management process,
each property management office maintains a general waste
management log to record the type of general waste, quantity,
collector name, and treatment, etc,, and reports to the appropriate
regulatory department. The property management office sets out
guidelines for renovation garbage. Property owners are required to
follow guidelines for handling renovation garbage. Office waste is
recycled or further processed by third party collectors. The details
of waste handover are recorded in writing.

As a result of the successful implementation of the above
measures, we have been maintaining a relatively low level of
waste generation. We aim to achieve the target of maintaining or
reducing the total waste generation intensity in the next reporting
year, on the basis of that in 2023.

2

KPMIRIE =

2.2

BEEMER @

BEEYRAEM @

WEEHE
MAERHEM—RERYNAEES
BETELE -EZRMANYEEERRE
o BRMEEERRAERT —RERY
EEH R —REEYNEE ¥
B WEEUAREES UREEN
EEMMRE - MEEBERAZTNEE
HIRGIEIRE S #t o FXRETRIBE
ELIRBIIES| - M A EBERYBE =7
WEERIRNE—F R BERENBE
BysE B EE P iR

F A RRDIERER T LA T FAFIRIEEY)
EEE-—BHFEREKT -ZMNE
BREEZZ_=—FMERL ET—E
BEFERFHEMIIREERER
EBER-
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2 OUR ENVIRONMENT (Continued) 2 KMPNIRE =
2.3 Use of Resources 23 BER{FEH

Our Group strives to optimise our operations’ energy efficiency,
water consumption, and materials use by taking different initiatives.

........................................................

FEBRNEBDZESRE  BIEHFIE
ERAERME ~ AR RMEER

........................................

! 339.63 Megawatt-hour (MWh)JK E; B

€ Direct Energy
BE#EEER

........................................................

Energy efficiency and GHG Emission Management

In our business, GHG emissions are mostly generated from indirect
emissions from purchased electricity, as well as direct emissions
from winery production and vehicle fuels use. As GHG emission
is closely interconnected with the energy consumption in our
business operation, we have implemented energy-saving measures
to improve the energy efficiency in our business sectors and
thereby reduce the carbon emission to tackle with climate change.
For instance, we install lighting systems with LEDs and motion
sensors to switch the lighting on/off automatically when needed,
in order to reduce the energy use. We search for greener and
energy-efficient products when purchasing new office appliance,
manufacturing equipment and building materials, and phase out
the old equipment to more energy-efficient ones in our business
operations. The application of the drip irrigation in vineyard of
Qinhuangdao winery reduces the electricity consumption in water
pumping. In our property management office, we also maintain
temperature control by setting our air-conditioning not below 26
degrees in summer and heater not exceeding 20 degrees in winter.
We have carried out energy saving measures that enable us to
obtain 1ISO50001:2018 on Energy Management System certification.

........................................................

........................................

AERNE R RAE RN EE
ABRMANEHF BAEREHREENR
EREENNEEER UREEEE
BERERBEERENBEEER B A
EREHNEEREENEERRR
G MM EEHEAERTRS XS
D EPAYRE IR A R 0 MR R FE R L FE
HrESgb RMHEZEBHBLIDRE
HIERBNRARA TEERAET]
B RARIRBARER D AEFE N ERE
B> BMHEEENRARB £ER
BREEMERSRKERELEEN
Em TRHEBREBEERATSERY
TR E - RAREEEERNEE R
HABER KB EE - EHRMAHN
MEBERAE BATTETRAERE
B HERRAEREAESZTNMENR26E
KREFERBBE - KMPECEMEIERE
i I FIBE S IE1S1S050001:2018F8E TR
EIRBARRE o

........................................

g 31,937.23 Megawatt-hour (MWh)JK F B

N " @ Indirect Energy

ok Bl ZAE TR
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2

HE

OUR ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

2.3

Use of Resources (Continued)

Energy efficiency and GHG Emission Management
(Continued)

We aim to achieve the target of maintaining or reducing the total
energy consumption intensity in the next reporting year, on the
basis of that in 2023.

Water efficiency
Wine Production and Distribution

In our wine production and distribution business, we have adopted
dripping irrigation system in vineyard of Qinhuangdao to achieve
water savings. With the water dripping slowly to the plant roots,
this process can pour water into the plant roots directly and reduce
the water evaporation from the leaves of grapevine plants and the
humidity surrounding the grapevine plants, which can enhance
the water efficiency for plant irrigation as well as preventing surface
runoff and soil leakage.

2

HFIRIRIR

2.3

BRER @)
FEREMERAERBHENER @

BANEREE_FT =& L.
E"F—%E%fﬁfgﬁfﬁﬁb/ HAERE R
BRFATENER-

Bk

BEEEERTE
FEEEHENEERDHEERT AR
EEERMNETERABERALU
EEHKINY - EBREPKEIEIEHEE
*E%E’J’fﬁﬁﬁ A BiER ACE A B
RE RV EEEERMNKDEERE
BRI BAENRE niIE=EYERN A
IR B DA e [ LE 3t 2R3 TR ©

................................................................................................

762,244 m*ir 5K

: € Water Consumption
/ FAkE

................................................................................................

Property management

As part of our property management business, our engineering
department performs regular maintenance on water facilities
to prevent leaks and maximize water efficiency. Our safety

department also conducts regular checks on property owners’

water usage practices. In order to increase water efficiency, we will
promote water saving techniques to our property owners.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not encounter any issue
in sourcing water that was fit for purpose for the business of the
Group.

We aim to achieve the target of maintaining or reducing the total
water consumption intensity in the next reporting year, on the
basis of that in 2023.

YEELE
FRRMMEEEEBI—E D M
By TAZ AR FIH (HOK R AETT E HRAE R

DUBA LB 7K 3t & K PR 4R /& FB 7K 3%
Ko RMIMZ BT ERBEETN
KB - #IEE AKEE AR E

FE T HEEEIKEAM

RBEEFE AEARSHECEER
EBBKRS BT EBEMERRRE-

RANEREE S _=—F&AR L,

AT —EREFERFHZEBAEK
BERNBR-
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

2.3

24

25

Use of Resources (Continued)
Green Office

We have adopted general green office management practices
in other non-production business segments and encouraged
our employees to enhance the resource efficiency and reduce
the waste disposal. For instance, we attempt to save daily paper
use by printing documents with double-sided printing, reuse
single-sided paper for printing as well as widely applying the
computer technology for communication by email and electronic
administrative management system to reduce paper consumption.
Meanwhile, we place the recycle bins nearby the photocopiers,
work areas and pantries for collecting recyclable wastes for
recycling.

Packaging materials

The use of package materials (e.g. corks, wine bottles and carton
boxes) mainly comes from our wine production and distribution
business. We also recycled packaging waste where possible and
established a centralised recycling system for waste sorting and the
collected recyclables are handled by local recycling contractors.

The Environment and Natural Resource

In our wine production and distribution business, to maintain
a sustainable viticulture in our vineyard, we have set out the
technical management procedures for vineyard cultivation and
adopted various measures to prevent unwanted crops and pests,
as well as optimising the use of agricultural chemicals such as
pesticides and fertilisers, in conserving water body and biodiversity
and preventing surface runoff. In our property management
business, we continuously monitor our wastage management and
energy efficiency. There was no significant impact of our operations
on the environment or natural activities.

Response to Climate Change

With the global call for transitioning to low-carbon economy
and the national commitment in achieving net zero emissions
by 2050 or 2060, the Group acknowledges the significance of
addressing climate change in order to be more responsive to
potential climate-related consequences. Owing to the recent
natural hazard occurrences becoming more severe, the Group
recognises the urgency of addressing climate risks that may impact
our stakeholders in our operation. The Group has identified the
following possible climate risks:

Physical risks

Acute risk: The increased severity of extreme weather events
(e.g. frost, snowstorm and hail) may cause damage to our
assets, further interrupt our operation and increase the
operating cost.

W B XK AR A B € FERS 2023
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
2.5 Response to Climate Change (Continued)
Physical risks (Continued)

Chronic risk: The chronic stressors (e.g. flooding caused
by rising seawater level, precipitation or heatwave) may
impact the yield of vines and increase the insurance
and maintenance cost of the properties. Such risks can
contribute to the increased operating costs and reduced
revenue from decreased production capacity and/or lower
sales.

Transition risks

Policy risk: Increasing the price of GHG emissions by the
latest implementation of carbon-pricing mechanisms,
increase operating cost and pose a potential risk of financial
instability.

Market risk: Higher demand for environmental-friendly and
low-carbon goods and design services may be due to the
shift in customer preferences. Moreover, limited natural
resources and higher transportation cost due to increasing
climate-related weather events may increase the cost of raw
material.

The Group will take into account the recommendations of Task
Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) to enhance
the governance processes and integrate the consideration of
the climate-related risks and opportunities into our future risk
assessment. In addition, the Group will keep closely monitoring the
new national policies and regulations as well as the market actions
in response to climate change and their associated impacts related
to our financial capital, assets and revenues and the operational
control of our business activities.

2

KPMIRIE =

2.5
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OUR PEOPLE

As a Group, we strongly believe that the talent of our employees is vital to
our sustainable development. The Group adheres to the people-oriented
management philosophy, which promotes a fair, inclusive, and safe
working environment for our employees, as well as compliance with local
employment laws and regulations, including but not limited to Labour
Law of the PRC, Labour Contract Law of the PRC, Law of the PRC on the
Protection of Minors, Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour,
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
("HKSAR") (Cap. 57) and Minimum Wage Ordinance of HKSAR (Cap. 608).

3.1

Employment Practices and Labour Standards

The Group has formulated relevant human resources policies and
management measures in each business segment to manage
the labour affairs. Stipulated in the “Employment Standard and
Human Resource Management Policy’, employee handbook and
employment contract, the Group had clearly specified the policies
regarding remuneration composition, staff benefits, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities,
anti-discrimination and arrangement in case of work-related
injuries in protecting the employees’ rights and interests. The
Human Resources Department of each business segment is
responsible for monitoring the execution of the above policies, and
organising briefing or training to interpret those policies for new
hirers.

Remuneration and Benefits

The Group offers standardised remuneration package to
employees. Benefits to full-time employees include paid vacation
leave and family leaves (e.g, marriage leave, maternity/paternity
leave and compassionate leave), medical insurance coverage
and provident fund schemes, accommodation allowances and
educational subsidies etc. We have implemented standard working
hour system for most of our employees, while some employees
in special positions may be arranged irregular working hours.
In addition, we have implemented different kinds of family-
friendly measures to support employees in fulfilling their family
responsibilities. For instance, we offer marriage leave for at least
three days and condolence leave for five days in the PRC, which
enable them to manage their time on work and family.
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OUR PEOPLE (continued)

3.1

Employment Practices and Labour Standards
(Continued)

Remuneration and Benefits (Continued)

The Group reviews the employee remuneration and benefits on an
annual basis, with reference to the prevailing regional market level,
industry benchmarking and employees' individual performance,
such that they are rewarded with fair and competitive
compensation. Employees with excellent performance may be
awarded salary adjustment, promotion and/or discretionary bonus
in recognition to their contribution.

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

Adhering to the principle of openness, fairness and selection of
merits, the Group has formulated respective recruitment and
performance review management procedure in each business
segment to standardise the process in recruitment and promotion.
We select suitable candidates based on factors, such as their work
experience, professional qualifications, merits, competencies and
interview performance, in order to continually attract and retain
talents. Employees are only dismissed for fair reasons such as non-
renewal of employment contract, lack of competence or violation
of company policies. The Group considers each dismissal and
resignation seriously and exit interviews may be conducted with
the employees so as to provide the Group with feedback to reduce
turnover in the future.

Diversity, Equal Opportunities and Anti-
discrimination

As an organization, we value the uniqueness of each of our
employees to create a workplace that is synergistic and innovative.
We aim to maximize our human resource potential by bringing
together talents from different cultures, backgrounds and levels,
creating a diversified platform that allows our employees to
succeed. We strive to bring together talents from a range of
backgrounds, levels and cultures. The Group is committed to
providing equal opportunities in our employment practices
and creating a corporate culture with inclusiveness, trust and
respect. Any form of harassment, as well as any discrimination
on the ground of age, gender, race, ethnic origin, marital status,
disability or religious belief in the workplace or in the process
of recruitment, promotion, performance review and transferal
are strictly prohibited. The Group has strictly complied with all
relevant laws and regulations regarding anti-discrimination, such
as Sex Discrimination Ordinance of HKSAR (Cap. 480), Disability
Discrimination Ordinance of HKSAR (Cap. 487), Race Discrimination
Ordinance of HKSAR (Cap. 602) and Family Status Discrimination
Ordinance of HKSAR (Cap. 527) during the Reporting Year.
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OUR PEOPLE (continued)

3.1

Employment Practices and Labour Standards
(Continued)

Labour Standards

The Group respects human rights and protects the legitimate
interests of our employees. We strictly forbid the use of child labour
and forced labour in the workplace. During the recruitment process
and upon employment, we examine the identity document, work
visa and qualification of the applicants and successful candidates to
ensure that they meet the legal requirements for working age and
are eligible to work locally. All employees are required to enter into
an employment contract with the Group and fulfill the obligations
and requirements under the employment contract consensually.
If any practice of child labour or forced labour is discovered, the
Group will investigate the case thoroughly and dismiss the relevant
employees immediately. The Group has abided by the relevant
laws and regulation, such as Employment of Children Regulations
of HKSAR and Provisions on Prohibition of Child Labour of the PRC.
There was no non-compliance case during the Reporting Year.

Employee Profile

As of 31 December 2023, we had 1,648 employees located in
Hong Kong and the PRC. The overall employee turnover rate was
about 33.9% in 2023. The breakdown of the number of employees
divided by gender, age, employment type and geographical region
are shown below.
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OUR PEOPLE (continued) 3

3.2

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE RE

Occupational Health and Safety 3.2

Building a healthy and safe working environment is key to the
success of our business and to the happiness of our employees.
The internal health and safety policies and management
procedures in place in each business segment protect the health
and wellbeing of employees by identifying, preventing, and
managing safety risks in an orderly manner. During the Reporting
VYear, the Group has complied with local and national laws, such
as Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of HKSAR (Cap. 509),
Work Safety Law of the PRC, Law of the PRC on Prevention and
Control of Occupational Diseases. There was no non-compliance
case with the relevant safety and health laws and regulations.
The number of work injury cases and lost days due to work injury
during the past three year was listed below:

Year ended

31 December 2023

#;E20234F

12A31BMEFE

Number of work injury cases TEHEESHE 29
Lost days due to work injury HAILEEENIIER 809
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Year ended
31 December 2022

B E20226F
12831 HNEE

‘\ —
45 -

Our winery production and distribution business in the PRC
implemented an internal safety production responsibility system
together with 6S management for improving production efficiency
and productivity as well as minimising the risk of industrial
accidents. The “Occupational Disease Prevention Leading Group”
was formed for the oversight of the onsite safety management to
ensure the safe wine production and equipment operation at the
production sites. Regular safety inspections and audits are carried
out to verify the effectiveness of the safety preventive measures
and continually improve the safety performance.
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OUR PEOPLE (continued)

3.2

33

Occupational Health and Safety (Continued)

Our property management business strictly implement the
national laws and regulations such as the Work Safety Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Fire Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases. We
formulate and regularly promote the compliance of the Company's
Work Injury Response Measures, Work Manual and other systems
and standards, and operate in strict accordance with the law and
regulations. We have obtained 1SO45001:2018 on Occupational
Health and Safety Management System certification. In the past
three years (including this Year), the property management
business had no work-related fatalities. During the Year, the Group
lost 809 working days due to work-related injuries.

Development and Training

We believe constantly promoting employee development is an
essential factor for the Group to maintain sustainable development.
A series of universal on-the-job trainings (e.g., occupational safety
and health, corporate culture and management system etc.) are
provided to all levels of employees to strengthen the necessary
skills and knowledge in performing their job duties. Internal
and external topic-specific training sessions were arranged to
the employees based on their different job nature and position
grades. For instance, safety seminars, fire safety training and drills
for property management business, food and fire safety, brewing
and wine tasting, product design development and innovation
strategy for winery production and distribution business, were
delivered to the staff in different business segments to equip them
with professional and industry knowledge. Training performance
evaluations are carried out after each training session to ensure the
effectiveness of the training programmes. During the Reporting
Year, the number of total training hours is 49,331.37. Average
training hours per employees is 29.93. 99.8% of total employees

took part in the training.
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OUR RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS OPERATION 4 XEHEESHE
We strive to provide customers with quality services and products, striving BEMBNAERRHEEENRBENER
to enhance their customer experience, gain high customer satisfaction, AERRE UWESRESNERREE  IrH
and maintain good relationships with them. To ensure sustainable EREGRERENREGFR ABEUFENER
business operation and success, we must maintain high ethical standards BEMMRY RPN BEEBERERRES
in our business practices. EERE
4.1 Product and Service Excellence 41 BEERKRRTE

Wine Production and Distribution AERBENEERDH

The Group puts strong emphasis on delivering high-quality and
safe products. To achieve the objective, we have established
the quality management system accredited with 1SO 9001:2015
standard and Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point (HACCP)
System, in governing each step of the wine production lifecycle,
including grape cultivation and sourcing, wine-making, fertilisation
and pest control, product sample inspection, product labelling and
packaging, and sales and distribution, to ensure the product quality
assurance and food safety, as well as compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations and industry practices, such as Product
Quality Law of the PRC, Product Safety Law of the PRC, Regulation
on the Implementation of the Food Safety Law of the PRC and
Agriculture Law of the PRC and General Hygienic Regulation for
Food Manufacturing (GB 14881-2013) etc.

Food safety is of paramount importance of our wine products
and branding. Our “Product Food Safety Policy” and relevant safety
standard of operational procedures are in place for maintaining the
hygiene of wine production sites and preventing contamination of
water used in wine-making process. Regular water sampling tests
are conducted to ensure the strictest compliance with Standards
for Drinking Water Quality (GB5749-2006). Product sampling tests
will also be carried out before product delivery to ensure the
quality of wine products in conformance to statutory regulations.

We have established a quality responsibility system by defining the
roles and responsibilities of each staff to ensure quality production.
Together with the measurement assurance, standardisation and
quality responsibility system, we have been recognised by both the
local government and the broader food and beverage industry.
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OUR RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS OPERATION
(Continued)

4.1

Product and Service Excellence (Continued)
Property management

We strive to provide owners with high-quality property
management services. In order to satisfy the individual needs of
owners and customers, we offer standardised, professional services
and enhance the professionalism of our service personnel. We
have established the quality management system accredited
with 1SO 9001:2015 standard on the quality management in our
commercial, residential and office property management services.
As part of our property customer service center, staff are assigned
to supervise the daily activities surrounding the tenants in terms of
environmental hygiene, safety, pollution, and compliance, and to
correct and rectify practices that violate the tenants’ management
regulations within a specific period of time.

Product recall management

In our wine production and distribution business, followed by
“Product Recall Control Management Procedure” and “Control for
Non-conforming Products Management Procedures’, we handle
any non-conformance of products regarding product quality and
food safety issues are identified subject to recall the sold products
and take timely remedial actions where appropriate. Analysis
on the product recall incident will be carried out to prevent the
incident recurrence and implement corrective action(s) where
necessary in continual improvement on the quality assurance
practices. During the Reporting Year, one of our wine production
site has 0.3% products sold being recalled due to health and safety
reasons. Our property management business does not produce
product and hence this area is not applicable.

Product labelling

In our wine production and distribution business, to comply with
the requirements of National Food Safety Standard — Standard for
Nutrition Labelling of Pre-packaged Foods and General Standard
for the Labelling of Pre-packaged Alcoholic Beverage, appropriate
food label is attached on each wine bottle with the necessary
information, such as the description of the food name, the
ingredient list and production date to better inform the consumers
about the products composition, storage and handling. Warning
message of excessive drinking is attached on the packaging and
product labels to remind all the buyers and drinkers to consume
alcohol responsibly and caution them on the health risks and social
impact on excessive drinking. Our property management business
does not produce product and hence this area is not applicable.
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OUR RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS OPERATION
(Continued)

4.1

Product and Service Excellence (Continued)
Customer Feedback and Complaint Handing

Customer feedback is the key to drive our service excellence. In our
wine production and distribution business, we strive to maintain
good customer relationship and collect customer feedback by
means of customer satisfaction survey and hotline etc. for better
understanding the quality and standard of our products and
services delivered in pursuit of continuous improvement. On
the other hand, we strive to undertake reviews of any complaint
upon receipt, respond and address the issues in a timely manner
to satisfy the customers’ needs. Corrective actions will be taken
to rectify the current practices, where necessary, to avoid the
recurrence of the similar cases in the future.

In our property management business, we strictly abide by the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer
Rights and Interests, Regulation on Realty Management of the
People’s Republic of China and other laws and regulations. We
listen to the voices of property owners, improve every step in
the service process promptly, respond to the needs of property
owners and customers, and maintain good communication with
them, thus consistently improving property owner and customer
satisfaction.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not receive any
complaint related to the products and services provided.
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OUR RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS OPERATION
(Continued)

4.2

Business Integrity

The Group is committed to upholding the highest level of business
integrity throughout the operations in protecting the interests
of both stakeholders and the Group. We have complied with
the relevant laws and regulations, such as Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance of HKSAR (Cap. 201), Criminal Law of the PRC, Anti-
money Laundering Law of the PRC, Anti-Unfair Competition Law
of the PRC etc. During the Reporting Year, there was no reported
violation case of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Anti-corruption

Stipulated in “Anti-Corruption Policy” and “Corporate Code of
Conduct’, the Group outlines the standards of behaviours for
employees regarding business ethics, anti-corruption and anti-
bribery, conflict of interests and data confidentiality to ensure that
our businesses and operations are of high ethical standard. For
instance, all employees are strictly prohibited to offer or receive any
forms of advantages (e.g, gifts, entertainment and commissions
etc) from our customers and business partnerships. A whistle-
blowing mechanism is in place for the employees and external
stakeholders to report any kinds of malpractices and suspected
misconduct through our reporting channels. The Group protects
the identity of whistle-blower and keeps the reported information
confidential. Internal investigation will be undergone to verify
the reported case(s) and remedial actions will be taken where
necessary based on the result findings of the investigation.

The Group maintain regular anti-corruption and anti-money
laundering training session for the staff to raise their awareness on
corruption-prone areas and potential traps in business activities.
During the Reporting Year, the Board member of the group and
employees in property management business each attended a
total of 1 hour and 3 hours training respectively related to anti-
corruption.

4,

EHEE

BEE 1£ #

42 TEEHE

FEERINEEBRPRERS K
THEERE REFHENEEED
Fame HMBETHEBERRER W
BB LLHERIEA ) (FHEHFE201
B) (PEARKEMBEAE) ~ (REA
RAMBEIRAEZE)  (FEARHKNE
RAEEBFEIE -NBREFER M
EAREBEE PR RFERLEER
BVEEEE -

RES

FEERTREBHRI RBETHE
AP REETABEER RESK

REERE~ Fm ﬁ}ﬁ&ﬁﬂﬁ“ﬁﬁﬁ’\]ﬁ
REE BEREBREETOEERR

ENBRFEEIMER REHBBMH
RHEFWEE AR = (WEY -

AR RAEE) - RMUIESET KIS
FMHERILPREG BEB|RREL
BREMEMENTE ??%&TEEE’JTEE
TR -ZEEEREFRANS D I

REBRELRHRE ’ELHWHBEHQLM?
BRERERZ TLEFETETERKR
ENEEPOEE il

FEETEMAEIETRETRRNE
BEIIRE REEIHESSRS
EAREEEEEIRANEHR -N]|RE
FERN TEREFENERYPEEE
EBBE I DRI HZEVUNERINEFER
R&SHIESN

NEW SILKROAD CULTURALTAINMENT LIMITED 4 ANNUAL REPORT 2023



4

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE RE

OUR RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS OPERATION
(Continued)

4.2

Business Integrity (Continued)
Data Privacy

The Group puts emphasis to protect the data privacy as
maintaining confidentiality is essential for a company to build
trust with our stakeholders. We have strictly abided by the
Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China, Regulations
on the Protection of Computer Software, Measures for the
Registration of Computer Software Copyright, Mobile Internet
Privacy Policy and other relevant laws and regulations. The Group
has also formulated and implemented a series of internal policies
for information confidentiality and security management. Our
property management business has obtained 1S027001:2022
Information Security Management System certificate. Abided
by our “Corporate Code of Conduct’, the employees are
strictly prohibited to divulge, copy, transfer and disclose any
confidential or inside information including but not limited to
trade secrets, customer business information and personal data,
product technology and corporate financial information, to the
unauthorised persons and third parties without prior approval from
the management or customers. Stringent working procedures has
been formulated to guide the employees in the collection, storage
and handling of corporate sensitive or confidential information.
The Group has implemented multiple administrative, physical and
technical measures for data protection to prevent information
leakage and unauthorised access. For the personnel responsible for
management of confidential information, they are required to sign
“Confidential and Non-Disclosure Agreement” to ensure that they
fully understand their obligation and responsibility on information
privacy. Any employee who breaches the regulations is subject to
disciplinary actions and legitimate liability. During the Reporting
Year, the Group was not aware of any violation of relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
privacy matters.

WMo B X IR AR 2B € FERS 2023

4,

EFEERT =

4.2

EELIAERCH

BRFARE
MAREBRFMERIEEMGER RBE
DEMEZ FALAEBERRESR
T BB ET(PEAREMNE
A2 2 E) ~ (GHE A (RE R E)
(GtE#SEZERTSIE)  (BF
EMEEABE) EAEREEEAR K
EETHENE K —RIEARERR
ERZ2EENANIIEE MW E
BIEERBEEIS0270012022E R %%
BEREASEZ BRMERE HETAE
Al R EEEBRELELME BT
BEAREEENATRE=ZFRE
ER - ERNEECA#EERRNEE
B BEERREREEMRE TRED
BRI R EAERE  EREMURABG
BKER MBS EBSNIIERE
BETREANKE - FEREEAR
SR ZE R NIES c AEEER
BREZETH -YEREMERRER
BoBLEERRRBRALEEER 8
EEERTBENNALEEE HER
REWHZE > BRESEDTHENRE
EIAAE A ENEBME T - ERENR
ENEEVASILERED T AE X
BEX-PREEER XEFT A
BEEAMNHEEREBMLESTENE
BREARMBANEEEFEATE-

91



92

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HLERERERS

4

OUR RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS OPERATION
(Continued)

4.2

43

Business Integrity (Continued)
Protecting Intellectual Property Rights

We strictly comply with the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China,
Rules for Implementation of the Patent Law of the People's
Republic of China, the Tort Law of the People’s Republic of China,
and formulates and implements the confidentiality management
system, trademark management system and other internal
policy and guidelines. For instance, in our wine production and
distribution business, we have formulated “Trademark and Patent
Management Procedure” and delegate a management team to
monitor the overall use, registration and management of intangible
intellectual property rights and put in place anti-counterfeiting
measures. We list out the terms and conditions on intellectual
property rights, including ranging the distributor to use designated
trademarks, trade names and logos for distributing designated
products in the agreed scope and duration of time for the contract
signature with distributors. In our property management business,
we have “IT Policy and Procedure” in place and strictly prohibited
employees to install any unauthorised and illegal computer and
application software to ensure that intellectual property rights are
observed and protected.

Supply Chain Management

We embrace the close collaboration with a wide range of suppliers
with diverse backgrounds, as they could contribute additional
values to our businesses. The Group has formulated “Tender
and Procurement Management Policy” in place to specify our
commitment in open, fair and effective competition in tendering
and procurement process, and stringent management procedures
in each business segment to carefully select suppliers with high
standard of business integrity and product and service reliability.
During the Reporting Year, we have engaged 125 suppliers,
including 100 from Mainland China, 21 from Hong Kong and 4
from other countries.
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4 OUR RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS OPERATION
(Continued)

4.3

Supply Chain Management (Continued)

We perform supplier qualification assessment and review relevant
business reference check, based on the criteria including supplier
service quality, corporate background, legal compliance, certified
quality system, after-sales services and prices. For the potential
critical suppliers, relevant certification, sample product(s) and/
or third-party assessment report pertaining to quality and safety
are required to be provided for verification. Onsite inspection
will be carried out by our procurement team where necessary to
evaluate their capability. Suppliers who can successfully fulfil all
the specified requirements are qualified as our approved suppliers.
Relevant confidentiality agreement, business integrity declaration
and quality assurance agreement will be signed with the engaged
critical supplier(s) where appropriate to ensure the quality of
deliverables and honest business dealings. The Group prioritises
the local suppliers with good track records in labour management,
environmental and safety management, and/or with the provision
of more environmental-friendly products whenever possible, to
minimise the adverse impact on the environment and the society.
All 125 of our suppliers during the Reporting Year were subject to
our above practices.

To properly manage the environmental and social risks of our
supply chain, the Group has outlined our expectations and
requirements, including environmental and social performance,
in our tendering documents and contract to ensure that they
fully understand and oblige by the rules in our business activities.
Based on the criteria of delivery, quality of service, management
system and price, regular performance assessments, such as on-
site inspections and audits, are carried out for our existing on-
list suppliers to ensure the consistency of products and services
quality. We request all suppliers to take timely rectification in the
event of any non-conformity was found. For those suppliers who
consecutively fail to fulfil our required standards and are found in
violation of laws and regulations, they will be removed from the
approved supplier list.

5 OUR COMMUNITY

5.1

Caring for the Community

The Group acknowledges the importance of giving back to
the society and spares no effort in providing support. A total of
RMB15,000 was donated to those in need and 5,015,120 hours
were spent on voluntary work during the Reporting Year. This
contribution has touched the lives of many people in need, and it
will have a positive impact on the local community. Furthermore,
volunteers have helped create a better and stronger society.
The focus areas of the Group's community engagement are
environmental issues, community outreach and health.

WMo B X IR AR 2B € FERS 2023
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6 ESG DATA TABLE 6 RIE-HHEREBHBER

Environmental KPI data

RIBRRIENIEREE

Greenhouse gas emissions

BERBHEK

Scope 1 tonnes 93.08 5246

&E ma

Scope 2 tonnes 18,215.31 6,191.51

E[ED mA

Total tonnes 18,308.39 6,243.97

w5t Mg

Intensity

Wine production and distribution business tonnes/product in L 0.001 0.001

FEBELEERDHER Mg, FE

Integrated resorts and cultural tourism and tonnes/m? N/A RiERA 525
real estate development and operation businesses

e RN B A Tk 2275 LA e B ith 72 B 28 e Mg, TR

Property management business in the PRC and tonnes/no. of staff 11.39 N/A 58 A
head office in Hong Kong

FEYEEIRES R EBRY Mg,/ BT A

Air emissions

FERBEK

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) tonnes 0.17 0.06

AFEY (NOx) Mg

Sulphur oxides (SOx) tonnes 0.00 0.00

WREEY) (SOX) g

Particulate matter (PM) tonnes 0.02 0.00

FERLY) (PM) iz}

Waste disposed (by types)
ERERERY (RERE5)

Paper, plastic and general waste tonnes 38.31 0.18
HRoR~ BB —REEERY) g

94 o NEW SILKROAD CULTURALTAINMENT LIMITED 4 ANNUAL REPORT 2023



6

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE RE

ESG DATA TABLE (Continued)

Environmental KPI data

IRIBRIRE SRR

Use of resources
BRAZ
Direct energy
BHERR

Diesel

i

Gasoline

A
Indirect energy (Electricity use)
R (AEE)
Total energy consumption
“BEEFE

Intensity

T

Wine production and distribution business

AEBNEERDIHES

Integrated resorts and cultural tourism and real estate
development and operation businesses

fr e BIRN R XX ACTR i 2 15 A K
o i 2 A 3 S A SR S

Property management business in the PRC and head office
in Hong Kong

PRIV EEEES R EBEY

Water use

BxE

Intensity

T

Wine production and distribution business

BEBENEERDHER

Property management business in the PRC

R EEIRER

Integrated resorts and cultural tourism and real estate
development and operation businesses

iR E E R RSB R 2R LU
B EE R A R AR

6 RIE-HERELHER@®

MWh
JEELBF
MWh
JRELBF
MWh
JEELBF
MWh
JEELBF

MWh/product in L
KRB, FHE S
MWh/m?
KRB FRHK
MWh/no. of staff

KRB/ BT A#

m?3

75K

m?*/product in L

MK TFHER
m?/no. of staff
YHKBETAH
m3/m?
ARSI

6.58

333.05

31,937.23

32,276.86

0.002

N/A REH

20.03

762,244

0.08

451.96

N/A REH

848

179.85

8,811.39

8,999.72

0.001

7.21

N/A 38 A

130,332

0.06

N/A 38 A

WMo B X IR AR 2B € FERS 2023

95



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HLERERERS

6 ESG DATA TABLE (Continued) 6 EBIFE-HEREALAHER =

Environmental KPI data

RIBRIRE ISR EUE

Packaging materials

aBEYE

Wine bottle tonnes 749.0 2,5157
IR i

Carton box tonnes 103.1 5922
HERZ 78 L

Cork tonnes 10.2 259
N U

Paper box tonnes 19.2 2221
= i

Wooden box tonnes 12.8 1352
A& i

Plastic bag tonnes 0.3 36
R Nig

Total packaging materials tonnes 894.6 34947
BB ST Mg

Intensity

BE

Wine production and distribution business tonnes/product in L 0.001 0.002
BEENEERDHER ME,FtE &
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6 ESG DATA TABLE (Continued) 6 RIB-HEREARHFER =

Social KPIs data

HERREN SRR

Total employees - by gender

EEAH—HEHE D

Female number 809 159
74 A#
Male number 839 194
EM AEL

Total employees - by age
EEAH—HFRED

<30 number 145 83
A

30-50 number 1,158 237
A

> 50 number 345 33
AEL

Total employees - by category

ESRH—HEHE S

Senior number 20 23
= AR AN
Middle number 181 70
4R A
Junior number 1,351 203
¥R AE
Temporary/contract/seasonal staff number 96 57
BB A0, SHEET A#

Total employees - by geographical region

EEAH-—HEHERD

Hong Kong number 5 12
&% A
Mainland China number 1,643 283
R E g it N
South Korea number N/A RiEFH 52
[E) A
Australia number N/A REH 6
B A

Employee turnover rate - by gender

BRI R MR 2

Female % 38.4 250
eg
Male % 29.6 276
Bt

Employee turnover rate - by age

EBERKLER-IHFRED

<30 % 53.1 66.3
30-50 % 334 144
> 50 % 27.5 154

W E XK ABRRAB G FERS 2023
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6

ESG DATA TABLE (Continued) 6 RIB-HEREARHFER =

Social KPIs data

HERIREMISREE

Employee turnover rate - by geographical region

EBERKLEE-HtER D

Hong Kong %
E5H

Mainland China %
FRE Ay it

South Korea %
[Ep

Australia %

S

UM

Occupational safety and health

WELZIHRER

Lost days due to work injuries day
RITEERINITIEEH SE-
Number of injuries cases number
THEHE ER
Number of fatalities number
FETAH A

Percentage of employees trained - by gender

ZillEE Bt —ZIEREI 5

Female %
g
Male %
BH

Percentage of employees trained - by category

ZillEE Bt —RERE 5

Senior %
=R
Middle %
FR4R
Junior %
IR

Average training hours completed per employee - by gender

54 ES TSN TR —RIE R85

Female hours
gegi NS
Male hours
B4 NS

20.0

34.0

N/A REH

N/A REH

809

29

100.0

99.5

85.7

100.0

99.9

30.5

29.4

8.0

293

286

45

86.9

80.9

53.1

66.2

88.8

20.5
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6 ESG DATA TABLE (Continued) 6 RIB-HEREARFER®

Social KPIs data

HERIREMISREE

Average training hours completed per employee - by category

5488 SRS TR 8 — R 8 5

Senior hours 32.6 303
=R N
Middle hours 29.1 373
FR4R N
Junior hours 30.0 20.1
AR N

Number of suppliers - by geographical region

HEMHE —RtES 5

Mainland China number 100 76
FRE Ay it &

Hong Kong number 21 1
54 &

Overseas number 4 1
BRI &

Product and service quality

EmkiRFEEE

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to % 0.3% =

recalls for safety and health reasons

CENDEZEMBHR PR 22 RRFEERMA

B ER
Number of complaints received number = =
waREREE S

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices number - -
brought against the Company or its employees during the
Reporting Year

REREFEHARTNEEERLELEEFLENESHF =
SREMRIHE
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7 THE STOCK EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING 7 BXRRBE-HHERERREE
GUIDE INDEX 51 REERS

ESG Reporting Guide Section
(RE 1 EREEREIST) AT
Mandatory Disclosure Requirements
E I EHE
Governance Structure A statement from the board containing the following elements: Section 1.2
ERWRIE HEFSRLNER BRHABTIRNS : 51285

() adisclosure of the board's oversight of ESG issues;
() REEEEHREBE - HERELSEENEE;

(i) the board's ESG management approach and strategy, including the
process used to evaluate, prioritise and manage material ESG-related
issues (including risks to the issuer’s businesses); and

(ih BFENRBE-HERERBEFH KR GFTH B
NREREENRE - HEREREANET (OEHEITAE
BRVERD) BVIBRE ; &

(iii)  how the board reviews progress made against ESG- related goals and
targets with an explanation of how they relate to the issuer’s businesses.

(i) EFFNARRE-HEREREMBERRNERS LREETT
W feTEREE 1T N ZEFS R RAE -
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RIE-HERELGRS

THE STOCK EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING 7 HMXAARIE -HEREARERSIE

GUIDE INDEX (Continued)

SIYRNABERS @

ESG Reporting Guide

Section

(IRE T BREGREIS5)

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements (Continued)

SR IR ERE ()

Reporting Principles

ERRAY

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the following
Reporting Principles in the preparation of the ESG report:
MR TRRIRE e RERRSRIARER T ERERR

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the process to identify and the
criteria for the selection of material ESG factors; (ii) if a stakeholder engagement
is conducted, a description of significant stakeholders identified, and the
process and results of the issuer’s stakeholder engagement.

EEM  BRE - HEREAREERE (HIEZRRE - HEKRER
HAENBIERIEEELERRNER] (NNETABETHEHESR
EENNEERMHENBIRRBETATNESHENBRERER

Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions
and/or calculation tools used, and source of conversion factors used, for the
reporting of emissions/energy consumption (where applicable) should be
disclosed.

21t : BRIERYINE AERES WER) FrAMNRE 55 RR
R/ SstETENER URAEANEREZNIORE THRE -

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG report any changes to
the methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant factors affecting a meaningful
comparison.

—H ETARERE HERELARSTIRERA H ENERE
MAERNEE (WA) EREMEES BRLERNVERREE

=z

=y}

Section 1.1 &
Section 1.3

B
1380

Reporting Boundary
EREE

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and
describing the process used to identify which entities or operations are
included in the ESG report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer should
explain the difference and reason for the change.

REIRIE LB R EAREMNEREE > KB E LSRN ER
MARBE-HEREARENBRE SERBEFPINE  BITAR
RN 2 EREERE -

Section 1.1
EAREEG]

WA E XK AR B S FERS 2023
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BRI - B R EAREIS
SIYRABES @

7 THE STOCK EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING 7
GUIDE INDEX (Continued)

ESG Reporting Guide Section
(IRIE L EREBREIS5) 1]

A. Environment

A. IRIE
A1 Emission
A1 HERAD
Al General Disclosure Section 2
Information: EPLEG]
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
BRBERMRERER kRt B R EEEERBEREEY
B — i B2
@ BE; R
() BTFHBETABEATENEREERRANER
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emission data. Section 6
RSB IAEIRAL 1 BE B AR RA B B o 6
KPI'AT.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in | Section 6
RAAAIEIEA1 2 tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, | Z86&0
per facility).
BHi% (@E) REERMERE EE2) AERBHNE WUEETE) & (3
A ZE MUSESEN §EREE) ©
KPIA1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity | Section 6
RARAARIERZEA13 (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). ELSE0)
FFELESEEYEE UHE) kK (WER) BE MUSESE
i~ BIER ST H)
KPIA14 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes and, where appropriate, | Section 6
RESRAE MIEIEA1 4 intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). ELSC
FFELAEEZEEYES UWHE) kK (MER) BE MUSESE
i~ BIER ST H)
KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Section 2.1
RASRABAERALS HAPRET LV BE N B B AR e 23 E 35 L B AR P IR E A 27 BR o EPAN-0)
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a | Section 2.2
RARENIEEA16 description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. SB2280
W RIEA SR EEBEYNG L REMATET A REB R R AE
F)I5LE B ARPTERERAY 5 §R o
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7 THE STOCK EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING 7
GUIDE INDEX (Continued)

BRFR(RIE- B R EAREIS
SIYRABES @

ESG Reporting Guide Section
(IRIE L EREBREIS5) EA

A. Environment (Continued)

A. IR (&

A2 Use of Resources

A2 BiRfEH
A2 General Disclosure Section 2.3
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw | 52380
materials.
— AR EE
BRERER (IEEIR ~ KR EMFEME) BB
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) | Section 6
RESRAERISIEA2.1 in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per | 2568
facility).
R DM ERE K SEEER (NS - fsih) LFEE UTFET
EEHE) RBE USESE (N SERETE) -
KPI'A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, | Section 6
RARAAIEIZEA22 per facility). E19:]
MIEKERBE WUSESEN - BERMHE)
KPIA2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve | Section 2.3
R E IR RA23 them. 552380
HEPPRET I VAR TR E A 3 2t B IR e A E B iE £ B AR P ERER Y B8
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for | Section 2.3
R NIEIZA24 purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. F2380
H M SREGE A AOR LRI BRI URPIET AR @ B IR K%
ETE LB RIS B o
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if | Section 6
RAREIERRA2S applicable, with reference to per unit produced. FoHn
HpmPrAeEMEEE WMEtE) & WMER) SEEBGS-

WA E XK AR B S FERS 2023
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7 THE STOCK EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING 7 HBMXAARIE -HEREARERSIE
GUIDE INDEX (Continued) SIYABERS| =
ESG Reporting Guide Section

(IBIE HEREGEREZIES)
A. Environment (Continued)
A. IRIE (&)

=1

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

A3 IRIERRAEIR

A3 General Disclosure Section 2.4
Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and | 52487
natural resources.
— AR EE
BIREIT AHIRRERRAERENERTENBER

KPI' A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and | Section 2.4

RAREIEREA3 1 natural resources and the actions taken to manage them. 552480
HAEBRHHIRERRARAERNEAZERERNEEFHARCE
178 -

A4 Climate Change

A4 RIREAE

A4 General Disclosure Section 2.5
—fRiREE 252,580

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

HAREH BRI EEHETAEEXENEAREBERASEN
B

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and | Section 2.5
R SR A IS 1EA4 1 those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them. 552,580
MR RPIEEHETAEEFENEARERBASE  RELHTT
Ho

-
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7 THE STOCK EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING 7
GUIDE INDEX (Continued)

BRFr(RIE - B RERRGIE
SIYRABES @

ESG Reporting Guide Section
(IRIE L EREBREIS5) EA

B. Social
B. #g

B1 Employment
B1 {E{#

B2 Health and Safety
B2 BREZ2

B1 General Disclosure Section 3
Information on: 380
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
— AR EE
BRI ARRE BB RS TEHE KRB TEHE S
J2 e ¥R DA ELA AR 38 B @ MY
@ BE; R
() BTFHBETABEATENEREERRANER
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical | Section 6
R R N IEAER1. 1 region. e
R~ B IR Fl AR Rt @B D EE R -
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Section 6
RASRAE RIS 1RB1.2 BRI FRRARN B SN RE MK E1:

B2 General Disclosure Section 3.2
Information on: 53280
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.
—fgi =
ERRHZ2THRRERREREEBRRHELREN
@ B¥; &
(b) BFHEFETABEATENEBERRRAONER -
KPIB2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Section 6
R AR A5 1B, 1 EATTHAIAB L= E=6=0]
KPIB2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Section 6
RA SR AR NI 1RB2.2 AT BEETEARC SH6En
KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they are | Section 3.2
RS AE MIE1ER2.3 implemented and monitored. 3280
HE P ER AN DY BB 2E (R B Bl 2 2 48T U AR IT R BE R A K o

WA E XK AR B S FERS 2023
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7 THE STOCK EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING 7 HBMXAARIE -HEREARERSIE
GUIDE INDEX (Continued) SIYRABERES @
ESG Reporting Guide Section

(IBIE HEREGEREZIES)
B. Social (Continued)
B. #t& #&)

=1

B3 Development and Training

B3 2 & K 153l

B3 General Disclosure Section 3.3
Policies on improving employees' knowledge and skills for discharging duties at | 53.3&f
work. Description of training activities.

— AR EE
BRI AR B BT TR BRI B A SEBIBER - #atiB G S
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. | Section 6
R AN IEIER3.1 senior management, middle management). 1350
2R REEENE WsKRERE -PREERE 80N ZIIREET D
te
KPIB3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee | Section 6
R AR TE1EB3.2 category. E350]

RIER KR EESEFED  SRESTMZNTHRHK-

B4 Labour Standard
B4 & T #H

B4 General Disclosure Section 3.1

Information relating: 53180

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.

—fgiR =

BRAFGEE T 55a%I% T ¢

@ BE;x&

(b) BFHEFETABEAZENEBERRRAONER -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and | Section 3.1

RSB RIS EB41 forced labour. F315

HI AR ST B B AR S LU o & T Kol gs T o

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. Section 3.1

i SRR B X H5 1R B4.2 HHERRERBREHRE RS R RR PR - 583,180
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7 THE STOCK EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING 7 HMXAARIE -HEREARERSIE
GUIDE INDEX (Continued) SIYRABES @
ESG Reporting Guide Section

(IBIE HEREGEREZIES)
B. Social (Continued)
B. #t® #&)

B

B5 Supply Chain Management

B5 fiFEHE EIE

B5 General Disclosure Section 4.3
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. 554388
—ARiRE
FIRMHEENIRIE R g RREE

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Section 6

AR A AHE1RBS. 1 BME S D EEEEE - 568

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers | Section 4.3

R R AR 512852 where the practices are being implemented, how they are implemented and | 584380
monitored.

A A EEENIEE m HENTEREBANEEEEE Uk
R T RER G A

KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along | Section 4.3
R AA RIE1ER5.3 the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored. 4380
Hali A R HEE S ERENIRE R ARAIES LU B
TREERF* -

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products | Section 4.3
R AR I51ER54 and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and | 55438
monitored.

E TR MR R L2 AIRRERRRBOVIER » URBRANT
Yokt apr
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7 THE STOCK EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING 7
GUIDE INDEX (Continued)

BRI - B R EAREIS
SIYRABERES @

ESG Reporting Guide Section
(IRIE L EREBREIS5) 1]
B. Social (Continued)

B. #8 ®

B6 Product Responsibility

B6 EmEfE
B6 General Disclosure Section 4.1
Information relating to 408
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress.
— AR EE
BRIFTEHERNMRBNEREZE -BE - RERMEBEEURE
HFER :
@ BE; R
() BTFHBETABEATENEREERRANER
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and | Section 6
R AE N IE1ER6.1 health reasons. E3E0]
EENEEXEMRYPRT 2 EREEEAMALKNE D
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are | Section 6
R &R TE15B6.2 dealt with. E350]
RN ERMIRBHRIFEE UREH F %
KPIB6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual | Section 4.2
RASR/RI61E863 property rights. F4280
i B AR TE Ko (RS R 58 A R BE AV IB B
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Section 4.1
RSB IE1RB64 M E S8 E B K EmEINERE 4180
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are | Section 4.2
R IEIER6.5 implemented and monitored. F4.280
HEAUH B E B EMRIE R A RER - U ABRA R IT R B E &
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7 THE STOCK EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING 7
GUIDE INDEX (Continued)

B (IRIE - ERERKRSIE
SIYRERS| =

ESG Reporting Guide

Section

B. 18 #@

B7 Anti-corruption
B7 R&5

(IRE HBREGREIS5)

B. Social (Continued)

=2

B7 General Disclosure Section 4.2
Information relating to: F4.280
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
— RIS
B LEBEER « $13R ~ MGEROR R I8 ¢
@ ¥ &
(b) BFHEFETABEAZENEBERRRANER
KPIB7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against | Section 6
R A RIEIER7.1 the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of | 55687
the cases.
RBREFAHBETAREEERE T EEENESHAREZGNHE
T ERME R
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how they | Section 4.2
R &N IE1ER72 are implemented and monitored. F4.280
HEAL B B FE B S B IRAE 7 U ARRA T R EE R 57k ©
KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. Section 4.2
RASRAE WIS 1EB7 3 HitmEERETIRENRETEI- SF4.280
B8 Community Investment
B8 1 EBIZE
B3 General Disclosure Section 5
Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the | 55580
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’interests.
—fgi =
BRUMEZERTREEMTHERENRREER ZHEER
HEM A
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour | Section 5
RE SR 48 FE1EBS. 1 needs, health, culture, sport). E5E
EIERMEE MHE BREEE - FIHER - BR XL -8BH) -
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Section 5
A SR AB XI5 1RBs.2 EEIHBBBER W23 R) £
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BB EN RS

CCTH CPA LIMITED
PIEXREEEMAIRLQE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
NEW SILKROAD CULTURALTAINMENT LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of New Silkroad
Culturaltainment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 117 to 233, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the "Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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8 (TEA8)) RERBRAR MiETEEE)) N
BMBRE ZERAMBRREENR -2 =F
+TZA=T—HNGEEMBRRNR - BEZBLE
ENGERER GAolRmhkEME2EEER 4
BRDEPRKGFEEREMER  UREEMHR
KW QEERGSHHRER -

EERB R ZEROMTRRAERES B
AE((EBEMAE) RHNEBMHFREER
(TEEMBREER) EEMAFMRIR S5
ER -2 _=F+_B=+—HWHKREHHRR
ERBEZBEFENGEVHRERFEEREER
B UERREBRAAKAMNKEREL SRR -

ERNER
ESCRBEBEHMAERMHHNEREHER
(TEBBEER)) ETBt - EEURFTERK
ENBSEEFRE ZHMAMB RS M BHRERK
ENSME BOPEL - RESBGHA LT TR
EgstenEEThL (PR - EFEBUN B&
> UTERTTRTNEMBXEREE 55
B EEMESHNEFRIEEREREEHRAES
WEF S RIEHER-

FSEETFE
HREAFTEARBESNREHEHERNG
BB RENBEAELEEATNENSTE-ZEEH
IESENGEMBREAAHASRFETRE
MAEHZEFFTREXRERIER -

NEW SILKROAD CULTURALTAINMENT LIMITED 4 ANNUAL REPORT 2023



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

MEBEER

Accounting related to major acquisition of a subsidiary

HREEWRBRBARNESER

Refer to note 42 and the accounting policies in note 3.2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

H2 R eV BRRNG2R W EEE32M TSR

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group completed an
acquisition of a subsidiary. Among this acquisition, the acquisition
of a subsidiary, Beijing Chaolaichaowang Culture Media Company
Limited (“Chaolaichaowang”), is considered to be significant.
For the acquisition of Chaolaichaowang at a consideration of
approximately HK$487,495,000 (equivalent to RMB430,000,000), the
Chaolaichaowang'’s fair value of identifiable net assets amounted to
approximately HK$163,775,000 and the goodwill arising from the
acquisition amounted to approximately HK$323,720,000.
BE_ZT_="F+_A=+—HLEHFE> BSEEZTRT
—IBINEWB AR - fEERIET » BB A E IR #R
MEXEEEBRAS (NRAKAE) HRERDARHEE
U B S5 18 o LU BB A SR BATE T = » AU E 40 %487,495,000 7T
(HHE M AR #430,000,0007T) » BB IEN BT #AIEEA R
B{E4973163,77500078 70 > MU BRI ELENEENS
323,720,000/ 7T ©

Management engaged independent valuer to value the assets and
liabilities acquired in the acquisitions, including the identification and
valuation of intangible assets.
EEEZETBEUGEMASNBEEENaEETHE 8iF
AR L EET B ERNEE

Accounting for the acquisition of a subsidiary is an area of focus
because of (a) the significance of the acquisition of a subsidiary,
(b) critical accounting estimates and judgements involved in the
identification and valuation of intangible assets acquired, in particular
for those amounts valued by income approach, and (c) valuation of
the assets and liabilities that are recognised. When determining the
fair value of assets and liabilities recognised in the acquisition, the
valuation based on discounted cash flow model were primarily used.
Key assumptions used include discount rates, revenue growth rates
and gross margins. Any significant changes in these key assumptions
may give rise to material changes in the fair value of the acquired
assets and liabilities including intangible assets, which directly impact
the goodwill recognised.

BR@QUIEENBARINEEZM  OHMMRERTEEENH
MEED RN E KRG SHE T FE - 455 AL A K
ENEE UkOPTESNEEMNSBENGEE I WS
BRAANGStRIEEBEMBAINEIE B8 T WEDES
NEEMBENAREER  TEEANEENRMIRRER
SRAMNMGE - PIEANARRRBFEERE WA RSE
MEFZF - NZFRHRBREEMERSCHATEERPIR
BREENGE OEEVEE WARBELREREE M
ERETEEmINEE-
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B BET RS

FAREETEIE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENEMARIERREEE

Our procedures in relation to the assessment of the key assumptions
used in assessing the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired in
the acquisition included:
EEMTEEEREBEEN B AR BAEMEANEE
RERRIETHNRER 8

We obtained and reviewed relevant contracts related to the
acquisition and evaluated management's process to identify
intangible assets;
EECNSREREWFEEEEMNERSRE LT
HEEEH B EENBR

We evaluated the competence, capability and objectivity of
the independent valuer engaged by the management;
EEEMEEEEZRENE L EEMNERE 5Bk
BEM

We obtained the valuation reports and discussed with the
independent valuer engaged by the management on the
methodologies and key assumptions used;
EEEEGGERS HEBIEEZIENE (BT
SPT R R A EMBARIRE

We evaluated the methodologies used to determine the
fair values of assets and liabilities recognised (including the
valuation of intangible assets acquired), and benchmarked the
discount rates applied to other comparable companies in the
same industry; and
EEEMEAREEERINEENAE (BIEI
BREEENGE AnBEMERNG A LLEE
TERNEMPILERABNEIREERE | &

We evaluated the appropriateness of the key assumptions,
including yearly growth rates of revenue, and profit margins
and management'’s expectation of market conditions by
reference to the historical performance, future business plan
of the Group as well as industrial trends.

EEE2E SEENBERE - RREBE KT
B2 RS RERINARBRNER L 815
WaFRERVENXKEBES HRTE -

We reviewed the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.

EEEERFRAMBRRVBRMME -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

YR R S Tk

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

MEBEER

Impairment assessment on an intangible asset with indefinite
useful life

BREAFHNELEERETG

Refer to note 18 and the accounting policies in note 3.2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

B2 RGR SV BRRNEE 18R 320 F 5t BUER

We identified the impairment assessment of an intangible asset
with indefinite useful life, namely entertainment licence, which
are allocated to the cash-generating unit (“CGU") of entertainment
business and trademarks, which are allocated to the CGU of
property management business as a key audit matter because of
the significance of the balances to the consolidated statement of
financial position as a whole and the significant degree of judgement
made by management in the assessment process.
EEROIRERSEL B (REEL BN REEH IR
TELBUEBERER AERRIEHRAFEMZELEE
(BMIR 2L p2 BR R B AR) 2 BB ST Al B R TR EE R

ARERHERARSMBRARZEEEREEE N TG
BIRFRIEL 2 R HIER o

Determining whether the intangible asset with indefinite useful life
is impaired requires management's estimation of the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the intangible asset with indefinite
useful life have been allocated. The recoverable amount calculation
requires the management of the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the CGU, which includes key
assumptions for cash flow projections, including yearly growth
rates of revenue, profit margin, discount rate and management’s
expectation of market conditions. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.

EEERECAFHANELEEEZESAEREZEEE M5
EokEREAFHNETLEENREEL EUN TG

THEEIRLERER SEREERGHREELE
UFEHELENRRBESRE  SFERSASARNEERRE

= BREWDEERER v aMER ERXREEERTRE
TR -MBRAREEREMN A FIEEELETNRE

518

As set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements, the
carrying amounts of the intangible asset with indefinite useful life is
HK$145,613,000 at 31 December 2023.

AR e M RRMEISE R =F+"A=+—
B EmREAFERNELEENRE(EZ145613,0008 7T ©

R ETEIE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENEAMARIERREEE

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of the
intangible asset with indefinite useful life included:
EENERGCAFHNELEENRAETGE
Er

THRERE

We understood the entity’s key control in relation to the
impairment assessment of the intangible asset with indefinite
useful life, including the process of preparation of the future
cash flow projections and key assumptions adopted by
management in the cash flow projections;
ESETHEREERGRAFHNELEERET G
HRARES SEGRARREREFANBIERE
BERRESRETEAPRANREREE ;

We evaluated the competence, capability and objectivity of
the independent valuer engaged by the management;
EEEMEEEEZRENE L GEMNERE 5Bk
BEM

We evaluated the appropriateness of the key assumptions
in the cash flow projections, including yearly growth rates
of revenue, profit margin and management's expectation of
market conditions by reference to the historical performance,
future business plan of the Group as well as industrial trends;
EEE2E SEENBERE - RREBSE KT
B2 RS RERINARBRNER L 815
WaFERER VENRKEEEH HRNTERS ;

We obtained the sensitivity analysis performed by
management and assessing the extent of impact on the
recoverable amount; and
EEEHSEEBETHSRE DT > LT EE AT
Bl ENTEREE ; &

We reviewed the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.

EEEERFRAMBRRVBRME -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

MEBEER

Impairment loss on completed properties held for sale

RHEFERIMENRESRR

Refer to note 20 and the accounting policies in note 3.2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

F2 RSV BRI 20K 8 2 B 5T EER

The carrying amount of completed properties held for sale was
HK$173,315,000 as at 31 December 2023, represented 7.4% of total

assets.
B =F+_B=+—H FERFERIYENREE

#173,315,00078 70 > 1B E AR E EBY7.4% ©

Impairment assessment of these properties held for sale was based
on management estimation of the net realisable value of the
properties which was determined by reference to the estimated
selling prices provided by an independent professional valuer.
FAERERIMERBTHUEEEHYEN ISR FE
FrfEfast RBEE - HH2E B/ B (GEMPIRHEZEHE
BMEE -

We have identified the impairment of the completed properties held
for sale as a key audit matter due to the magnitude of the properties
and the management estimation of the net realisable value.
EERFARERTYERERNAMREEZEE RER
%%%{éﬁijﬁﬁﬁriﬁkiﬁ@%ff& BREfhste
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B BET RS
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENEMARIERREEE

Our procedures in relation to the assessment of the impairment loss
on completed properties held for sale included:

EEEMTGERHATERIEREEENREFEE !

We obtained an understanding of the design, implementation
and operating effectiveness of key internal controls around
the property development cycle with particular focus on
controls over cost budgeting and periodic review, sources of
impairment assessment data and calculation of impairment
provisions.
EETHMELERBRIZNMEZ 2R HITIE
MBEERRL > 45 5 B B A A K T BRI AT ~ R
BEHMEBIBERIRUA R R ERE 25 E -

We evaluated the competence, capability and objectivity of
the independent valuer engaged by the management for the
estimation of selling prices fo the properties.

FEMYMEEBZ AL EREZRNBIUGE
EWB’JﬁI_ FEN BRI

We assessed the methodologies used by the management
and external valuer engaged by the management for the
estimation of the net realisable value of the properties.
EFETLEEERINEGHEMGST EERZYE
RIS IREAZ A E

For the forecast of future sales, we compared the expected
sale prices of properties, on a sample basis, to the contracted
sales price of the properties with comparable locations and
conditions, where applicable.

PMARHETRRAMS » EERHRLERBRAYZE 2 TEH
HEBRUB KRB LR 2 Y2 BT 284
EE WBER) -

We checked the reasonableness and calculation of the
net realisable value of the properties prepared by the

management.
EEEREEEEM ARSI E S EER
o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
WIAZHENHR S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90
of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and, obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

B BET RS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
WIAZHENHR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

CCTH CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 20 March 2024

YIM Kai Pung David
Practicing certificate number P02324

Unit 1510-1517, 15/F, Tower 2,
Kowloon Commerce Centre,

No, 51 Kwai Cheong Road, Kwai Chung,
New Territories, Hong Kong
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

)

S fm

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HEZE_=F+"A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
=F== S
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M5 FHET FHET
Revenue Wi 5 469,181 369,452
Cost of revenue Wi A A (360,321) (283,295)
Gross profit EH] 108,860 86,157
Other revenue, gains and losses H A~ s M E518 7 20,040 22,199
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHMAZ (33,627) (66,109)
Administrative and other operating expenses THREMSERS (126,560) (85/413)
Fair value loss of investment property KEYEEEEFEE 16 (266) =
Impairment loss on property, LY EN =Y
plant and equipment ERTE 14 (2,107) (91,415)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets EREEERNERSIE 15 (1,792) =
Impairment loss of intangible assets B EERERE 18 (46,345) =
Impairment loss on completed properties FEGEZRTYERERE
held for sale 20 (51,701) -
Impairment loss under expected credit loss TREAEEBEEA T
model, net reversal/(recognised) e (D) RERIE 358 5,867 (553)
Loss from operating activities RS HTE 7 B518 8 (127,631) (135,134)
Finance costs PSR AR 10 (5,550) (5,945)
Loss before taxation PRIRRIES 1R (133,181) (141,079)
Income tax credit/(expense) Frigiik e, ) 11 10,237 (30,662)
Loss for the year FHE5IE (122,944) (171,741)
Loss for the year attributable to: UTEERGENESE -
Owners of the Company KABEB A (82,255) (112,474)
Non-controlling interests FEFEEI R (40,689) (59,267)
(122,944) (171,741)
Loss per share SRE51E
Basic (HK cents) A (GEA) 13 (2.56) (351)
Diluted (HK cents) #E GB1l) 13 (2.56) (351)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial  BEMiMzE BZEEEHMBREZ—I D

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPRERENSIVE INCOME
rofEmMcEMEERTR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_Z_=F+_B=+—HIEFE

2023 2022
—¥= ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
TF#&T FHET
Loss for the year FHE51E (122,944) (171,741)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hith2mEmuks ~ (§518)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: FEEN I EEEmRZER -
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans EEEBH T B EMETE (1,103) 3,007
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss: SEEM 7R mR B -
Exchange differences arising from translation ?ﬁﬁﬁ%%%éiz PERERE
of foreign operations (31,275) (162,641)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, FAHEMEEEE
net of income tax OBRPT1SIR (32,378) (159,634)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FAZHEEESE (155,322) (331,375)
Total comprehensive loss for the year UTRIERGEFEFAZEEIEMREE .
attributable to:
Owners of the Company PiN/NEIEZ DN (112,808) (252,819)
Non-controlling interests FEEEI R (42,514) (78,556)
(155,322) (331,375)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial ~ BEMYMIEF AZELREMBIRKR 2 —8D
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
BRI R

nv-R

Asat31 December2023 HE_ZE_=F+_H=+—HILEE

2023 2022
—¥= ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
TF#&T FHET
Non-current assets JERENE E
Property, plant and equipment MR EREE 14 742,604 762,160
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 47,902 59,686
Investment properties KEYZE 16 8,541 =
Goodwill 5k 17 314,261 =
Intangible assets BB E 18 243,245 146,860
Prepayments for purchase of property, BEVME - BEREZEZ
plant and equipment FETFRIE 37,082 37,719
Deferred tax assets FERIBE E 36 27,816 5,100
1,421,451 1,011,525
Current assets RENE E
Inventories FE 19 217,388 218,669
Completed properties held for sale FEREBITY= 20 173,315 270910
Trade receivables B EUER 21 135,943 3,468
Prepayments, deposits paid and FENRIE B ZE K
other receivables HpEWER1E 22 139,883 81,777
Contract costs BHIR A 23 755 3,643
Short-term loan receivables FEWIERIE 24 55 54
Cash and cash equivalents RERIFEEFREF 25 201,745 554,705
869,084 1,133,226
Current liabilities mENAE
Trade payables B SRR 26 126,616 30,241
Accruals and other payables FE =T B F K E & (IR IE 27 212,903 149,437
Contract liabilities aHas 28 62,240 29,989
Amounts due to related parties FE T RAEE 75 KR 29 17,389 16,083
Loans from non-controlling shareholders M B~ Bl FEESI B ER E R
of subsidiaries 30 2,931 14,290
Bank borrowings — due within one year IRITRER——FERNFE 31 56,953
Lease liabilities HEaE 32 11,933 13,095
Tax payables FE(THRIE 7,121 4,653
498,086 257,788
Net current assets MENEERE 370,998 875,438
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERTEER 1,792,449 1,886,963
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
iRa MBI

Asat 31 December 2023 HE_ET_=HF+_FB=+—HILEFE

2023 2022
- —2——
HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#&T FHET
Capital and Reserves A R (it
Share capital [N 34 32,076 32,076
Reserves ] 35 1,411,447 1,524,255
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ ANA B ERFE AEGHER 1,443,523 1,556,331
Non-controlling interests FEFEHI R 250,266 253,896
Total equity g 1,693,789 1,810,227
Non-current liabilities JERENEE
Bank borrowings — due after one year RITIER——F B EIH 31 = =
Lease liabilities HEaE 32 36,719 46,374
Deferred tax liabilities FERIBEEE 36 57,987 27,262
Net defined benefits liabilities EEREA B EPEE 38 3,954 3,100
98,660 76,736
1,792,449 1,886,963

The consolidated financial statements on pages 117 to 233 were approved and &R F117E2BENGEEMHEREIN _S_ME=
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 March 2024 and are signed B+ HEZEEZS#{EKRIZETZ > WH T AL

on its behalf by: RREFEFHE !
Ma Chenshan Liu Huaming

BRW e

Director Director

EE BZE

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial ~ BEMiMIzE BZ LR EHMEREZ—H D
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
MAEmEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H#EZZE_=F+_"_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

P INGE SN A
Share Non-
Share option  Translation Statutory Merger Other  Accumulated controlling
capital i reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests
BkE Fl2207]3
1] ERfHE R AffHE Rtk E it i34
H 0 HK
Asat 1 January 2022 RIEZZE-F-H 32076 2215710 29828* 122,755% 35949* (203631)* (27843 (455,694)* 1,809,150 332452 2,141,602
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - - (112474) (112474) (59267) (171,741)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ERE M2 EIRE / (8538)
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans EEENHEHENGE - - - - - - - 2171 27 836 3007
Exchange difference arising from BERINEBELL
translation of foreign operations ERER - - - (142516) - - - - (142516) (20125) (162641)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FR2EHELE - - - (142516) - - - (110303) (252819) (78556) (331375)
Lapse of share option BRELY = = (4333) = = = = 4333 = = =

Asat31 December 2022and 1 January 203~ B ZF

+ZA=1+-Ak

“Z-=-%-B-H 32076 2215710 25495 (19761)% 35,949* (203631)* (27843 (561,664)* 1556331 2538% 1810227
Loss forthe year FRSE - - - - - - - (82,255) (82,255) (40,689)  (122944)
Other comprehensive loss for the year FREMPESR
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans TREA BN E - - - - - - - (653) (653) (450) (1,103)
Exchange difference arising from BEENEREEY

translation of foreign operations ERER - - - (29,900) - - - - (29,900) (1,375) (31,275)

Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEHELE - - - (29,900) - - - (82,908) (112,808) (42,514) (155,322)
Capital injection from non-controling interests  JEEEAIM & E - - - - - - - - - 45225 45,225
Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholder ~ FIFFERRARERRATAR S = = = = = = = = = (6,341) (6,341)
Lapse of share option BEREEN - - (1,181) - - - - 1,181 - - -
Asat 31 December 2023 RIZZ=%

+ZA=+-H 32,076 2,275,710% 24,314* (49,661)* 35,949* (203,631)* (27,83)% (643,391)* 1,443,523 250,266 1,693,789
2 The reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserve of HK$1,411,447,000 (2022:  * ZEREBEREERAMBUARARETAZEEHE

HK$1,524,255,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 141144700058 75 (Z T - Z 4 © 1,524,255,00077T) ©

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial ~ BB sE B AL Sz B M FERER 2 —2 7 °
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AR AER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZZT_=F+"A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—F_= ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHT FHET
Operating activities KRS
Loss before taxation FRIGAIES 18 (133,181) (141,079)
Adjustments for: FEEIFH
Bank interest income IRITHEUA 7 (4,967) (1,439)
Fair value loss of investment property KEMEEEEIHEE 8,16 266 =
Impairment loss of property, ME-E &
plant and equipment RERERE 14 2,107 91415
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets FRAEERESE 15 1,792 =
Impairment loss of intangible assets mILBERERE 18 46,345 =
Impairment loss of completed properties RERFEZET
held for sale MERERE 20 51,701 =
Impairment loss under expected credit loss FERREEBEERELT
model, net (reversed)/recognised (B[] FERR R ER12/FEE
~Trade receivables — B S EWER™ 8,43 (5,801) 454
— Other receivables —HAhpEWEIE 8,43 (66) 99
Impairment loss on inventories, net recognised B EEREREZRE 8,19 - 17
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME-BEREEITE 8,14 14,955 14,032
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEITE 8,15 13,204 12,220
Amortisation of intangible assets m B ERHE 8,18 7,737 836
Net loss on disposal of property, HEME  BEM&E
plant and equipment 518735 8 - 15417
Write-off of property, plant and equipment WEE 2~ BB B e 18 8 6,522 =
Gain on termination of lease contract BRIFFAEEHN 2 W= 8 (504) =
Finance costs AR AR 10 5,550 5,945
Operating cash flows before movements REtEERELEIAZ
in working capital RERETRE 5,660 (2,083)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL, (G 8,131 (14,562)
Decrease in completed properties held for sale FEFEBIWERLD 42,081 236,440
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables B SRR (g ) R (40,452) 1,791
Decrease in prepayments, deposits ENRE -BENEER
paid and other receivables HhpEusrIEm L 134,815 40,528
Decrease in contract costs BRI AR LD 2,849 1,754
Decrease in trade payables B 5 T BR TR (7,977) (24,480)
Decrease in accruals and other payables FEST & FA B ELfih g 7R IR (75,038) (44,062)
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities SHEE (R /Em (23,610) 11,787
(Decrease)/increase in amounts P& RRE 5 =RIE
due to related parties GRiZL) 1800 (19,028) 7,980
Decrease in net defined benefits liabilities ERREF B EERER D (190) (764)
Cash generated from operations REXBRR{ZRE 27,241 214329
Income tax paid B ER (15,755) (95,016)
Net cash generated from REEBRFZ
operating activities HE/F%E 11,486 119313
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZE

—m—=

— =

2023
—=— =

—_—<——

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER

F+A=+—HILEE

2022
—=——

— =

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BosE TFHT FHET
Investing activities KEES
Bank interest received BURERITH] 2 7 4,967 1,439
Purchase of property, plant and equipment EEVE -BEREE 14 (13,130) (11,448)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BEMREMER
equipment - 24,568
Purchase of intangible assets EERTEE 18 (170) (772)
Net cash outflow on an acquisition W B AR EE 2
of a subsidiary RE M PR 42 (379,853) =
Net cash (used in)/generated & & (FrA) Frig
from investing activities ZIREIP%E (388,186) 13,787
Financing activities REEE
Interest paid BENFE (5,522) (5,827)
Repayments of principal portion of lease liabilities B2l E B BRI H (13,991) (8,368)
New bank borrowings raised MIGIRITE™R 112,869 =
Repayments of bank borrowings BERIRTTER (55,479) (60,290)
Advances from immediate holding company HEBZER AT RN - 4,366
Repayments to non-controlling shareholders of 1B B A B FFIZAR IR FNIE
subsidiaries (11,267) (87,472)
Repayments to immediate holding company B EEFZERABER - (6,307)
Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders BIEERE RIS (6,341) =
Net cash generated from/(used in) R EEFRS (FRR)
financing activities ZIREIP%E 20,269 (163,898)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents HERAEEEER R L IFEE (356,431) (30,798)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FURERAEEHEER
of the year 554,705 627,060
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of 1B IRSEFRTRIINEZ
cash held in foreign currency EXEEF TR 3,471 (41,557)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of theyear FRIFEKRIRELLEIER 201,745 554,705
Analysis of the balances of cash and cash RERREEHEB/ BRI
equivalents
Bank balances and cash IRITHE R RIRE 25 201,745 554,705
BEMII N ZE R M B RKxZ —HB Do

The accompanying notes are an integral pargrofstiie cangplidgated financiel £ E 2023

statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R 75 AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZT-_=F+_"_HA=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in Bermuda with
limited liability and its issued shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its immediate parent is Macro-
Link International Land Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong,
and its ultimate parent is Cheung Shek Investment Limited, a company
incorporated in The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The address of the Company’s registered office is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of its subsidiaries are (i) development and operation of
integrated resort and cultural tourism in South Korea; (i) development
and operation of real estate in Australia; (iii) production and distribution of
wine in the PRC; (iv) operation of entertainment business in South Korea;

and (v) provision of property management service in the PRC.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar
("HKS"), which is also the functional currency of the Company and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand (HKS$'000) except otherwise
indicated.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
revised to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to Insurance Contracts
HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to
HKAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
Amendments to International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
HKAS 12
Amendments to HKAS 1

model Rules
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Except as described below, the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosure set
out in these consolidated financial statements.

1.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR o MR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements is amended to replace
all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information’. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may
be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not
all accounting policy information relating to material transactions, other
events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information must not
obscure material accounting policy information.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on
the Group's financial positions and performance but has affected the
disclosure of the Group's accounting policies set out in Note 3.2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 8
Definition of Accounting Estimates

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
year. The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty. In such a case, an entity develops an accounting estimate to
achieve the objective set out by the accounting policy. The amendments
to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in accounting
estimates, and changes in accounting policies and the correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR o MR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-Current?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 7 and

HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements?

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

: Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of these new and
amendments to HKFRSs, which are not yet effective, will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current” and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on
the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-current,
which:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR o MR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current” and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s
own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation.

specify that the classification of liabilities as current or noncurrent
should be based on rights that are in existence at the end of the
reporting period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that the
classification should not be affected by management intentions or
expectations to settle the liability within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date which are conditional on the compliance with covenants, the
requirements introduced by the 2020 Amendments have been modified
by the 2022 Amendments. The 2022 Amendments specify that only
covenants with which an entity is required to comply with on or before
the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement
of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date. Covenants
which are required to comply with only after the reporting period do not
affect whether that right exists at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure requirements
about information that enables users of financial statements to
understand the risk that the liabilities could become repayable within
twelve months after the reporting period, if an entity classifies liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right to
defer settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity complying with
covenants within twelve months after the reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of applying the
2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with the 2020
Amendments, are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024, with early application permitted. If an entity applies
the 2020 Amendments for an earlier period after the issue of the 2022
Amendments, the entity should also apply the 2022 Amendments for that
period.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2023, the
application of the 2020 Amendments will not result in reclassification of
the Group’s liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FEMBHRRZEVUEBEREKX
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL EEHERER

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for investment property, which are
measured at fair value.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment’, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or
value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets'"

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and from the date
the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group's equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of business are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an
asset and a liability in the “Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements"

3.

D
id

ms

IE)

A
|

=
=]

MR ZEHUBEEREKX
BEEE @

32 BEXEHHEREN ®

HEERE®)

RUER AEEEBEHBADZH
BRE > WEHRAEBFTRAZ B
HE— o

ERAEERERRZERZZHA
EBRANABBEERER #m U
AMAXERBEERENGERFEHY

BEFY B A B R IRIE AR B AR S [ Y
ERNEEOREY RAREHEEE
Bmi T RA AN BERIZLL
DERENB AR FEE-

EEEH

WEEEBRBRBEAR - EBaHZ
BEABULABESE MstEHZE
HAEEMMBEZEE AEERRI
BrREBANEEZEERAERR
R BT 2RI ST 2 B
REEEZ A ABEZEN - AR
ZA—RRNELER KR PR -

PRE THESDE RSN PR E Z AT B &
ERMAEZEBLATE RERE
IMBBRRZERI ZEERERZE

FHo

NEW SILKROAD CULTURALTAINMENT LIMITED 4 ANNUAL REPORT 2023



3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes"
and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits" respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree
are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based
Payment” at the acquisition date;

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS
16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets
are recognised and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with
market terms.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after reassessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.
The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis.

Business combinations involving entities under common control
are accounted for by applying the pooling of interest method. The
assets and liabilities of the combining entities are reflected at their
carrying amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements
of the controlling holding company. Any difference between the
consideration paid and the share capital of the “acquired” entity is
reflected within equity as merger reserve. The statements of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income reflects the results of
the combining entities for the full year, irrespective of when the
combination takes place. Comparatives are presented as if the
entities have always been combined since the date the entities had
come under common control.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ﬁﬁAggg ZIRBEERELA

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL = %q' *t (%)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 32 BEAEHEREN @
Goodwill (Continued) (SR

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (“CGU") (or groups
of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on
an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less
than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On the disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the
group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a
CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of
is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or
the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the groups of
CGUs) retained.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, that is, when “‘control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good and service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met.

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the Group
performs;

- the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

- the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Contract costs
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (for example, sales commissions)
as an asset if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so
recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer
of the goods or services to which the assets relate.

Sale of completed properties

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the asset is
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of
the asset may be transferred over time or at a point in time. If
properties have no alternative use to the Group contractually
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment from the
customers for performance completed to date, the Group satisfies
the performance obligation over time and therefore, recognises
revenue over time in accordance with the input method for
measuring progress. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point
in time when the customer obtains control of the completed

property.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on the Group’s efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of the performance obligation, by reference to
the contract costs incurred up to the end of reporting period as a
percentage of total estimated costs for each contract.

For property development and sales contract for which the
control of the property is transferred at a point in time, revenue is
recognised when the customer obtains the physical possession
or the legal title of the completed property and the Group has
present right to payment and the collection of the consideration is
probable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HEZZE-_=F+"A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Entertainment revenue

Entertainment revenue represents the aggregate net difference
between wins and losses and is recognised in profit or loss when
the amounts are received or paid out. There may be a difference
between the timing of cash receipts from customers and the
recognition of revenue, resulting in a contract or contract-related
liability. The Group's outstanding liabilities under entertainment
business, are generally expected to be recognised as revenue or
refunded within one year of being purchased, earned or deposited
and are recorded within “accruals and other payables” in the
consolidated statement of financial position. Commission paid to
promoters is recorded as a reduction to entertainment revenue.

Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer accepts and takes the
control of the products. Revenue represented the sales value of
goods sold less returns, discounts, rebates and value-added tax.

Service fee for property management

Revenue from provision of property management services is
recognised in the accounting period in which the services are
rendered. Revenues recognised over time when the Group
transfers control of the services over time, based on the actual
service provided to the end of the reporting period as a proportion
of the total services to be provided, because the customer receives
and consumes the benefits simultaneously.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any identified impairment losses.

The cost of buildings is depreciated using straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives of fifty years or, where shorter, the
period of the relevant leases on which the buildings stand.

Construction in progress includes properties in the course of
construction for production, supply or administrative purposes
and are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost
includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting policy.
Such properties are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
their intended use. No depreciation is provided for these assets
which still under construction. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Freehold land, including golf land, is stated at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the allocation
of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold
land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated
statement of financial position. When the consideration cannot
be allocated reliably between non-lease building element and
undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HEZZE-_=F+"A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than construction in progress and freehold land) less
their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line
method, at the following rates per annum:

3.33%
20% or over the period of the relevant

Hotel properties

Leasehold improvements
lease

Plant and buildings over the period of the relevant lease

10%-25%

109%-50%

10%-25%

10%-33%

Facilities appliances 20%

Machinery

Office equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are property held either to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation or for both, but not held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All reqular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit— impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses
("ECL") on financial assets which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9 (including trade receivables, deposit paid, other
receivables, short-term loan receivables and cash and cash
equivalents). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
Assessments are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(0]

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the end of the reporting period with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument's external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, for example, a significant increase in the
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(0]

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 90 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iif)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(0 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over three years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FEMBHRRZEBVUEBEREKX
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL FHHHERER @

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

32 BEAGFEBREN @

Financial instruments (Continued) ERITE #@)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (1)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) TRHEERE @

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (that is, the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability— weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.
The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as forward
looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit- impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables, other
receivables and short-term loan receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the
Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred
financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HEZZE-_=F+"A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables,
amounts due to related parties, loans from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries, bank borrowings, lease liabilities
and loan from immediate holding company are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of inventories is determined on a weighted average basis
and comprises materials, direct labour and an appropriate portion
of production overheads. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to sale proceeds received after the year end date less
selling expenses, or by management estimates based on prevailing
market condition.

Costs of completed properties include acquisition costs,
development expenditure, interest and other direct costs
attributable to such properties. The carrying values of properties
held by subsidiaries are adjusted in the consolidated financial
statements to reflect the Group’s actual acquisition costs where
appropriate.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit/(loss) before taxation”as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary differences arise from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary differences arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
‘Income Taxes” requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition
and over the lease terms due to application of the initial
recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional
currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non- monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (that is,
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Employee benefits
) Retirement benefits costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered services entitling them to the contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of
providing benefits is determined using the projected unit
credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at
the end of each annual reporting period. Remeasurement,
comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the
changes to the asset ceiling (if applicable) and the return
on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected immediately
in the consolidated statement of financial position with
a charge or credit recognised in other comprehensive
income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement
recognised in other comprehensive income is reflected
immediately in accumulated losses and will not be
reclassified to profit or loss. Past service cost is recognised in
profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest
is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning
of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset.
Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

service cost (including current service costs,
past service costs, as well as gains and losses on
curtailment and settlements);
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

()

(ii)

(ii})

Retirement benefits costs (Continued)

net interest expense or income; and
remeasurement

The Group presents the first two components of defined
benefit costs in profit or loss in the line item ‘employee
benefits expense”. Curtailment gains and losses are
accounted for as past service costs.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position represents the
actual deficit or surplus in the Group's defined benefit plan.
Any surplus result from this calculation is limited to the
present value of any economic benefits available in the form
of refunds from the plan or reduction in future contribution
to the plan.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of the
termination benefit and when the entity recognises any
related restructuring costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick
leave in the period the related service is rendered at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value of the
estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the
Group in respect of services provided by employees up to
the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HEZZE-_=F+"A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FEMBHRRZEBVUEBEREKX
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL FHHHERER @
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

32 BEAGFEBREN @

Employee benefits (Continued)
(iv)  Share-based payment arrangements
Share-based payment transactions of the Company

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
services received is determined by reference to the fair
value of share options granted at the date of grant and is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in share option reserve.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share option reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant,
the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to accumulated losses.

Intangible assets
Farmland development

Farmland development represents deferred expenditures including
farmland expenditures and cost for preparation works. Farmland
development has been capitalised as assets where the costs are
identifiable and the ability to use the asset will generate probable
future economic benefits.

Farmland development are amortised over the period in which
the related benefits are expected to be realised. Farmland
development is reviewed annually to determine the amount, if
any, that is no longer recoverable and any such amount is written
off to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year of
determination.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Intangible assets (Continued)
Trademarks

Trademarks acquired in business combinations are recognised
separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at fair value at
the acquisition date which is regarded as their cost.

Subsequent to initial recognition, trademarks with definite useful
lives and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
impairment loss. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives.

Subsequent to initial recognition, trademarks with indefinite useful
lives are not amortised but are tested for impairment annually,
and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired, by
comparing their carrying amounts with their recoverable amounts.

Technical know-how

Technical know-how is recognised only if it is anticipated that the
technical know-how incurred on a clear-defined project will be
recovered through future commercial activity. The resultant asset is
amortised on a straight line basis over its useful life of 5 years.

Entertainment licence

Entertainment licence has no foreseeable limit to the period
over which the Group can use to generate net cash flows.
Entertainment licence with indefinite useful lives is carried at cost
less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at
their fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, being their fair value at the date of the revaluation less
subsequent accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately. Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, contract costs and intangible assets
other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets with finite useful lives and contract costs to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet
available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, intangible assets and contract costs are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated
to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets
capitalised as contract costs under HKFRS 15, the Group assesses
and recognises any impairment loss on other assets related to
the relevant contracts in accordance with applicable standards.
Then, impairment loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract
costs is recognised to the extent the carrying amounts exceeds
the remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects
to receive in exchange for related goods or services less the costs
which relate directly to providing those goods or services that
have not been recognised as expenses. The assets capitalised as
contract costs are then included in the carrying amount of the CGU
to which they belong for the purpose of evaluating impairment of
that CGU.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, contract costs and intangible assets
other than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares
the carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying
amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount
of the group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated
to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or
the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks.

BE_Z_=—F+_A=1+—HLFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is
that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred revenue in the
consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives
of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other unexpected
events that give rise to the possibility of an inflow of economic
benefits to the Group and they are not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. The Group assesses continually
the development of contingent assets. If it has become virtually
certain that an inflow of economic benefits will arise, the Group
recognises the asset and the related income in the consolidated
financial statements in the reporting period in which the change
occurs.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation, the
part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other parties
is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits has become probable.
If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic
benefits will be required for an item previously dealt with as a
contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the consolidated
financial statements in the reporting period in which the change
in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances
where no reliable estimate can be made.

3.

D
id

ms

I8

BMBRRZGREEREKX

=
=]

BEEE @

32 BEAGFEBREN @

HARBRIAEE

HREE

E 5t Bl LIS S E M FRHA LASN 2 F 1 PR
EE PJEERAEREENDTRAZ
FARBE > WANEGRE B RRFES o
FEBEFE T EAREEZER HH
FEESAGENDZARA  AEEER
BESE REABM GV HTRE
FEEDE E RARRIA ©

HAEE
HREBRIEBEFEMELEZRAEES
F R SEEBER N SR EENER
BERUENEEMA TR -

MAERERARENEHREESEE
BoRHAEMALTREERZEDEE
TR A—ERAEE REEHHRE
RARFHES

FEEFENERAREBEUETS

RENZNERRHESERA A B
HEREREM—HEERMERIAE
BREZTEE ARG ER > AR
FIEHIREH T RERAZMHFEH N
REE EEETEMFRTEERAT
B 2R A i R AR TR PR B S o

NEW SILKROAD CULTURALTAINMENT LIMITED 4 ANNUAL REPORT 2023



3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR o MR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 “Lease”
at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed. As a practical
expedient, leases with similar characteristics are accounted on
a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably expects that the
effects on the consolidated financial statements would not differ
materially from individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of office premises that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-
value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. REMBBRRZGREEREKX
B BREN @

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

32 BEAGFEBREN @

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

HE @)
KEFFSEBEN (B)
ERREE
EREEENMAEE !

HEEENYTAHESE;

REB AP ZAFEHNEEN
RS ERE WS ;

AEFEENEAZIEER
ZINMYSS

AEERFHRBFEBEE
BIRPREE Tt SR BB & 2 AR K
RA R E RS R E E R RE (G
ST ELE BRI A o

EREEERMAREMNRATER
WEBEFE THEEaENENE
HMEtEFHAR-

FEESERENEARERRGER
A EEENERAREERFBEYA
HEEBAERERIRTE -SRI
ERAREECREREZMGLEER
FHEMBIR Y MBS RITE -

FEERGEMBRRIEFREH#E
BEZ2YR—EEHES -

FIREIEEEE
ENTROEEZEHREBEEBME
REEFOEAR LT IZARE
BEFfE- BT EDRAABEFLLE
BISWRAEIMAERIE 25t A
BEERMAETS -

NEW SILKROAD CULTURALTAINMENT LIMITED 4 ANNUAL REPORT 2023



3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of— use
asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group's
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's various
lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group that

is preparing its financial statements as follows:

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is

related to the Group if that person:

(if)

(iif)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of the Group’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(vi)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
the group of which the other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third party;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group s itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

3.

4.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the group or the parent of the Group.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or
obligations between the Group and a related party, regardless of
whether a price is charged.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
person in their dealings with the entity.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described
in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HEZZE-_=F+"A=+—HIFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

(a)

Impairment of intangible assets with indefinite useful

life

Determining whether intangible assets with indefinite useful life
are impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount
of the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which intangible assets with
indefinite useful life has been allocated, which is the higher of
the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the CGU (or a group of CGUs) and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, or change in
facts and circumstances which results in downward revision of
future cash flows or upward revision of discount rate, a material
impairment loss or further impairment loss may arise.

The carrying amount of intangible assets with indefinite
useful life as at 31 December 2023 was HK$145,613,000 (2022:
HK$143,852,000). Details of the impairment test of entertainment
licence with indefinite useful life are set out in note 18.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets with
finite useful lives and contract costs

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible
assets with finite useful lives and contract costs are stated at
costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any.
In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may
affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of
value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and
(3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of- use
assets), the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to
which the assets belong. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used in
the impairment test.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets with finite
useful lives and contract costs are HK$742,604,000, HK$47,902,000,
HK$97,632,000 and HK$755,000 (2022: HK$762,160,000,
HK$59,686,000, HK$3,008,000 and HK$3,643,000), respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

(9

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired are
assessed for ECL individually. In addition, the Group uses practical
expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables which are not
assessed individually using a provision matrix. The provision rates
are based on aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors
taking into consideration the Group's historical default rates and
forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered. The provision of ECL
is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL
and the Group's trade receivables are disclosed in note 43.2.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In accordance with HKAS 16, the Group estimates the useful
lives of property, plant and equipment in order to determine the
amount of depreciation expenses to be recorded. The useful lives
are estimated at the time the asset is acquired based on historical
experience, the expected usage, wear and tear of the assets, as
well as technical obsolescence arising from changes in the market
demands or service output of the assets. The Group also performs
annual reviews on whether the assumptions made on useful lives
continue to be valid.

Useful lives of intangible assets

Intangible assets except for those with indefinite lives are
amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives.
The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of the assets regularly
in order to determine the amount of amortisation expenses to be
recorded during any reporting period. The useful lives are based
on the Group’s historical experience with similar assets and taking
into account anticipated technological changes. The amortisation
expenses for future periods are adjusted prospectively if there are
significant changes from previous estimates.

Determination on incremental borrowing rates of
lease contracts

In determining incremental borrowing rates of lease contracts, the
Group applies judgment to determine the applicable rates, taking
into account the nature of the underlying assets and the terms and
condition of the leases at both the commencement date and the
effective date of the modification to calculate the present value
of lease payments. The incremental borrowing rates of the Group
applied significantly affect the amounts of lease liabilities and right-
of-use assets recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HEZZE-_=F+"A=+—HIFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

(9

Write-down of inventories

If the costs of inventories fall below their net realisable values,
write-down of inventories is recognised. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale. The Group bases the estimates
on all available information, including the current market prices
of the finished goods and raw materials, and historical operating
costs. If the actual selling prices were to be lower or the costs of
completion and other distribution costs were to be higher than
estimated, the write-down of inventories could be higher than
estimated.

Deferred tax asset

As at 31 December 2023, no deferred tax asset has been
recognised on the tax losses of HK$318,530,000 (2022:
HK$273,848,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where the actual
future taxable profits generated are less or more than expected, or
change in facts and circumstances which result in revision of future
taxable profits estimation, a material reversal or further recognition
of deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised in
profit or loss for the period in which such a reversal or further
recognition takes place.

Impairment of completed properties held for sale

Management assessed the recoverability of the completed
properties held for sale based on an estimation of the net realisable
value of the underlying properties which involves, inter-alia,
considerable analysis of current market price of properties of a
comparable standard and location. If the actual net realisable value
of the underlying properties are less than expected as a result
of change in market condition and/or significant variation in the
budgeted development costs, material provision for impairment
losses may result.

No impairment loss for the completed properties held for sale
was recognised in the profit or loss of the Group in respect of the
current year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

)

Fair value measurement

The Group's leased office investment properties are initially
measured at cost, and subsequently are carried at fair value.
Changes in fair value are recorded in profit or loss. The Group
engages independent valuer to determine the fair value of the
Group's investment properties at the end of every financial year.
The valuation of the Group's investment properties is derived
by making reference to recent comparable sales transactions
available in the relevant property market ("“Market Approach”). In
determining the methodology for the measurement of the fair
value of investment properties, the directors are of the opinion that
Market Approach has less unobservable inputs.

The valuations were dependent on certain key assumptions that
require significant management judgement, including market
selling price.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a fair value loss of
approximately HK$266,000 was recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss. Further information about the valuation
of investment properties is provided in note 16.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HEZZE-_=F+"A=+—HIFE

REVENUE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from contracts with customers for the
year is as follows:

Wi &
FAFERKEEF Z2ER AR DU
L

2023 2022
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers REBEFREHNZINE
Sale of completed properties HE S T 43,632 285,753
Production and distribution of wine FERDIHEE B 86,715 83,699
Provision of property management services TET#\%¥§EEHE§% 337,656 -
Entertainment revenue YR s 2% 1,178 -
Total revenue recognised B 469,181 369,452
Revenue from contracts with customers RBEEF A.*‘\'lelﬂlﬁ*ﬁ
Disaggregated revenue information for the HEZZS_-_FRIZITHF
year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 +TZA=+—HLFEZ
SRR ER
Timing of revenue recognition 1y 2o e 20 2 P
Goods transferred at a point in time R & MR > R 131,525 369,452
Services transferred overtime IRFEMERSR &% 337,656 -
469,181 369,452
Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from contracts R REHARTFECRRENMELEZE
with customers in existence at the end of the reporting period: i
Sale of completed properties HEBETYE

The Group had no sale of properties which remained not completed as at
31 December 2022 and 2023.

Production and distribution of wine

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of HKFRS
15 to its contract for production and distribution of wine such that the
Group does not disclose information about revenue that the Group will be
entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance obligations under
the contract for production and distribution of wine that had an original
expected duration of one year or less.

Service fee for property management

Revenue relating to the properties management services is recognised
over time. Advance consideration allocated to the properties
management services is recognised as a contract liability and is released
over the period of services.

AERUTERLER _S_=FR_ZT__F
TTA=+T—HHREIHNYE-

TERDHEEE

FEECREBUBREERF155F 121K
':F'E’J—Hﬂ&ﬁz.aﬂfg}ﬁﬁfﬂi%&ﬁﬁﬂi@
NEH REAERREREEN W EREK
FAstHIR A —FE U TNEERDFALBES
,\\’JIETEV%T%M’JTEH%E&‘ By BY B o

MEEEREE

AEREERBNESMERRYZEEER
HRBENWA - DEAYEEERBHIEAR
RIER RS ENEE LERGHBERER -

MAE XK AR S FERS 2023

167



168

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR o MR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

In accordance with the Group's internal financial reporting framework,
the Group has identified operating segments based on its products and
services. The operating segments are identified by senior management
who is designated as “Chief Operating Decision Maker"to make decisions
about resource allocation to the segments and assess their performance.

The Group has three reportable segments, namely (i) development
and operation of real estate, integrated resort and cultural tourism; (ii)
production and distribution of wine; (i) entertainment business; and (iv)
property management business. The segmentations are based on the
business nature of the Group's operations that management uses to make
decisions.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by

reportable segments for the current and prior years:

6.

SEER

BEAEERBUBRERE ~EEBZE

EmMRBEEEENB - KENBHRIEES
EEEERRE I ZSMEERBEE » WIR
ENMZERDE K MEKIR -

FEBE=ZE2|RDE DB 0)FHERE
ERME R ERN R SUEREE ; (VEER
DHBEE (INIREEET , RIVIPEEEE
H-BEEEUAEEREECEGMHEREAR
B &R ©

DB R R AR

TR EFERBEFELERZRDH
Z W R EE DT

Real estate,
integrated resort and Entertainment Property
cultural tourism business management
EHE
REEBRNKR
HWEESR MRER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET THET THET
SEGMENT REVENUE HEblE
Revenue from external customers  SMNBE A WiE 43,632 285753 86,715 83,699 1,178 - 337,656 - 469,181 369,452
Segment (loss)/profit A8 &R 7 (86972)  (113,728) (326) (3015  (65355)  (11880) 40,507 - (M2146) (128623)
Unallocated corporate income RAEARMA 695 3063
Unallocated corporate expenses R ABATIZH (16,180) (95574)
Finance costs B (5,550) (5945)
Loss before taxation BRIRAIESE (133,181) (141,079

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from
external customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the year.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as
the Group's accounting policies. Revenue and expenses are allocated
to the reportable segments with reference to sales generated and the
expenses incurred by these segments or which otherwise arose from the
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to these segments.
Segment results represented the loss incurred or profit earned by each
segment without allocation of central administration expenses and
income including directors’ emoluments, government grant, other
income and finance costs. This is the measure reported to the Chief
Operating Decision Maker for the purpose of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance.

FHRERZ HEWERBIEEL W@ F
PO 5 ) B el 2 SH S o

ERDBZEABRETERE RN
B lm kA& AZRDBFHSZIHE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HEZZE-_=F+"A=+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. TEPEH w

Segment assets and liabilities NEHEERER

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by TREIFSEEES2RDBZEERERED
reportable segments: #r

31 December 2023 —E_=HF+"H=+—H

Real estate,

integrated
resort and
cultural Entertainment Property
tourism Wine business management
Bz
RAERN
RSB it AEBE IRELETS MEERE 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FTET FTET FHET
Segment assets NBEE 966,159 446,199 114,093 731,158 2,257,609
Unallocated i 32,926
Consolidated total assets REBERE 2,290,535
Segment liabilities NHBEE 4,869 246,490 61,071 277,803 590,233
Unallocated i 6,513
Consolidated total liabilities ooy =N R 596,746
31 December 2022 _E__F+_-_HA=+—H
Real estate,
integrated
resort and
cultural Entertainment Property
tourism i business management
P 3 2E
RAERN
KX AGhicis BERE RELZETS MEERE A5t
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FHET THET FET FET FET
Segment assets DNEEE 1,404,778 442,438 176,176 = 2023392
Unallocated Py 121,359
Consolidated total assets REBEERE 2,144,751
Segment liabilities Pan: =N 28,061 235457 66,209 = 329,727
Unallocated Py 4,797
Consolidated total liabilities REBERE 334,524
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEHEN @

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) NHEEREER @)

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating E‘jE BRI RAKRETDBZE D EEIRM

resources between segments: Bk
all assets are allocated to reportable segments except for certain . FMEEESREERD I HEUEREE
assets which are managed on a group basis; and TEEZATEERI &
all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments except for certain . FMEBESREERDE  HEUEREE
financial liabilities which are managed on a group basis. TEEzATEMEERI-

Other segment information HithoZE R

Real estate, integrated
resort and cultural
tourism Wine Entertainment business  Property management Unallocated

BiE GAERNK

WEER BREH NEER £l

HKS'000 HKS000  HKS00D 5 HKS000 HKS'000
TR T TER AT ‘ Tt TEz FEn ] TR

Amounts included in the measure of segment SANBER AR ENEE

profit or loss or segment asselts: FEZHB!
Additions to non-current assets (note) AEFRBEE () 215 5 2,980 5,049 9,227 6369 708 - - 25 13130 11,448
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Mg BERRERE 2,764 3529 6,347 9218 4,881 1,089 963 - - 19 14,955 14032
Depreciation of right-of-use assets fwt&ﬁé}ﬁ% 2,458 2559 2,715 3166 5,503 4187 - - 2,528 2308 13,204 12220
Amortisation of intangible assets - - 758 836 - - 6,979 - - - 7,731 836
Impairment loss on trade receivables recognised in -~ 1R = Lk
profit or loss, net HESE (BAE)
recognised/(reversal) - - 1177 454 - - (6,978) - - - (5,801) 454
Impairment loss on other receivable recognised in I8 ERER 2 HAtFERIE
profit or loss, net recognised)/(reversal) HERE (05EE) - - - 88 18 11 (84) - - - (66) 9
Impairment loss on property, W BERREAESE
plant and equipment - 91415 - - 2,107 - - - - - 2,107 91415
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FHREEAEESR = = = = 1,792 = = = = = 1,792 =
Impairment loss of intangible assets ERNEERERR - - - - 46345 - - - - - 46,345 -
Fair value loss of investment property RENEEEEGER - - - - - - 266 - - = 266 =
Amounts reqularly provided to the Chief Operating  EHEIZ ZARERE L1
Decision Marker but not included n the BFRHAANGHEZ LS
measure of segment profit or loss or segment HEESEZHE
assets:
Interest income FISHA (153) (660) (46) (65) (21) (14) (332) - (4,415) (000 (4,967) (1439)
Finance costs FIRHA 143 371 4,459 4652 749 680 65 - 134 242 5,550 5945
Income tax expense/(credit) FigiEx/ (E%) (10,357) 30365 (1,248) (288 (6,718) 585 8,086 - - - (10237) 30662
Note:  Non-current assets excluded those relating to discontinued operations and Wit ERBHEETORAMRLECEEBNEER
excluded goodwill, financial instruments and deferred tax assets. TEEFRE EMIAREEREBEESE-
: R — = N
Information about major customers EREERREN
Revenue from major customers which individually accounts for 10% or DAMEAREBWZI0%HI U LZFERTE K
more of the Group's revenue is as follows: =UF -
2023 2022
=F== S
HK$’000 HK$'000
TF#ET FHET
Revenue from real estate: B EMEENINE :
Revenue from Customer A BEPARTELE N = - 71,811
Revenue from Customer B B & FBPTE S MU - 47317
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.
Geographical information

The Group's operations are mainly located in the PRC (including Hong
Kong), South Korea and Australia.

The following is a geographical analysis of the Group’s revenue from
external customers (based on where the goods are sold and the services
are provided) and non-current assets (based on the geographical location
of the assets) for the current and prior years:

Revenue from external customers

DEBER @)

& &kl

AEBZEFTEUNPE (BEESH) &
B R R o

TR EFERBEFEFEEINLEZR
Wi (REE R E MR R MBI K&
FRBEE RBEEENFEMER) ZHED
#r

Non-current assets

SRR B I as FERBEE

2023 2022 2023 2022

—E”= —E”= =
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET FHET FET FHET
The PRC (including Hong Kong) HE (BIEER) 424,371 83,699 657,933 193,361
South Korea EL 1,178 - 735,180 809,895
Australia B 43,632 285,753 522 3,169
469,181 369,452 1,393,635 1,006,425

Note:  Non-current assets excluded those relating to deferred tax assets. Wit R EEABIEZERMELERIBEEE

OTHER REVENUE, GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HfttkA = KREE

pLiyk] 2022

2= ===
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FAT FAT
Government grants (note 33) BT #EE0 (B5E33) 5,730 11,991
Rental income HEWA 1,169 2,881
Bank interest income IRITHBURA 4,967 1439
Compensation income REWA = 2,820
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain ER (5518) W F 8 (237) 737
Write back of trade payable F& (T BR R Bl 6,003 =
Others HAth 2,408 2,331
20,040 22,199

MAE XK AR S FERS 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

8.

LOSS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 8.

REEFZ R

2023
==

HK$’000
TR

2022

HK$'000
TAT

Loss from operating activities has been arrived ST B518

at after charging/(crediting): Bk GEA) UTRIE !
Staff costs, including directors' emoluments BT (BIEEESE)

— Salaries and allowances —Fis KRR 56,035 35,206

— Retirement benefits scheme contributions —IRIRfEF ST EIERR 2,974 1,927
Total staff costs WE TR 59,009 37,133
Auditor’s remuneration Z BB &

— audit services —BIZRFE 1,800 1,300

— non-audit services —IEBIZARTS 1,225 240
Amortisation of intangible assets* mE R 7,737 836
Cost of completed properties sold HERTYEZ A 44,202 236,776
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses Rz FERA 46,544 37,979
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment &2 ~ BB K 58 6 I 25 28 - 15417
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME-BEREREBITE 14,955 14,032
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESEITE 13,204 12,220
Impairment loss on trade receivables, B 5 EUARRR (BE) R

net (reversed)/recognised AEBIRFEE (5,801) 454
Impairment loss on other receivables, HAhFEUWIE (BE) HER

net (reversed)/recognised AEBEEE (66) 99
Impairment loss on inventories, net recognised FER BRI EEFEE - 17
Gain on termination of lease contract KIFRESH 2 a (504) =
Fair value loss of investment property KREYEEEEEFER 266 =
Write-off of property, plant and equipment WEEY 2 ~ R B R ek 6,522 -
Research and development costs (included in PSR AR (GH ATTEUR EAh

administrative and other operating expenses) KRR 3,085 727

#

statement of profit or loss.

NEW SILKROAD CULTURALTAINMENT LIMITED 4 ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 9. EE-TTHHAEZKESME
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) FEERITHEZMNE
Directors' and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed REER EmRAREER KRG
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Hong Kong ENFANEERESTHRAEMNEW
Companies Ordinance, is as follows: T
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_Z_-—F+"RA=+—HILEE
Salaries, Retirement
allowance and Performance benefits scheme
Fees benefitsinkind  relatedbonus  contributions Total
e 2R BRAEF
e BUGEH  EMIERTEA BEGEA 183t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TERT TERT TERT TERT
Executive directors HiTES
Ma Chenshan EEW 120 - - - 120
Zhang Jian R 120 - - - 120
Hang Guangyu MEF 120 - - - 120
Liu Huaming 2= 120 - - - 120

Independent non-executive BuFRTES

directors
Ting Leung Huel, Stephen TRE 360 - - - 360
Tse Kwong Hon HEE 180 - - - 180
Cao Kuangyu i 180 - - - 180
1,200 - - - 1,200
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_Z-_"F+"_HA=+—HILEE
Salaries, Retirement
allowance and Performance  benefits scheme
Fees  benefits in kind related bonus contributions Total
e 2R BIRGER
ik BYMER  EWUERTEA STEHER ast
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FAET FTAT AT TART TAT
Executive directors HTES
Ma Chenshan ERU 120 = = - 120
Zhang Jian R 120 - - - 120
Hang Guangyu nEF 120 - - - 120
Liu Huaming Bz 120 = = = 120
Independent non-executive BuUFRTESR
directors
Ting Leung Huel, Stephen TRE 360 = = = 360
Tse Kwong Hon HEE 180 - - - 180
Cao Kuangyu ERT 180 - - - 180
1,200 - - - 1,200

MAE XK AR S FERS 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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9.

R 75 ¥Rk R Bt 51

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

DIRECTORS/, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group, while the independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year.

During the year, no amount was paid by the Group to any of
the directors and the chief executive, or any of the non-directors
and the non-chief executive, or highest paid employees as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office (2021: None).

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year did
not include any director (2022: Nil), details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 9(a) above. Details of the remuneration for
the year of the remaining 5 (2022: Five directors) highest paid
employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the

Company are as follows:

9.

EF - THHESKREEME @

(a)

EERITHAERME @
R TEENME RS E
BAANBDRAEBEHIERNREM
% M0 AR B 32 JE B 1T E 2 B
MBS HEERNATESZENR
HME Ao

FABEEFHATHBIHBRARE
R AIR AN 2 25k

RAEE REEBERTOESE KT
BAERNEAIEES  ETBRAERT
BEFMESSNIEASIEEMAL
MAAEBMAVEB BB HE (CF
——FIHo

EEM =

FREERLRERSHNESTERE
FRAEE (CT2F . F)  HileH
BN EXX5Ea) c FRHRRESR (&
T _F 1Y) ReHMES GERA
BEEHTEMEE) 2MEFBUT :

2023
—E-=
HK$'000 HKS'000
FAET FET
Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind e 2 REYEF 4,719 11421
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BIREH FT B HER 18 =
4,737 11,421
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 9. EF -THHEBREEMNE =
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employees’emoluments (Continued)

(b)

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the

following bands is as follows:

EEME @

MENFUTEBZESHMES GF
ERBEFR) ABUTF !

2023 2022

—E_= S
Number of Number of
employees employees
BE A EEAH
Nil to HK$1,000,000 T E1,000,0007 7T 3 =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 75 21,500,00078 75 2 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 2 2,000,00078 75 - -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,00178 75 22,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,00178 75 23,000,000/ 7T - -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,00178 75 23,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,00178 75 24,000,000/ 7T - -
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,00178 71 24,500,00078 75 - 1
5 5

10. FINANCE COSTS

10. MAFERE S

2023 2022
—E_= =

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Interest on bank borrowings IRITERFS 2,493 2437

Interest on loan from immediate holding company HEERABDERIE - 0

Interest on loans from non-controlling shareholders ~ FA B/ \ZER & F] B

of subsidiaries 28 28

Interest on lease liabilities HESEMNE 3,029 3,390
Total interest expenses on financial liabilities Wi FEFR A EFT AR IR 2 &7/

not at fair value through profit or loss BEPTH A S48 5,550 5,945

MAE XK AR S FERS 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

1. FR{Si (8 %) FX

11. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

pLipk] 2022
—EB-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Current tax: BNERTRIE !

PRC Enterprise Income Tax FRE TSR 14,636 80
Other jurisdictions Hiheli#E 5,153 13,016

(Over)/under-provision in prior years: EERME (B TR
PRC Enterprise Income Tax FRE k2 TSR (6,898) (254)
Other jurisdictions Hiheli#E - 17,348
Deferred tax (note 36) RIEFRIE (FI5E36) (23,128) 472
(10,237) 30,662

PEEERS

REBEPEEEMRERZE TREMSRED &
TEPRERIABRIFG > M E QB R W
BFEEHNRKGR25%

PRC Enterprise Income Tax

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Hh 5 &

BINHBAT (FOIEEBRTRE) ZRET
BB A SCE R A RENRTERR
5 o

Other jurisdictions

Taxation of overseas subsidiaries (other than Hong Kong and the PRC) are
calculated at the applicable rates prevailing in the jurisdictions in which
the subsidiary operates.

FRMAER (BR) XHERGEDERZ IR
MATREREERIDT ¢

The income tax (credit)/expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

176

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET

Loss before taxation FRIRRIES 1R (133,181) (141,079)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5% AU A TR 165%s1 E 2 1 1E

(2022: 16.5%) (CTEZ"F :165%) (21,975) (23,278)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in ~ FS ELth B A #E (& 45 & 2 75 2 (Y /28

other jurisdictions UNCIPENE =l -7 (5,939) (1,092)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KERRIBEBEBZNEE 23,786 1,978
Utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised B ABAEREE 2 RFEEE (1) =
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose ERBERRWMAZRBETE (12,303) (5157)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose ~ NEIRFSEA TR 2 INTEE 19,425 40,484
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised RERER T ERE R E (11,485) 633
(Over)/under-provision in prior years EFEBERE (1,745) 17,094
Income tax (credit)/expense for the year KREEFFE/MK (KR) S (10,237) 30,662
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HEZZE-_=F+"A=+—HIFE

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued) 11. FRG1R GBER) B @

The tax payable in the consolidated statement of financial position RixEMBRRRINEZ ELREBUT !
represented as follows:

pLiyk] 2022
—E°= EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
PRC FRE 6,993 903
Australia B - 3,639
South Korea =S 128 117
7,121 4,653
DIVIDEND 12. KR
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year EEgERITNANEBEEZ_=F+= ﬁ
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). =t+—HIEFEZAAKE (ZTZ2=Z
) o
LOSS PER SHARE 13. 8REE
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share are based on the BREAREEIEERUTEEE !

following data:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HKS$'000
T#ET TET
Loss for the year attributable to owners of FTEERENKREEEE
the Company for the purposes of basic and S PN/NEIEZ T =N
diluted loss per share FEEF AR (82,255) (112/474)

Number of shares

a2 4=

2023

Weighted average number of shares for the purposes s+ E SRR E AN K E k518

of basic and diluted loss per share RN RS (h 8 e 3,207,591,674 3,207,591,674
The computations of diluted loss per share for the years ended FREE S =_F+ZHA=1+—HBERZZ
31 December 2023 and 2022 do not include the adjustment in respect of T+ A=+ HLEFESKEESE
a dilution from share option as the exercise price of these share options I 2E8IEEMKEBRENESRE
was higher than the average market price of the shares for both years. MHEBREZITEEN SR RH I EANE
BRI HE -
The basic loss per share and diluted loss per share for the years ended BE_Z-_=F+"A=+—BrRZZEZZ
31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 were the same as there were F+ZA=+—HIEFEIRBTHSZE
no potential dilutive ordinary shares for both years. B HMmEEFENERER KB ENEERE
#HE[E o

MAE XK AR S FERS 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n\7r | Ej§&$ﬁ§ M-.I- DI

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. YE- -BERZE

Office ~ Furniture and Motor Facilities
properties improvements buildings ~ Machinery  equipment fixtures vehicles appllan(es
miﬂ%iiﬂl EE%# RERE E&E&&? 5 M"Eaxfﬁ FRREE e

) 00 HKS

Construction Hotel Leasehold Plantand
in progress Golf land

Cost [

At January 2022 R-B-—£-F-A 609204 190731 107,757 2797 110935 105128 8741 3764 7576 1474 1160927
Exchange reaignment EfEE (50189) (16:157) 9129) %) 949 (8899) (578) (69) (550) (90) 96348)
Transfer a5 (4541) - - - 2395 2146 - - - - -
Additions FE 8847 - - - 39 1651 m » 19 m 11448
Disposals HE (39569) - - - - (1,31) (1079) 29) (984) (10224) (53009)

At31 December 2022and 1 January 2023 RZB_ZE+-A=+-Hk
35 A-H

SB3172 174574 98629 2,701 104,167 98,895 7209 3497 6,236 3338 1023018
Exchange realignment (1.881) (2947 (1,669) (17) (1,761) (1,669) (184) 420 (103) () (10656)
Additions through acquisiton of a subsidiary W%ﬂﬁ@ 8 (f3ta)

(note 42) = = = = 8 = 1352 12633 308 = 14336
Transfer a5 (6653) - - - - n 144 i} - - (5%2)
Additions WE - - - - 109 2299 24 704 59 9206 13130
Disposals B (6421) = = = = (259) ) (603) (575) = (7903)
At31December 2023 RZBZ=%+ZA=+-H 508,817 171,627 96,964 2,684 102,558 99,589 8,690 16,035 6,464 12,535 1,025,963
Accumulated depreciation
At1 January 2022 = = 11966 2168 51554 91910 7910 3448 6628 11510 187,094
Exchange realignment (3159 - (1,125) ) (4s11) (7.744) (513) (49 (486) (821) (18679)
Provide for the year = = 3233 298 4156 4656 462 52 504 671 14032
Impairment loss recognised 91415 - - - - - - - = = 9145
Eliminated on disposals - - - - - (936) (1,042) (29) (954) (10047) (13,004)
At31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023

88256 = 14074 2395 51,199 87886 6817 3226 5692 1313 260858
Exchange realignment EREE (657) - (257) (16) (901) (1460) (169) (318 (90) 18 (3850)
Additions thiough acquisition of a subsidiary INEEHBAT (H34)

(note 42) = = = = 2 = 1102 9229 297 = 10670
Provide for the year EREE - - 2574 26 439 1468 21 95 ) 4787 14955
Impairment loss recognised RESE - - - - - - - - - 2107 2107
Fiminated on disposals HEMESH - - - - - o) (44) (569 (557) - (1381)
At31December 2023 RZB-Z%+-R=t+-A 87,599 - 16,391 2,645 54,732 87,683 7967 12,553 5,564 8,225 283,359
Carrying amount S
At31December 2023 RZB-Z%+-R=t+-A 21,218 171,627 80,573 39 47,826 11,906 3 3482 900 4310 742,604
At31 December 2022 RZBZZE+ZF=1-H 435516 174574 84555 306 52,968 11,009 392 m S44 2025 762,160
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The construction in progress represents the costs incurred for a
development property project in Jeju District, South Korea held by a
subsidiary, Macrolink Glorious Hill Co,, Ltd. (“Glorious Hill"), a subsidiary of
the Company, which comprises cost of land acquired and development
expenditure incurred. On 31 August 2021, the Jeju District court, South
Korea judged that Glorious Hill had not fulfilled the requirements
in relation to the property project development, accordingly, the
development project was suspended. During the year ended 31
December 2023, Management had conducted impairment assessment of
the development project and based on the valuation of fair value of the
underlying land relating to the project, no impairment loss of construction
in progress was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: HK$91,415,000) as the estimated fair value of the land was higher
than the carrying amount of the project, comprising the land cost and
development expenditure incurred.

EETRAKRQTENBA B H IR
FrREglagdt (MALT) FENREE
EMEEYEBEESRENMA HRaEL
UK A MEEIH RS- —F/\H
=+—H EmEAMNE AR B4 LH
EANGYEEERENER 2MAEIEE
AtEE - #EZz_E_=#+_-_8F=+—H
JJ:’%EEE';%TE%?’*IEEL/_W@%Wﬁ’ﬁu
HIBEERAN T A ABEGELER R
ATE_—F+"HA=+—HIEEERE®E
BIRZBERE(CZITITF 9141500058
7T AR AZEBEENAAEBESHRIEENIR
EHfE SEEEEN T HAAMBEES T &K
EHE T MBI EEK
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HEZZE-_=F+"A=+—HIFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the directors performed
impairment assessment on the Group's entertainment business. The
recoverable amount of this unit has been determined based on a value
in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year
period (2022: five-year), and discount rate of 13% (2022: 15%). The cash
flows beyond the five-year period (2022: five-year) are extrapolated
using a steady 2% growth rate (2022: 2%). The growth rate used are
based on the estimated growth rate of the CGU taking into account
the past performance and management expectation of future business
performance and prospect of the CGU. Other key assumptions for the
value in use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows
which include budgeted sales and gross margin, such estimation is based
on the past performance and management's expectations for the market
development. The cash flow projections, growth rates and discount rate
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 have been reassessed taking into
consideration higher degree of estimation uncertainties due to how
the COVID-19 pandemic may progress and evolve. Based on the above
assessment, the directors concluded that impairment loss of HK$2,107,000
(2022: Nil) was recognised in respect of facilities appliances which arose
from the expected resumption of the Group’s entertainment business due
to keen competition.

Assets pledged as securities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s buildings with an aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$14,451,000 (2022: Nil) were pledged as
securities for the Group’s bank borrowings (note 31).

14.

ME BB KR e
RBEE-Z_=ZF+"A=+—HLEE>
EENAERRAEFETREN G -ZE
ﬁZTW@%ﬁEE%%@%@E@#EO
ZABNLRBEEBESINLER (T
::E.ﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁi&ﬁﬁ$m%L
BT 115%) EITREREFARMIEL
ZIEH CE"F 088 28NRE
MEBTHER2% (ZFZ2F 1 2%) WRER
REETHEBE -FEANERXTLEARRES
ELBEUZAMERET Bt RBEXER
EEENESEEBUZ RREFRFERA
RNTER - BAFRERASREBEAZE
BEATEEZHMNIERREEREHE
BREMNE ARAMGHUBERRERER
BRHmEER 2 ARAREE - R _T =&
B F+RA=+—HZRZRER
AN ERERRITBREEEBEIFCOVID-19
BB AERRBICARS EMNEE T EE
MMFUEMT G BN Littst b EF 2

A TLER i As A SRR ER518452,107,00078 7T
(CEZ—F: 8 LA EERRFHIE

HR D IR SRR PR 2R TSP EE A o

BEFHER®

R B =F+_RA=+—AEEUER
E{EA14,451,0008 T2 8F (T -
) EAREBIBTERZIEME (FsE31) o

WMok B XK AR AB € FERS 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. EREEE
Office premises Farmland Land use rights Total
YN E S =ittt Tt ERRE st
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FAT FHEIT TR TR
As at 31 December 2023 RIEZ=%F
+-BA=+—-H
Carrying amount fREfE 7,694 33619 6,589 47,902
As at 31 December 2022 A
+ZHA=+—H
Carrying amount fREfE 16,015 36614 7,057 59,686
For the year ended BE_ZS-=F
31 December 2023 +=ZB=+—H
LHEE
Depreciation charge ESH 10,489 2397 318 13,204
For the year ended I
31 December 2022 +=ZB=+—H
IFFE
Depreciation charge ES 9,391 2,505 324 12,220
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2023 31/12/2022
BE-_T-=F HE_T__
+-A=+—H +-A=+—H
ILEFEE IFFE
Expense relating to short-term leases FHRTE SRR 3,708 1,585
Total cash outflow for leases THEIRE M LAREE 20,728 13,343
Additions to right-of-use assets REGHRAEEE 4,254 26,588
For both years, the Group leases various offices, farmland and land use PREFE AEEHEELSERAE B
rights for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 6 THEREFEERR - HESHNRMERE
months to 50 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and SOFEME EHAPR ST I o FH E R R TL 1218 Bl &
contain different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and FERER W E S AERRR AR - IR EE TR
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the R R AEBRENREER  AEEER
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract EHNERNEE S ARG TR -

is enforceable.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s land use rights with carrying RIE_=ZF+_B=+—H>» KEBE L4

amount of approximately HK$4,574,000 (2022: Nil) were pledged as BREE 4,574,000 T2 T HERE (T

securities for the Group's bank borrowings (note 31). T | FARERIRTERZIEE (M
$$31) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HEZZE-_=F+"A=+—HIFE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)
Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$48,652,000 are recognised with related
right-of-use assets of HK$47,902,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
lease liabilities of HK$59,469,000 and related right-of-use assets of
HK$59,686,000). The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for its operations.
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the portfolio of short-term leases is
similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease
expenses disclosed above. As at 31 December 2023, no outstanding lease
commitments relating to the short-term leases (2022: no outstanding
lease commitments relating to the short-term lease).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15.

16.

FEREESE®
0 & PR Hl 3k 2255

&t% RZZEZ=F+"B=+—H B

B E & 1548,652,0008 T M IBRAGFBEE

E47 902,000 T (ZE-__F . HEARA

59,469,00078 7T Sz 1 A 88 A A & EE59,686,00075

70) cBRHEBEARAENAEEETNIRFESR

9# HMEHZETEENEANZE - BEEEFR
BREERIER

AEEERTIEREEFEERRKR KT
Eo 2y - — gy = e bl S
HEEEGR EXRERAHEERX AR
ZHEMAEEGHEE- R _=+_A4

=+—0REAMENEEHREMRE
ExECEZ=F:8) -
REYFE

2023 2022
—¥= ==
HK$’'000 HK$'000
F#ET 7

Fair value, at beginning of the year RE 2 AT EE - -

Additions through acquisition of a subsidiary (note 42) URBEMTB AT (FizE42) 9,070 =
Fair value loss recognised in consolidated statement ~ R4F BB RERZ

of profit or loss N EEEFEE (266) =

Exchange realignment FE R R (263) =

Fair value, at end of the year RERZ AFEE 8,541 =

The Group's investment properties consist of commercial properties in
Mainland China, which are held under medium term leases. The directors
of the Company have determined that the investment properties are
commercial assets, based on the nature, characteristics and risks of the
properties.

Investment properties were revalued at 31 December 2023 and the
date of acquisition on market value basis by Vincorn Consulting and
Appraisal Limited (“Vincorn”), an independent valuer, who has appropriate
professional qualification and relevant experience in the location and
category of the investment property being valued.

AEENKREYZEGEMURPERMB A
W P AR E - ERYENEE K
BRAEAZNERER  FABESHREVERE
ERBREE-

AN — 5 —

TR =HF+"RA=+—HKKBEH KE
MEZATFEBEEHMSESHALTERERA
BARAT (MHh&z) B HEEEEEM H
REAABEXEERUNGEREYEZ
UERBRUEA AR 2B (LEM-
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 16. KREWE @
The fair value of investment properties is a level 3 recurring fair value KREMEZ AFEERE-SAKEEAFEE
measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and closing fair value BetE2 - FURFERAFEEGR ZHIRW
balance is provided below: s e
2023
—E-=
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET
Opening balance (level 3 recurring fair value) FHER FEoRKENE
NTEB) - -
Additions through acquisition of a subsidiary (note 42) UK BEHMI B AT (Fiz¥42) 9,070 =
Fair value loss recognised in consolidated statement ~ R4R S B KR ER L
of profit or loss N EEESHEE (266) =
Exchange realignment PE R aR T (263) =
Closing balance (level 3 recurring fair value) FRER (EoREEE
RIEE) 8,541 -
Change in fair value for the year included Mm+E_A=+—BIFEETA
in profit or loss for assets held at 31 December BmZz2FERNATFEEZE 266 -
Fair value is determined by applying the market approach, based on the KEMENGEDFRBATSE AL BEELER
direct comparison method with reference to the comparable sale prices 2 IR AR E ] LS S ERTER B
in the relevant locality, adjusted for a premium or discount specific to the EMAEEYEBE 2T RENITE (B
quality of the Group's properties compared to recent sales of comparable FARJLEBREHE R 5 LLERFATS) fEHAEE - R
transactions. A higher discount for lower quality properties will result in a BENEZRSITEFERNREBEZ AFET
lower fair value measurement. EHE-

Significant unobservable Inputs BEARTHESY

Gross unit rates (RMB/sq. m.) MENEE ARBE/SFEHXK 35,673 Nil 3 2
Gross floor areas (sg. m.) WEmmaE (FA K 217.53 Nil 7 FH
No investment property has pledged to secure the bank borrowings A TEZ=F+ A=+ —H EEEYE

granted to the Group as at 31 December 2023. BEIRFRUERETAEEZIRITER
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e

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE

17. GOODWILL 17. £
Entertainment Property
business management Total
YREEZETS MEEE “act
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHETT THETT FHET
Cost 7%

As at 1 January 2022 A B —HF—F—H 203,724 = 203,724
Exchange realignment FE R AT (4,246) = (4,246)

As at 31 December 2022 and ﬁ"_v__¢+ A=+—H

1 January 2023 RZEZ=%—HF—H 199,478 = 199,478
Additions through acquisition of YeREHT B AT (MT5E42)

a subsidiary (note 42) 323,720 323,720
Exchange realignment FER AR (1,453) (9,459) (10912)
As at 31 December 2023 R-_E_=f+"_H=+—H 198,025 314,261 512,286
Accumulated impairment losses Z st {ERE
As at 1 January 2022 ﬁé_ = __"#—HF—H 203,724 = 203,724
Exchange realignment FER AR (4,246) - (4,246)
As at 31 December 2022 and A ZE_F+ZH=+—H

1 January 2023 RZZB2Z=F—HF—H 199,478 = 199,478
Exchange realignment PE R FREE (1,453) = (1453)
As at 31 December 2023 W_E_=F+"A=+—H 198,025 - 198,025
Carrying amount EREE
As at 31 December 2023 RZE_=F+_"_B=+—~H - 314,261 314,261
As at 31 December 2022 N2 —_F#+"FA=+—H - _ _

MAE XK AR S FERS 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

17.

18.

GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment test of property management business

For the years ended 31 December 2023, the recoverable amounts of the
above CGU of property management business have been determined
based on a value-in-use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period at a discount rate of 14.90%. The cash flows
beyond this 5-year period are extrapolated using a 2.20% growth rate. The
growth rates used are based on the estimated growth rate of the CGU
taking into account the past performance and management expectation
of future business performance and prospect of the CGU. In view of
the operating results of the CGU, no impairment loss on goodwill is
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2023.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17.

18.

BE @
MEEBRERRERNS

BE_S_—H+-_A=-+-ALEE
R EEER B ELBANTR
EeBENEEREEAEET  ZHER
BEEERINAENYEEE RIFRR
14.90%E T RS R BB IEL - R A EH
> BRI B T E F2.20% M 1 B KT
HoEANEERNERESELBMY
GHBER CHRBALEREEENE
SEEBUAREEERRASNTER-
ERReELBUNCEEE ENEEH
A58

=
e ©

BEEE

Farmland Entertainment Technical Customer Computer
development licence know-how Trademarks  Relationship software Total
RitRE 1RGENRER 53 0pIE [l ERmMR L &5t
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TER TEx TEr TiEr TiEr TR TET
Cost B2
As at 1 January 2022 RIE-_—%#—HF—H 15635 432515 1,804 642 - - 450,656
Exchange realignment ERAE (1252) (25,054) (10) (58) = - (26,374)
Additions i 486 _ 286 N _ _ 77
As at 31 December 2022 and RIBZZH+ZA
1 January 2023 =+-BRIRZ=F
—B—H 14,869 407461 2,140 584 - - 425,054
Exchange realignment ERAE (234) 8571) () (1559) (3043) (90) (13,502)
Additions e 133 - - - - 37 170
Additions through acquisition of WEHBAR (izka)
a subsidiary (note 42) - - - 52,988 104,139 1,118 158,245
As at 31 December 2023 RZ2Z=%+ZAH
Sar=f] 14,768 398,890 2,135 52,013 101,096 1,065 569,967
Accumulated amortisation and St R E
impairment
As at 1 January 2022 RIE-_—%#—HF—H 12,281 2793818 1,804 642 - - 294,605
Exchange realignment ERAE (979) (16,209) 0} (58) - - (17,247)
Amortisation for the year FREH 813 - 3 = = = 836
As at 31 December 2022 and RIZBZZH+ZA
1 January 2023 =+-BRIR°=F
—B—H 12,115 263,609 1,886 584 - - 278,194
Exchange realignment ERAE (192) (5237) 0] (1) (55) (58) (5554)
Amortisation for the year FREH il - 47 = 6,795 184 7,737
Impairment loss recognised for the year £ RERR IR E RS 1R - 46,345 = = = = 46,345
As at 31 December 2023 AZEZ=£+CR
S| 12,634 304,717 1,932 573 6,740 126 326,722
Carrying amount RREE
As at 31 December 2023 RZ2Z=%+ZAH
S| 2,134 94,173 203 51,440 94,356 939 243,245
As at 31 December 2022 i =|
== 2,754 143,852 254 = = = 146,860
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Farmland development, technical know-how, customer
relationship and computer software

Farmland development, technical know-how customer relationship and
computer software acquired separately with definite useful lives are
measured initially at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Farmland development 18 years
Technical know-how 5 years

Customer relationship 10 years
Computer software 10 years

Amortisation expense of HK$7,737,000 (2022: HK$836,000) is included in
the administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

Included in farmland development is an amount of HK$2,134,000 (2022:
HK$2,754,000) representing the carrying amount of farmland expenditure
and cost for preparation works. The net carrying amount will be amortised
over the remaining useful lives of 7 years (2022: 8 years).

Included in technical know-how is an amount of HK$203,000 (2022:
HK$254,000) representing the carrying amount of technical improvement
in wine production. The net carrying amount will be amortised over the
remaining useful lives of 4 years (2022: 5 years).

Included in customer relationship is an amount of HK$94,356,000
representing the carrying amount of a long-term cooperative relationship
with government associate, property developers and property owners.
The net carrying amount will be amortised over the remaining useful lives
of 9.75 years.

Included in computer software is an amount of HK$939,000 representing
the carrying amount of a computer software in property management
business. The net carrying amount will be amortised over the remaining
useful lives of 9.75 years.

Entertainment licence and trademarks

The directors of the Company considered that the legal right of the
licence and trademarks is capable of being renewed indefinitely at
insignificant cost and it is expected to generate positive cash flows
indefinitely. The licence and trademarks will not be amortised until its
useful life is determined to be finite upon reassessment of its useful life
annually by the directors of the Company. The intangible assets will be
tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that
may be impaired.

BREEE ®

BB &S~ v AN~ TP R R E IS
Qs
NEEESEEEREREN T RIS B
i1 B P R A R RS S LU A Bt
8 WM ES AU TEENEA A ERE
HRHRSY |

Sl 185
BT SE

=R % 105
BN 105

7,737,000 70 (T2 = —4F : 836,00038 1) > i#
HE SN REEERTABRITTHRES

2,134,000 70 (ZZ = 4 © 2,754,000/ 7T) Z
BHMEE MR REGBTEREZRE
BoRREFERZ/E (CE_F 8F) 2
TRl AR A o

203,000 70 (T B = Z 4 : 254,000 7T) 2%
MBI EEBEESMBCEZREE &K
R EBIE (CEZ_F (5F) 258 T
e R AR 8 o

94,356,000 8 T2 B BGRIDAB & E®
- BHEMEEMEFTREILRBEERME
ZERMEE BREFER IR SEZ R T ER
FHRE Y o

939,000 BT Z B A MEETEERFN
BISEE 2 BRE(E - BRI R B I%0.75FE 2 6%
Tl fE AR EHR Y

IR 44 b TR e A AR

FABEERRAIBRRE R S ERATE
BERAERAMTUESEEFEHTER
MMELERS R - ZBBREERTEH
W EEFARERSEENTERAER
FHEEEXERREEAERBAL R
REERAFSRZBHALLRAGER S
FEITRER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 EHZE

18.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment test of intangible assets with indefinite useful
life

Entertainment licence

Entertainment licence with a carrying amount of HK$94,173,000 (2022:
HK$143,852,000) has been allocated to the Group's CGU of entertainment
business. The recoverable amount of the entertainment licence has been
determined based on a value-in-use.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the directors performed
impairment assessment on the Group'’s entertainment business. The
recoverable amount of this unit has been determined based on a value
in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year
period (2022: five-year), and discount rate of 13% (2022: 15%). The cash
flows beyond the five-year period (2022: five-year) are extrapolated
using a steady 2% growth rate (2022: 2%). The growth rate used are
based on the estimated growth rate of the CGU taking into account
the past performance and management expectation of future business
performance and prospect of the CGU. Other key assumptions for the
value in use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows
which include budgeted sales and gross margin, such estimation is based
on the past performance and management's expectations for the market
development. The cash flow projections, growth rates and discount rate
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 have been reassessed taking into
consideration higher degree of estimation uncertainties due to how
the COVID-19 pandemic may progress and evolve. Based on the above
assessment, the directors concluded that impairment loss of HK$2,107,000
(2022: Nil), HK$1,792,000 (2022: Nil) and HK$46,345,000 (2022: Nil) was
recognised in respect of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets which arose from the expected resumption of
the Group's entertainment business due to keen competition.

In addition, management also considered that if the discount rate
adopted for the above impairment assessment was changed to 14%
(2022: 16%), while other key inputs and parameters remained unchanged,
the recoverable amount of entertainment licence would have been
reduced to HK$54,736,000 further impairment loss on property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, and the entertainment licence of,
HK$535,000, HK$455,000 and HK$11,477,000 respectively would have
been recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

TR+ RA=1+—HLEEE

18.

BREE ®
EmRERAEREMNERSERER S

IR SRR ER

IREE94,173,0008 0 (Z & - =
143,852,000787T) BIIR L4 R BB E 9 EiK:—%@
RN ES B REEIBR UL
ElHELRERAEEFEET -

REEZE-_=F+"HA=+—HIEE>
%%Edﬂl—"%ﬁk%%ﬁi’%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ"%ﬁﬂﬂi
EZEHQEEEEE?%%%@FHEPE@FZEo
ZtENREEEERINESEH (=
T AT MBEE ) BITIRE13% (_
BTTFE15%) ETRESREFEAMIEL
ZHEH CEZZF  AFH 2BNRES
TMETLER2% (ZTEZ2F 1 2%) NETEE
EXETHE - FIERNEREXELERES
EEBUZAHEFEESR LA RBTFEER
BIEEHRSEEBUZ AREHRE A
SREHA - BEIRERA AHERZ
HERTPEEZHMFTEBRLOERAEHE
BEREANE ARG DUBEREREE

BT HEEREBHRARE R =
ERZEZ_F+RB=1+—HZBREREME
BB EERITREBEE EEIFLCOVID-19
BRENMERAELERSENGSAEE
M U E 5T o # 5 i sT il EE 4
WANNE BEREE TRAEEENRER
BERREREA21070008T (CE -
)0 1,7920008 T (CE2F 1 H) 0 K
46,345,00058 70 (ZB 244 iE) > JhAREH

R 5 T TR R (R L F R BB 2 FE R A A o

tE9h - BB 75 58 4 & b Al (B 5T 1k BT 3R 4%
E’Jﬁﬁz%ﬂﬂlim% (ZTEBEZZF 16%) B>
BEEMEZTEHABBERSHNMALTE
IR A W Bl 2B T [E E 54,736,000
BRURGEEHHFRERTPEIYE -BE&
RE TRAREERREBBNE—T R
BRE D B2 > 535,000 7T ~ 455,00078 70 K2
11,477,000 7T ©
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 18. BEEE @
Trademarks EE
Trademarks with a carrying amount of HK$51,440,000 (2022 HKS Nil) has BEEI{E51,440,000 Bt (CTEZ 24 . |)
been allocated to the Group's CGU of property management business. The EENEEAEEYECEERNIESESE
recoverable amount of the trademarks has been determined based on a B -mENKESELIXEHAEESE
value-in-use. ETEo
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the directors performed REBEE_E_=—&+_A=+—8BIEE-
impairment assessment on the Group's property management business. EE A EREYEEIBEEFETRHAEE (G
The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined based on EZ%%ZEM&@@@EE#&%%@% hiEEE
a value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections EHENIREECIEEBHEIN A ERREE
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five- %E%j BT ETIRS A= TEAIME
year period, and discount rate of 18%. The cash flows beyond the five- HezAFEH2ENRESRE L EH29NE
year period are extrapolated using a steady 2% growth rate. The growth T ERETHE-REANEERILER
rate used are based on the estimated growth rate of the CGU taking HEEEBUZGEEREER Kt RiBEE
into account the past performance and management expectation EREERNRSESBNZRARERRE
of future business performance and prospect of the CGU. Other key }g’z*gﬁ = By FEHA o Bd{E D-HE@,M)\/,M&E%%
assumptions for the value in use calculations relate to the estimation of i EHEATPEBEZHEMTIERSBETEE
cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted management fee income, MESIBIIWA > BEREGIIUBERIERE
such estimation is based on the past performance and management’s EBEEmERE B ARE R_E_=
expectations for the market development. The cash flow projections, F+A=t+—HzRESREEA EEX
growth rates and discount rate as at 31 December 2023 have been TR EEE B R FCOVID-19%% 5 U0 7] 3
reassessed taking into consideration higher degree of estimation BRECARSEN G FAREEMEmMTUE
uncertainties due to how the COVID-19 pandemic may progress and e L o B LT EEH A NEER
evolve. Based on the above assessment, the directors concluded that no SR S M B E R RAERE-
impairment loss was recognised in respect of intangible assets which
arose from the Group's property management business.
INVENTORIES 19. 78
2023 2022
== .
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Raw materials [RAA 67,145 68,049
Work in progress F B 113,499 132,929
Finished goods BUAK o 36,744 17,691
217,388 218,669

Included in raw materials of HK$55,585,000 (2022: HK$57,246,000)
were unprocessed wines. The directors of the Company have assessed
the net realisable values and condition of the Group's inventories as
at 31 December 2023 and have the impairment loss of HKSnil (2022:
HK$17,000).

55,585,00078 75 (22— " 4F © 57,246,00078 7T)
Z BBt A BB ML o ZIK/AT%%.HEEC:
S+ _A=t—RHKEREEFE

IR ERRR TER R EREZET (_3
T4 17,0008 7T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

20. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 20.

UFSEMZ FERTYE
¢35 7%y

Completed properties in the Australia held
for sale, at cost

2023 2022

—— = — - — —

—_=—— — T =

HK$'000
TR

HK$'000
FTAT

173,315 270,910

The directors of the Company conducted impairment assessment of the
completed properties with reference to prevailing market conditions and
the estimated selling prices of the properties provided by an independent
professional valuer and concluded that the impairment of completed
properties amounted to approximately HK$51,701,000 was to be made as
the estimated selling prices of the properties are loss than their carrying

ARBEEBRERITHRABIEXMEE
AR MEMAEEB R TYER
EEETRET G SmAENYEMLTE
BEAEEEE  RIEME T EIELE S5
#9751,701,00078 7T L (B FEER o

amount.
21. TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. ESZEURERTR
2023 2022
HK$’000 HKS'000
FAET FET
Trade receivables B 5 IR 165,026 5179
Receivables from entertainment business 7 ST YR 0 22 S R T 20,365 20,803
Less: allowance for expected credit losses B TERR G EEERE (49,448) (22,514)
135,943 3,468

The Group generally allows an average credit period of 180 days (2022:
30 to 180 days) to its trade customers. For receivables of entertainment
business, a credit period is generally six months. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date and net of allowance for expected
credit losses, is as follows:

rEE-—ROTHESZR180H (TE -
F 130F180H) ZEEH > MBRREEEHTNR
BZEER-—RANER AEBILERZ
EERS B E MR R

REREHR - & 5 EURRIZ 3 = B HEH
FRIEAEERBEREB ZREDTIOT

2023 2022

E—— S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Within 30 days 30HA 59,285 1,599
More than 30 days and within 60 days 30HU EE60HA 11,455 921
More than 60 days and within 90 days 60H LA EZE90HR 6,813 162
More than 90 days and within 180 days 90R M EE180HA 15,168 277
More than 180 days and within 360 days 180H A EZE360H A 9,290 509
More than 360 days 360H A £ 33,932 -
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 135,943 3,468
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group's trade receivables
were debtors with aggregate carrying amounts of HK$43,222,000 (2022:
HKS$509,000) (net of allowance for credit losses) which were past due
as at the end of the reporting period. Out of the past due balances,
HK$57,717,000 (2022: HK$283,000) had been past due for 90 days or more
and was not considered as in default due to good track record of the
debtors with the Group. The Group did not hold any collateral over these
balances.

As at 31 December 2023, trade receivables (net of allowance for
credit losses) with amounts of approximately HK$135,943,000 (2022:
HK$3,468,000), was denominated in Renminbi ("RMB”).

An aged analysis of trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period,
based on due date and net of allowance for expected credit losses, is as
follow:

21.

B ZREURERTR 2
R_BE_=F+"_R=+—H ' x&E@=
BN IR E43,222,000
BT (TR T4 509,000 70) 2 FEW R
B RREHAREL&BHH - BHARKRE S
57,717,0003 75 (ZF = 4 : 283,000 7T) B
BHAOOR S MU £ EARZEANRA S K E
BEWNFELRRRT M EFRAERG A
EETERZERITEEMIRRR-

A B ZFE+_A=+—H 2iENAE
135,943,000/ 75 (Z & = 4F : 3,468,000787T)
2B SRR GO EERIEERE) ThUA

Ri& AR FIE-

REEHFR EZRURRIREIE AN
EEBEREREFRZREDNNOT :

2023 2022
== ==

HK$'000 HK$'000

TF#T FHET

Current (not past due) BRHR (R#EHR) 14,199 2,958
1 to 90 days past due BEAIZE0H 64,027 227
91 to 180 days past due #HEA91ZE180H 15,116 160
181 to 360 days past due #HEA181E360H 8,690 123
More than 360 days past due #HEA360E L E 33,911 -
At 31 December R+=ZB=+—H 135,943 3,468

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set out in note

43.2.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS PAID AND OTHER

Ff 8 7 EWOR TR E ST B S B # A Y 5

4320

n.%ﬁﬁﬁ*aﬁﬁﬁ&E@%W%

RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
—EZ= ZEITE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Prepayments (note (i) FaftaRIE (i EEG) 80,384 5017
Deposits paid (note (ii)) Bfd@E (i) 11,641 66,771
Other receivables (note (iii)) HAthRE U R IE (B 2 Gii)) 48,018 10,136
139,963 81,924
Less: allowance for expected credit losses of L Bt IE TR A
other receivables EEBIERE (80) (147)
139,883 81,777
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22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS PAID AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(i) Included in the year-end balance was an amount of RMB63,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$69,337,000) relating to an advance payment to an
independent third party, Beijing Zhongtou Guoxing Technology Development
Co. Ltd. for the intended acquisition of a leased office in the PRC pursuant to a
letter of intent dated 20 December 2023. If the ownership of such leased office
is not ready to be transferred to the Group by 30 June 2024, then such advance
payment shall be refunded with interest to the Group during the next financial

year.

(i) Included in year-end balance was an amount of HK$3,251,000 (2022:
HK$56,377,000) relating to guaranteed deposits for construction of the property
placed in designated accounts in accordance with relevant government
requirements. In subsequent to year ended 31 December 2023, part of
guaranteed deposits for construction of the property placed in designated

accounts, amounted to approximately HK$nil was settled.

(iii) Included in year-end balance was an amount of HK$4,000 (2022: HK$2,994,000)
relating to the amount due from related companies, which are held by Mr. Fu

Kwan (“Mr. Fu"), the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, deposits paid and other receivables (net
of allowance for credit losses) with amounts of approximately
HK$124,406,000 (2022: HK$11,249,000), HKS7,141,000 (2022:
HK$7,590,000), HK$693,000 (2022: HK$2,337,000) and HK$6,602,000 (2022:
HK$56,423,000) were denominated in RMB, KRW, CAD and AUD.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 43.2.

22. FAMTRRIE - B RERHEMB IR

I8 (&

V=2

(i) s AFERGERETE A ARK63,000,0007T (HHE
72 #969,337,00078 7T) MITEN R IRIE S - =4F
+ZBZ+ENEEZ S RABILIE=FIE
RAKREENEERBRAE  RINEREEE
MAERARMIZANFENR - EENEENFT
BREANR IS ZMFEANA =+ HAI TR EE
BAREE ZEMRER T —EBMBFEEER
FERBHAAER-

(ii) st AE RS EEEA3,252,0008 7T (ZEZZ
£F 1 56,377,00078 7T) B B 19 12 < £ 422 BR A0 B LA
ERARBRYELFRIEIETIRD WRER
THEM-RIZ=F+"A=+—BZ%&HF
B BHARERMETEREEEREN
RERENTETEES

(i)  FTAFEREHSES40008T (CTEZ_4F:
2,994,00078 7T) BIFE UK BB A Bl T I8 © % BB A
SHEERE (MEXE) FE BEERER

BIRAEIERKRE

MZBE_=ZF+"_RA=+—H ' £8EHN5
124,406,00058 75 (Z T = Z4F : 11,249,000
TT) ~7,141,000%8 70 (ZF = "4 ¢ 7,590,000%
TT) 693,000 7T (Z & = 4 2,337,000
TT) 5%6,602,0003 70 (Z & = 4 : 56,423,000
Brt) 2B Re REMEWRIET 5 5l L
AR BBE M KBTHE

BRIRET AR BN E43.20
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HEZZE-_=F+"A=+—HIFE

CONTRACT COSTS

Incremental costs to obtain contracts

—REN

— current

23.

ERGHEENEENRE

BN

2023
==

HK$’000
FAT

2022

HK$'000
TAT

755 3,643

Contract costs capitalised related to the incremental sales commissions
paid to property agents whose selling activities resulted in customers
entering into sale and purchase agreements for the Group's properties
which were under construction and which was expected to be completed
within next 12 months (2022: 12 months) at the reporting date. Contract
costs are recognised as costs of revenue in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss in the period in which revenue from the related property
sales is recognised. There was no impairment in relation to the opening
balance of capitalised costs or the costs capitalised during the year (2022:
Nil).

SHORT-TERM LOAN RECEIVABLES

24,

ERMEMEHNMAETARAYEAREZGH
HERT (HEEER T RNARER
ST ERAEEERYE FERIARKI2ER
(T2 ZF @R BRI NEEWH:R)
BRI A AB R 8 & R m i B R B AR
B R ok A B AR A W A o HH%DﬁZMtEﬁZZK
EHRRNFERNE RO AL ERE (T
FiE)e

7__

FEUR G HA & =R

2023 2022

—¥-= i —
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TF#ET AT
Unsecured loan IR ER 65 66
Less: allowance for expected credit losses B TEHAE EEEEE (10) (12)
55 54

Loan receivables are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
All of the loan receivables are denominated in KRW.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 43.2.

ERERAREIR - R EREREREERE
EDBFELI T}\fjJ'/{ﬁn.@”E"

BRABET(EREF IS E A M FE43.2 0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR o MR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25. REKXREFLRIEH
2023 2022
—E_=

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Bank balances and cash RITE R RIRS 201,745 554,705
As at 31 December 2023, cash and cash equivalents with amounts of N ZEZ=F+ZA=+—H =8B
approximately HK$56,866,000 (2022: HK$18,983,000), HK$ 1,357,000 (2022: 56,866,00035 75 (Z = Z 4 : 189,983,000
HK$5,655,000), HK$109,553,000 (2022: HK$1,000) and HK$23,578,000 7T) ~ 1,357,000 70 (25 __E 5,655,00035
(2022: HK$450,431,000) are denominated in RMB, KRW, CAD and AUD. 7T) 109,553,000 75 (Z &~ 4 11,0005 7T)

5223,578,000% 75 (T = Z4F : 450,431,0008
7o) 2RERIREEEBEE I DIUARE
BE[E ~ NIt RoR Ty ME o

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which ranged from 0.001% to RITHARE T HEF N F0.001%F0.350%
0.350% (2022: 0.001% to 0.3850%) per annum. (ZTEZ 45 1 0001%%03850%) 5t 8 °
26. TRADE PAYABLES 26. B 5 EIRMR
An aged analysis of the trade payables at the end of the reporting period, RIREHR ESENRIZEZEHHZIR
based on the invoice date is as follows: oMU -
2023 2022
===
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Within 90 days 90H A 110,678 22,899
More than 90 days and within 180 days OHMU EZE180HR 1,928 1,625
More than 180 days and within 360 days 180B B EE360H K 2,104 1,113
More than 360 days 3608 M £ 11,906 4,604
126,616 30,241
The average credit period on purchase of goods is 90 days. BEERZFHEEHRA0H -
Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are repayable within credit BSRNERTRARE BBEREERRNEE
periods.
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28.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

27.

F& 5t 5 A3 e H{th & {3 =R IR

pLipk] 2022
—E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Accruals fEst &R 42,463 18,223
Construction cost payables i ZNEEE=Tn7%: 1,649 2,708
Dividend payable to non-controlling FEI M@ AR IEIERR A RAR S

shareholders of subsidiaries 3,604 3,666
Amount due to third parties (note) S =708 (s 101,471 107,904
Other tax Hhin1s 6,306 4,054
Others Hih 57,410 12,882
212,903 149,437

Note:  The amount due to third parties were unsecured, interest-free, and repayable on Wiat . EBEE=mHEAERE At EAREKRE

demand.

As at 31 December 2023, accruals and other payables with amounts of
approximately HK$28,854,000 (2022: HK$25,805,000) and HK$1,956,000
(2022: HK$3,109,000) were denominated in KRW and AUD.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities represented the advances received from customers in
relation to the Group's wine business. Customers obtain control of the
goods when the goods are delivered, and revenue is recognised at a point
in time.

Contract liabilities also represented the advances received from customers
in relation to the Group's property management business. The property
management services billed in advance for which revenue will be

recognised at point over time over the contractual period.

28.

BEo

RIE_=F+"B=+—H>2%8BHA
28,854,0005 7T (Z& Z Z 4 : 25,805,00077T)
T%21,956,0005 7% (Z = — — 4 : 3,109,0007 7T)
2R ERMEMENRIET DB UEE K
JRITH{E

BHER
SHNEmIEAEAREEELEAEEF I
M2 BH EMRTE B FEESEYNE
I > I A TE R — BB AR o

GHNARETEAEENYNEEEETRHEE
FURERZ 87K - AR B Y X EERFB I
B EHIARESIUA

2023 2022
=F== S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET
As at 1 January wW—B—H 29,989 20,332
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of RAEAREENFAZENEE
recognising revenue during the year BRBWAERSNEEHD
that was included in the contract liabilities
at the beginning of the year (24,511) (10,466)
Increase of receipts in advance from customers = EFEWERIEIE N 623 22,253
Additions through acquisition of a subsidiary WK B AR (fiEE42)
(note 42) 57,448 -
Exchange realignment B SR 2L (1,309) (2,130)
As at 31 December m+ZA=+—H 62,240 29,989

MAE XK AR S FERS 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

29.

30.

AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. They
comprise amounts due to the following related parties:

29.

FEAIRAZE T RR

ZRIARERIR 2 ERERER
FE AT RAZE S KR

' HEE

2023 2022
—ECZHE =T
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET
Beijing Macrolink Land Limited (note (i)) FERIEMEMBRAT (EH) 722 162
Guizhou Zhenijiu Sales Co, Ltd. (‘Guizhou Zhenjiu’) (note (i) ~ EMBBHEERAT (EMLAE)) (Hzi) - 15377
Yunnan JLF Trading (note (ii)) ErmENEE S (i) - 41
Hunan Jindong Wine Industry Co, Ltd. (note (i) MEERBXERAD (k) 2,339 503
Beijing Xinhualian Conference Center Co, Ltd. (Note (i) TRIEREEFLERAR (HEH) 7 -
Beijing Shuibajiao Trading Co, Ltd. (Note (i)) FRKEERERRAT (M) 14 =
Tibet Changji Cuttural Tourism Co, Ltd. (Note () AERENCREBRAT (f3E0) 14,307 =
17,389 16,083
Notes: Mt -
0] Mr. Fu, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, is the substantial 0} RABRBERBRREEERZEATNZEE
shareholder of these companies. [
(ii) Mr. Fu is the brother-in-law of Mr. Wu Xiangdong, who is a substantial shareholder (i) BRERZEATZEIERRRERLENE
of these companies. xo

As at 31 December 2023, amounts due to related parties with amounts of
approximately HK$16,667,000 (2022: HK$15,921,000), HK$457,000 (2022:
HK$99,000) and HK$265,000 (2022: HK$63,000) were denominated in RMB,
KRW and AUD.

LOANS FROM NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Except for an amount of HK$784,000 (2022: HK$770,000) which was
unsecured, bearing interest at 4.6% per annum and repayable within one
year, the remaining amounts were unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand (2022: one year).

As at 31 December 2023, loan from non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries with amounts of approximately HK$2,931,000 (2022:
HK$770,000) was denominated in KRW.

30.

A—E_=ZFE+"B=+—H &BLIE
16,667,000/ 78 (ZZFZ 24 : 15,921,000) >
457,000 (ZE - "4 : 99,0008 T) &
265,00058 7T (Z & — 4 : 63,0008 7T) Z &
RAEA XA DA UARE S BE KBTS
fEo

Bt B A B IFEHIARRE R

[5784,00058 75 (Z ZH 770,000 TT) A
AT EE%IJL@@%J%&EEC ERE
BN HppEAEER RERREXR (T
T F L —FR) BB

RIE_=F+"HB=+—H > 28BS
2,931 ooo%m(_"::fﬁ 770,0007%8 75) 2 MY
BATIEIEHIR R ER T UERE S E -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 31. SRITREMMER
2023 2022
—E-= —= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Secured (notes (i) B (FEE3) 55,029 =
Unsecured (notes (i) IR (MF5E0)) 1,924 =
56,953 =
Bank and other borrowings are repayable U TMERIRTT R EMER
as follows:
Within one year —FR 56,953 -
More than one year, but not exceeding two years 818 —% » (B BB E - =
Total bank and other borrowings RIT R EMERAREE 56,953 =
The exposure of the Group's borrowings are as follows: KEBZEBEWMT .
2023 2022
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET
Fixed-rate borrowings ESRSSIEEN 1,924 -
Variable-rate borrowings FEEM 55,029 =
56,953 -
Notes: Hyet -

(i) As at 31 December 2023, bank borrowing with amounts of approximately of U]
HK$55,029,000 (2022: nil) was secured by (1) the Group's buildings and land use
rights located in the PRC with carrying amounts of approximately HK$14,451,000
(note 14) and HK$4,574,000 (note 15), respectively, and (2) personal guarantee
from Mr. Huang Fei, a director of the Group’s subsidiaries and Mrs. Hu Pian, the
spouse of Mr. Huang Fei.

RIEZ=F+ZB=+—H =805
55,029,000 B T ZMRITER (ZETZ2F | &)
MMMAEBMNRFENEEEESNOS
14,451,000 7T (F45E14) BUEE 224 Be4,574,00078
TH L HMERE (fE15) » RQEAEBFAT
EEERCERERSCERBHRN L TIRHEE
ANBRIEIEF

The Group's variable-rate borrowings carried interest at 1.7% plus base AEBZFEGBRIDZ 7B MEEN XK
rate and the effective interest rate at 1.8% per annum. The Group's fixed- BEREMNXI S E - AKEBZEEBERT
rate borrowings carried an effective interest rate of 4.6% per annum. a6% 2 BEFEFNZEFTE

As at 31 December 2023, bank and other borrowings with amounts of R_E_=ZF#+_"_B=+—H &8O %4
approximately HK$55,029,000 (2022: nil) and HK$1,924,000 (2022: nil) were 55,029,000 70 (ZE =4 | ) 51,924,000
denominated in RMB and in KRW. BT (TR TF L E) ZIRITREMMERTS

DHIUAREREIIE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

32. LEASE LIABILITIES 32. fHE&AR
2023 2022
—E-=
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET
Lease liabilities payable: EEHEaE
Within one year —FRN 11,933 13,095
Within a period of more than one year but not —FBREMRFERN
exceeding two years 3,033 9,965
Within a period of more than two years but not ~~ MEREBRER
exceeding five years 6,413 4,535
Within a period of more than five years BiBhF 27,273 31,874
48,652 59,469
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months 38 : ENBE NERARI2ER A
shown under current liabilities ERMIFIE (11,933) (13,095)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months EREmBaAETRERERIEAE
shown under non-current liabilities BERIB 36,719 46,374
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease EREREAEaENNEFSEEERNES
liabilities was 5.44% (2022: 6.00% per annum). 544% (ZEZ T T FF]=FE6.00%) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

GOVERNMENT GRANT

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has recognised
HK$5,730,000 (2022: HK$11,991,000) in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss representing government grant received from various local
governments for the contribution towards the Group’s business in the PRC
(including Hong Kong), Australia and South Korea. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to these government grants.

33. BAFH#EBY

BE_Z_=ZH£+_A=t+—HLEEE &
EERIEEEERMERS,730,00087T (ZF
T8 111,991,000 7T) 0 A B2 EE BT
IEMNBFM#E  UEAEERTE (85
HFE) BENEEENERE  mEAZERAT
B AR 2 MR EM K AEE -

SHARE CAPITAL

34. &7

Number of shares Par value
KRB EfE
2023 2023 2022
—E”= —E”= =
‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fh& FET FHET
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each SREE0ETZ
il 16,000,000 16,000,000 160,000 160,000
Issued and fully paid: BETEHE
At the beginning/end of RIREERH,/ R
the reporting period 3,207,592 3,207,592 32,076 32,076
RESERVES 35. f#fhE
Share premium in = E

The application of share premium account is governed by Section 40 of
the Companies Act 1981 (as amended) of Bermuda.

Share option reserve

Share option reserve represents the fair value of services estimated to be
received in exchange for the grant of the relevant share options over the
relevant vesting periods, the total of which is based on the fair value of
the share options at grant date. The amount for each period is determined
by spreading the fair value of the share options over the relevant vesting
period (if any) and is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss with a corresponding increase in the share option reserve.

ROBERZEAR -NN\—FBRERT
% (MER]) H40iREE -

BREREAE
BREREEENROAMEBRERGSH
REERBHEARTZRBEZAREE
HBHBUEHEREMBREZANEE
REE-ENSRBZHE RIS ERE
REZANBEEABSBEHAB (HA) NiE
DEE NGRS RERER > WARRIRESA
R P 1 o

MAE XK AR S FERS 2023

197



198
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

35. RESERVES (continued)

35. {#fE @

Translation reserve

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net assets of
the Group's foreign operations from their functional currencies to the
Group's presentation currency (i.e. HKS) are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation reserve. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy of foreign
currencies set out in note 3.2. Such exchange differences accumulated in
the foreign currency translation reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the foreign operations.

Statutory reserve

Statutory reserve represents the appropriation of 10% of profit after
taxation, calculated in accordance with the accounting standards and
regulations applicable to subsidiaries of the Company established in the
PRC. When the balance of such statutory reserve reaches 50% of the
entity’s registered capital, any further appropriation is optional.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents (i) the difference between the consideration
paid by the Company for the subscription of 2,707,848 shares of Macrolink
Glorious Hill Co,, Ltd. (“Glorious Hill") and the carrying amounts of its net
assets acquired; and (ii) the difference between the consideration paid by
the Company for the subscription of 104 redeemable preference shares of
Macrolink Australia Investment Limited (‘“MAI") and the carrying amounts
of its net assets acquired. As the Company, Glorious Hill and MAI are under
common control of Macro- Link International Land Limited before and
after the subscriptions, the subscriptions have been accounted for using
merger accounting.

Other reserve

Other reserve represents the difference between the consideration paid to
obtain additional non-controlling interests of certain subsidiaries and their
carrying amount on the date of the acquisition.

PE S
BEEERBIEHFEEFEREERRE
REEEENNEN BB FELEZERE
BREEZEHEME2E RGP ERLEERHEE
RREr R EBRIBEMN 3 2P E 2 SMNE & 5
BURFRIE o M EIBINEFRy > LIt IMBER
FEARSZERERHEIHED -

AEER

EEREREREAADETBEIKIIZHMEA
BIBAZ g5t ER AR A B Z R & IER
Z10% B AERBHEFEZBREME
2= 7 509%85 > Rl A] B M (F R R — 2 ¢

=+
o

B ERE

& BTS2 A BB 82,707,848 % FT EE R £
@l g g (MRELE) REZE
TREZENSFEERBDEZZEZ5 ; &)
NABRBHEREMNEERRAD (TFEE
BB 1) 104B& AT EREB AR 2 BT REHR
HERNEGPEERAEZEB HNAAT 18
48 R EE RN R SRR B BRI B I
EREEEMERASERES > BEEIE
UEaHashiAIRRe

Hethi# &
Hit# FHIs A EEE TWE A B g IR
MEEMXTZABRARBEERZREEZ
Bz ZEge
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised and

iR o MR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

movements thereon during the current and prior years:

Deferred tax assets

36. IEIEFRIE

RAEFERBEEE BHERIIZIELERIE
BE/ (B0 REZFHMT !

Defined
ECL benefit
provision obligation Total
TEHAEE EE
fEiaiEE RAEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET 35T TFHET
As at 1 January 2022 R_E-__&—H—H 4651 1,287 5938
Exchange realignment PE R AR (283) (83) (366)
Charged to profit or loss NkxB1#Em 113 (585) (472)
As at 31 December 2022 and R F
1 January 2023 +-_A=+—H8&
—E2-=F—HF—H 4,481 619 5,100
Exchange realignment PE R AR (325) (13) (338)
Credited to profit or loss T AB@m 14,701 185 14,836
Additions through acquisition of a subsidiary UXE&HI B AT (FfzE42)
(note 42) 8,168 - 8,168
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=
+ZH=+—H 27,025 791 27,816
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBE R

Fair value

adjustment

on intangible

asset acquired
in business  Revaluation of

combination properties
e
SRR
BREE
NREEFE MES L st
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TAT THET TAT
As at 1 January 2022 S = [ = (26,514) (2,565) (29,079)
Exchange realignment PE R 1,536 281 1817
As at 31 December 2022 and B &
1 January 2023 +ZB=+—H8BK
—_E_=%—HF—H (24,978) (2,284) (27,262)
Exchange realignment PE 2 AR 1,671 124 1,795
Credited to profit or loss T AE = 8,231 11 8242
Additions through acquisition of a subsidiary UXB&HI BT (HisE42)
(note 42) (39,281) (1,481) (40,762)
As at 31 December 2023 BWZEZ=
+=B=+—H (54,357) (3,630) (57,987)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR o MR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

36. IRIEFRIE )
IRERIBEE @)

36. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused tax losses REEHER AEEBERBHAREEIE
of HK$318,530,000 (2022: HK$273,848,000) available for offset against 318,530,000 75 (ZZF Z £ : 273,848,000
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to 70) Al EIKEH R AR T o S R BEE BT R 2 A
the unpredictability of future profits streams. The unrecognised tax M BR AR ERERBEEE &8
losses in Hong Kong and Australia amounted to HK$86,720,000 BNz R FE SR Y TE B53886,720,0007 7T (=

(2022: HK$71,536,000) which can be carried forward indefinitely. The T T 1 71,536,00078 7T) Bl ERHRAS EE o R

Fh B F R R R T A SL AV Y R B 2 R ISR AR
BHEEDNEBRELEFEEEERSH
FhTRF ARRUATEERE®

unrecognised tax losses relating to the subsidiaries incorporated in the
PRC and South Korea can be carried forward up to five and fifteen years,
respectively, from the year which the loss originated and will expire in the

following years:

2023 2022
—E_= =

HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT

Year of expiry BEmEE
2023 B =4 - 1,515
2024 —EUE 16,552 16,836
2025 —ECRAF 33,101 33,669
2026 —ETR 5,746 5,845
2027 - = 7,194 7318
2028 TEINE 10,279 =
2029 “ETNE - -
2030 TE=FE 8,811 9,001
2031 =5 16,681 17,039
2032 TE=4F 33,669 34,392
2033 —E==F 24,944 25,480
2034 —E=UFE 34,540 35,282
2035 “E=REF 15,600 15,935
2036 TE=RE 13,219 =
2037 —E=tF 11,474 =

231,810 202,312

RBEEMRBREZ BT N\E—HF—H
BomPENEASFRERRZEFNEIRZ
R RARMEELAR - R _E2-_=F+_A8

Under the EIT Law, a withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared
in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008
onwards. At 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of temporary

200

differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for
which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was HK$66,850,000
(2022: HK$18,581,000). No deferred tax liability has been recognised in
respect of these differences because the Group is in a position to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

—t+—H EARXBEREERBEBENKEB
2}1E’H&ﬁ?ﬁau&zmm%ﬂEﬁ%ﬂ#%%ﬁ,‘wéﬁ?\%
66,850,000/ 75 (Z & — 4 : 18,581,000
70) ° A 2N &2 [ A5 £ 120 15 B By = BB 2 [O] #35 BF
F'Eﬁ’ﬁéz%%gﬁﬁjﬁﬁ/_fﬁﬂ_l%%)&@%%’aﬁz
W %S E AR IRIERIBE &
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

37. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

(i)

(iii)

Plan for employees in Hong Kong

The Group participates in a mandatory provident fund scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) for all its qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in funds under the control of an independent trustee. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to
make the required contributions under the scheme. No forfeited
contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in
the future years. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the plan
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income (subject to a ceiling of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000).

Plan for employees in the PRC

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the PRC
government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the required
contributions under the schemes.

Plan for employees in South Korea

The Group operates a defined benefit retirement scheme to its
subsidiaries in South Korea. The defined benefit retirement scheme
is funded by monthly contributions from the Group at average
salary of the final six months multiplied by the number of years
vested. The pension costs are assessed using the projected unit
credit method. Under this method, the cost of providing pensions
is charged to the consolidated profit and loss account so as to
spread the regular cost over the service lives of employees in
accordance with the advice of the actuaries who carry out a full
valuation of the plans on an annual basis. The pension obligation is
measured by discounting the expected future cash flows. Actuarial
gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes
in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other
comprehensive income in the period in which they arise (note 38).

The provident fund schemes for the Group's staff in other regions follow

local requirements.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no forfeited

contributions included in retirement benefits schemes contributions
(2022 nil).

WMok B XK AR AB € FERS 2023

37. BAREFETE

(i)

(iii)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

38. NET DEFINED BENEFITS LIABILITIES

The Group operates a retirement benefits plan for the employees in South
Korea. Under the plan, the employees will be paid their average salary
amount of their final six months of employment multiplied by the number
of years'service.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the actuarial valuation
of plan assets and the present value of the retirement benefits liabilities
were performed by reputable actuaries, Actuarial Insurance Company
Sejong Corporation and KEB Hana Bank. The present value of the
retirement benefits liabilities, the related current service cost and past
service cost were measured using the project unit credit method.

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial

valuations were as follows:

38. EREBEHEERE
AEEAHBERRERARMNETNHE R

BEtE BEEREXVRERNERRE/E
B RURFER IR

BE_Z_ =K T__F+_A=+—
BIEEE stEBEEZBEEGERRAKET
BEZREBEHNZBEERMACtuarial Insurance
Company Sejong Corporation/ZKEB Hana Bank
AT RINEH BB/ IRE  BERITARBE A

RRABERG AT ER A B AL A
EO
BELEMBZEEZRKRNT :

Discount rate IR
Expected rate of salary increase TEfFT IR R

4.92%-5.76%
2.00%

5.31%-5.76%
2.00%

The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial position

arising from the Group's obligation in respect of its defined benefit plans
were as follows:

ERrEBEERENABEEMS ALGERH
BARMRZZEHWMT -

2023 2022

HK$’000 HKS 000

FHET FHET

Present value of funded defined benefit obligation BEMtFNEZERH EEZIRE 8,958 8,198
Fair value of plan assets HEEEZAAEBE (5,004) (5,098)
Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation REXEEBH SEEEZ BEFEE 3,954 3,100
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

38. TGN ABEFRHE®
Dt EEN SERESET

38. NET DEFINED BENEFITS LIABILITIES (Continued)

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation were as

follows:

2023 2022
—2-= ===

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHET FHET

As at 1 January = e = 8,198 11,602

Current service costs RITARFB A A 951 260

Interest cost on benefit obligations BRHEEMNERE 432 65

Benefits paid during the year FAZ(TEF] (1,417) =
Remeasurement gain recognised R E M2 E N S FE R Y

in other comprehensive income EHstElm 963 (3,035)

Exchange realignment b 2R EE (169) (694)

As at 31 December nr+—B=+—H” 8,958 8,198

Movements in the fair value of the plan assets were as follows:

SAEEEZANBEESHNT !

2023 2022

—E-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
TF#T FHET
As at 1 January w—HA—H (5,098) (5132)
Interest income FMEUWA (266) (45)
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans B2 EEMNE 140 28
Contributions by the Group 7R EE B R (523) (740)
Benefit paid by plan assets BEIEESZNEER] 637 498
Exchange realignment BE 2 AR 2L 106 293
As at 31 December R+ZA=+—H (5,004) (5,098)

The plan exposes the Group to actuarial risks, such as interest rate risk,

investment risk, longevity risk and salary risk.

FEERRAZZABEZBEERR WRER

B RERR RERBKRFEEAR-
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

38. NET DEFINED BENEFITS LIABILITIES (Continued)

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined
obligation are discount rate and expected rate of salary increase. The
sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably
possible changes of the respective assumptions occurring at the end of
the relevant periods, while holding all other assumptions constant.

- If the discount rate is 100 basis points higher (lower), the defined
benefit obligation would be decreased by HK$1,000,000 (increased
by HK$1,115,000) (2022: decreased by HK$918,000 (increased by
HK$1,047,000)).

- If the expected salary growth increases (decreases) by 1%, the
defined benefit obligation would be increased by HK$1,128,000
(decreased by HK$987,000) (2022: increased by HKS$1,059,000
(decrease by HK$906,000)).

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the
actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the
change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some
of the assumptions may be correlated.

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value
of the defined benefit obligation has been calculated using the projected
unit credit method at the end of the reporting period, which is the same
as that applied in calculating the defined benefit obligation liability
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position.

There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in preparing
the sensitivity analysis from prior years.

The weighted average duration of the benefit obligation at 31 December
2023 is 7.20 years for Megaluck Co, Ltd (“Megaluck”) and 2.75 years for
Glorious Hill (2022: 7.56 years for Megaluck and 6.74 years for Glorious
Hill).

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group expects to make a
contribution of HK$1,147,000 (2022: HK$1,149,000) to the defined benefit
plan during the next financial year.

38. EEBENEETFE®

EEEHEEMAZEARERRBITEER
KRiast#FEEE e THBMRED TR RA
HitWRREFAE 2R T RIBFERHAE
REBROGEAEELEZEHMET

— HIFRELFA (FE)100EEE > E
BEEA S ERR 1,000,000 7T (1
01,115,00087) (ZE -4 @b
918,00038 7T (121111,047,000587T) ) ©

— (HFEHFSEEEMN CAL) 1% E
BB EERIEN,128,00048 7T (R
987,000 7w) (ZE 24 =M
1,059,0007 75 (Bi21906,00078 7T) ) ©

MRS BRRTETANE ARBRTA
TETERAREEMBRR BRI RESR
1 » B it b 1) SRR EE 3 47 ok 8 BT A R E 2R AR
FIEES BRIt

5> 25 BB E DT PRI EHR
ZEREEMNEERET WA B EBUES
B EABREMBRRIRABER ZERRE
MEEaEMERAZ AR -

MU EEZHRREDNTHABZHER

A B =ZFE+_R=+—HB K gHtE
B (TE5%) WEHSENMEFSELR
#7205 MBAUFAR275F (2222
F . ESRA7560 R S6745F) ©

BE_ T _—F+_B=+—HIEEE &
EEEHN T —HBREERTEEEANTEIE
H1,147,0008 70 (ZZ = 24 : 1,149,000% 7T)
AR
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40.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group pledged the following
assets to secure the borrowings granted to the Group:

39. BEEIKM

RBREHAR AERBRUTEEFREE
EER R

2023 2022
—m— = —em——

—_m—— —

HK$’000 HK$'000

TF#&T TET
Property, plant and equipment (note 14) Y2~ RS Fe 58 B (M95E14) 14,451 =
Right-of-use assets (note 15) FEAEEE (I:H15) 4,574 -
19,025 =

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Contracted for but not provided for [ERHESEESN =)
in the consolidated financial statements: TERE
In connection with acquisition of lands AU R A RS

40. B KIE

2023 2022
= —=__
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT

LIRSS ES
9,075 9,270

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 23 August 2012, the Company adopted a new share option scheme
(the 2012 Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
its directors and eligible participants. The 2012 Scheme was valid and
effective for a term of 10 years and expired on 22 August 2022.

Under the terms of the 2012 Scheme, the Board is entitled to grant
options to selected eligible participants (including employees of the
Group, business or joint venture partners, consultants, advisers, customers
and suppliers etc) as incentives or rewards for their contribution or
potential contribution to the Group or any invested entity.

41.

FERe st 2l
AZE——EN\ATHZH KATRMH
WREHE (28  5SEAH
EERAEMSREREEM - —T——F
SEIBMBIRAI0E XR B —F\A
—+=RBHE-

BE_ZE-—_FHEZHRFT EFTTAERA
RERENRSEE BREAEEZEE ¥
BREEBH B EAABRREER
F) REBRE FRAREBEXFIEEAE
ESEAIREBREFHEMZ B OIR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the 2012 Scheme and any other schemes
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of adoption of the 2012 Scheme (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit"). As approved by the shareholders of the Company at the
annual general meeting held on 16 June 2017 (the “2017 AGM"), the total
number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the
Scheme Mandate Limit was refreshed to 320,759,167 shares, representing
10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the 2017
AGM and the date of this report. The total number of shares in respect
of which options may be granted to each eligible participant (including
exercised and outstanding options) in any twelve-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the number of shares in issue unless shareholders'approval
is obtained in general meeting. As the 2012 Scheme has expired on 22
August 2022, no further options were available for grant at the beginning
and the end of the reporting period.

There is no specified minimum period under the 2012 Scheme for which
an option must be held before it can be exercised. Options granted must
be taken up within 30 days from the date of grant with payment of HKS1
per grant. Options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant
up to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant. In each grant of options,
the Board may at their discretion determine the specific exercise period.
The exercise price is determined by the Board, and will not be less than
the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date
of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant, and (jii) the
nominal value of the Company's shares.

On 4 July 2016, a total of 151,000,000 share options were granted to
the directors, employees and other participants at an exercise price of
HK$2.00 per share under the terms of the 2012 Scheme. The exercise
price and the number of share options have been adjusted to HK$2.0381
and 148,176,300 respectively upon completion of the open offer. Details
of which were set out in the Company's announcement dated 9 January
2017.

On 31 March 2017, a total of 13,000,000 shares were issuable under
options granted to eligible participants at an exercise price of HK$2.00 per
share under the terms of the 2012 Scheme.

41.

MER TS
RIFEZE—ZF5 8 REMEME I FTE
HZAEBREMETZRMEHSHTSE
BRREN _T—_FEHEEHERATEI
BEITIRA 2 10% (5t EBEREE]) o KA RQ
BARER Tt EANB+AHRTHRE
BEAG ((CE—tERFEEARS)) £t
BB IRIEEIRERB R B ERE R
DB B B 4320,759,167B B D (R Z &
—tTERBBEAGEARARSHBEAR
BB EBTRAZ10% BRER+ @B R
BYSUEEKR2HEZBRE (BEET
ERARITHEZ BRE) MEEITZ RIDEEF
BRBABETROBEZ 1% ERKEREAD
TEREER SRR RN ZE—F
sHEIE 20224888 22HBHA » A IR S HA R
R HAR 0 f 4 — 5 A (IR T A BB AR R o

BREL AR ENFRARLUZITER
EoFHTBRENAENREHBAES0HA
B AR M1 BT BRETRRHAREE
REBAH10BFEIEHEEMFBTE 1R
HBiERER  EFGRNBEETENRE 17
FEHEFTEES EAEROBRHEER
BIRMZWHE (NEEREHAT L EAZEZE
BERRABERMZFHEHE ; kiiEAABR
MzEE URSER/E) -

A ZE—RFtANB > ARAREZZE
—ZEFFEZBREBTEESR2.008THE
EEEERHMBEESGHEH151,000,000
HERE BRETEERMBEN A AME
ETHE DB EEA2.038178 7T 5%148,176,300
HERE BREFEHENEARAHBEAEE
—tE—BhAHZAE

RIE—tE=B=1+—H 'aRQFRE_
- FH B ERIRITEEER2.008 T
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HEZZE-_=F+"A=+—HIFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 4. BRESE @
Details of the outstanding share options during the year ended 31 BHE_Z_-—F+-HA=+—HBULEFE'H
December 2023 were as follows: RITEBREZFBUT -

Number of shares issuable under options

REBREN ZTROHE

Exercisable Outstanding
price  Outstanding Lapsed asat Lapsed Outstanding
per share asat during  31.12.2022 during asat
Name of category of participants Dateofgrant  Exercise period HK$ 1.1.2022 theyear and1.1.2023 theyear  31.12.2023
?
- Jambant -
+=A 1
=t+-Bk —EC=
2= T=E
- ~ -A-A +-8
SEENLRER =) frfEs HFRT I FRATHE KT
Directors
Bz
Mr. Zhang Jian 472016 472016 t0 3.7.2026 20381 7,850,400 - 7,850,400 - 7,850,400
RELE
Mr. Hang Guanyu 472016 472016 t0 3.7.2026 20381 7,850,400 - 7,850,400 - 7,850,400
MEF5RE
Mr. Liu Huaming 472016 472016 t0 3.7.2026 20381 7,850,400 - 7,850,400 - 7,850,400
B ERRE
Other employees or participants 472016 472016 t0 3.7.2026 20381 47,102,400 (10,794,300) 36,308,100 (2,943,900) 33,364,200
HiEE N2 AE 3132017 3132017 to 3032027 20000 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000

Substantial shareholder

FTERR
Mr. Fu Kwan 3132017 3132017 t0 3032027 20000 10000000 - 10000000 - 10000000
BERE

Total 83653600 (10794300) 723859300 (29439000 69915400
w5t

Exercisable at the end of the reporting period 83,653,600 72,859,300 69,915,400
RIRE AR AIT6E

Weighted average exercise price 20322 20381 20313 20381 20310
METHTHE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

42. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

42. WHEMIB A E)

2023 2022
—E-= “ECF
HK$000 HK$000
FHET FHET
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition of: ~ WEELL NEIBEEE Y
REMHEER
— Beijing Chaolaichaowang Culture —IERERBEEER
Media Company Limited [EYNE] (b) 379,853 =
Notes =3

The Group has not acquired any subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December
2022.

Acquisition of Beijing Chaolaichaowang Culture Media Company Limited during
the year ended 31 December 2023 is as follows:

On 4 January 2023, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with Beijing Yunhe Zhangji Investment Limited, which is ultimately wholly-
owned by Macrolink Culturaltainment Development Limited (“Macrolink
Culturaltainment”) for the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Beijing
Chaolaichaowang Culture Media Company Limited (“Chaolaichaowang”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Chaolaichaowang Group’) for a
consideration of RMB430,000,000 (equivalent to HK$487,495,000). Completion of
the acquisition took place on 30 April 2023.

Chaolaichaowang is principally engaged in investment holding in the PRC and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in property management business in the
PRC. The acquisition of Chaolaichaowang would allow the Group to diversify its

property management business.

In the opinion of the directors, the acquisition of Chaolaichaowang is considered
as a business combination as it enriches the operations of the Company to
finance the business development and expansion of the property management
business in the future. The trademarks from the acquisition can expand its
network of a trading of wines and the property development business in oversea
operation. Accordingly, the management concluded that the acquisition of
Chaolaichaowang generated more economic benefits to improve the operating
and financing activities of the Group and has been accounted for using the
acquisition method.

Acquisition related costs are insignificant. Such costs have been excluded from
the consideration transferred and have been recognised as an expense in the
current year, within “administrative and other operating expenses’ line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

BE_T__F+_A=+—HLEFE F&
E IR EERME AR -

BHE_ZE_=—F+_-_BA=+—HIEE -5
WL AR E XL EEAR AT T ¢

A _E_=F—HFWMA" zt:%é@%ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁlﬁﬁ
ERBRMDBMRAE (TMEMIK) AR

%%?%Hzﬂx%%ﬁhﬁﬁ@jt?iﬁé%&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
NB)ET I B B sk o MU IE 50 A8 1 b
BIRBRATE (THAREEL) B100%8E# » KB
# AR #430,000,0007T (8 & 524 %487,495,000
B WEEE_T_=FMNA=1+H5%mM"

HMRBETEZNRERFREER MEKWB
AEEERPEREYEEIEER  WEHR
HMERCEAEBS T EEMEEERET

EEIR WEHRHNERE A —REB A
EARHEBETAABNER HRKYEEE
EHENEBERRFEREHERE - R WEH
FHMENERTUBAKEAEEE 5 EHELE
RBIMESER B ER T - FiIt > BEEREE
RRWEARATEELEESKEND > AF)
REEAEENCERBETD  SRBUHE
EETEEERE

WHEEMMR AL AER - ZERACHEHEE
RERZGR TERAFEEESBERR TTH
RAEMEER TRENER AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition:

f= A
17177 R |

RAF5 ek R MY 5L

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

42, WEEMEB AT =
REORARR s SERERE

HK$’000
FET

Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment (note 14) M BB sk (fisk14) 3,666
Right-of-use assets FREEE 1,480
Investment property (note 16) GBI (MzE16) 9,070
Intangible assets (note 18) | EE (MfzE18) 158,245
Deferred tax assets (note 36) RIERIAE E (MisE36) 8,168
Inventories pey— 10,981
Trade receivables 8 FEWERTR 89,553
Prepayments, deposits paid and other receivables FAIE  BE S K E MBS 8,292
Amounts due from related parties FEUR RRZE 75 R0 144,390
Cash and cash equivalents REKRIREEREEE 33,371

Liabilities =R
Trade payables B SRR (107,935)
Accruals and other payables FESHE R H I TIE (68,750)
Contract liabilities (note 28) SH8E (fsE28) (57,448)
Amounts due to related parties FE{S R /5 R R (21,068)
Lease liabilities (note 46) HE&E (fistde) (1,928)
Tax payables BRI IE (5,550)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 36) IEIERIBEE (MI5E36) (40,762)

Total identifiable net assets acquired BN R # P& E R EARER 163,775

The intangible assets acquired with

HK$158,245,000 at the date of acquisition had gross contractual amount
of approximately HK$1,119,000. No contractual cash flows from the
completed properties held for sale are expected to be irrecoverable.

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Consideration transferred

a fair value of approximately

WEETEEZ
ToBMEREFENEENGNRERER
HA BT [E]

WEEENHE

HK$000
FAT

BATEENBEE

F U EE H BR A 1B {E49158,245,0008 52 E
MEXETEBAA1,119,0008

[y

- Cash —RE 413,224
— Assumption of debt —RIEETS 74,271
Recognised amount of identifiable net assets acquired BUWERHNEEFEZ BRI (163,775)
Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 17) WEEENEE (E7) 323,720

MAE XK AR S FERS 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

42.

43.

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)
Net inflow on acquisition of Chaolaichaowang

An analysis of cash flows in respect of the acquisition of Chaolaichaowang
is as follows:

42.

BB B AT =
U BB BR S BRI BU IR A VR 58

BERRBHRAENREEREDHNT !

HK$000
Tz

Consideration paid in cash RELIREEZN (413,224)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired Wiz IRERIBEEEER 33,371
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents RERREEEEE ML FEE (379,853)

Included in loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
is profit of HK$37,487,000 attributable to the additional business
generated by Chaolaichaowang. The Group's revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2023 includes HK$337,656,000 generated from
Chaolaichaowang.

Had the acquisition of Chaolaichaowang been completed on 1 January
2023, revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 of the Group would
have been HK$488,860,000 and profit for the year ended 31 December
2023 of the Group would have been HK$46,510,000. The pro forma
information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually
would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 30
April 2023, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
43.1 Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets EREE
Amortised cost I P A
Financial liabilities Bzt A=k
Amortised cost I P A

43.

REFRBEMEENBEINZEZNEZNOS
374870008 TESFALREBHE_ZS - =F
+ A=+t —HIEFEGH AEBHEE_
T —F+_B=+—HIEEFEEKRGZEEH
B FT E £ BI4 %3337,656,00078 7T ©

HWREBHRETN _E_=F—HB—H5%
B AEREE_E_=F+"A=+—H
LEEEFE AU a5 8 49 75 488,860,00078 7T » M A~ 5
BEE_ZS_="F+ZA=+—HILFEN
A 49 %46,510,0008 7 BERAB ZE ERE
ERBEBR  RMEEAMBER - ==
FMA=THTERAEBEEREIN KRS
MR EEBENIER A RBIEHBREEN
FEH o

EMTHR
431 SRET E$E5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR o MR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

43. TRTH ®
432 MERAMEEBIERBE

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
43.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade receivables,
deposits paid, other receivables, short-term loan receivables, cash
and cash equivalents, trade payables, other payables, amounts
due to related parties, loan from immediate holding company,
loans from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, and bank
borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in the respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the management policies remain
unchanged from prior year.

Market risk
(@  Foreign currency risk management

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC, South
Korea and Australia and is exposed to foreign currency risk
arising from fluctuation in RMB, KRW, CAD and AUD. Foreign
currency risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in
foreign operations.

There is no material foreign exchange risk noted for the
Group as:

- the transactions of the Company are mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
functional currency of the Company, and

- the operations and customers of the Group's
subsidiaries are located in the PRC, South Korea
and Australia with most of the operating assets and
transactions denominated and settled in RMB, KRW
and AUD, respectively, which are the functional
currencies of the Group's subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR o MR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

43.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(b)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank borrowings and lease liabilities.
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due
to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate on
variable-rate bank balances and bank borrowings which
carry at prevailing market interest rates. The Group’s income
and operating cash flows are substantially independent of
changes in market interest rates.

The Group currently does not use any derivative contracts
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However,
management will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arises.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates of variable-rate bank
balances and borrowings. The analysis is prepared assuming
the amount of bank balances and bank borrowings
outstanding at the end of each reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year.

If interest rates had been increased or decreased by 50 basis
point with all other variables held constant, the Group's
profit/(loss) for the year ended 31 December 2023 would
increase/decrease by HK$554,000 (2022: increase/decrease
by HK$2,382,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HEZZE-_=F+"A=+—HIFE

43. TRTH ®
432 AR EIEBIERIEE &)

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
43.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's counterparties default
on their contractual obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group's credit risk exposures are primarily attributable
to trade receivables, other receivables, deposits paid, short— term
loan receivables and bank balances. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits and
credit approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the Group
assess the potential customer's credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed
once a year. Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on trade balances
individually or based on provision matrix based on share credit
risk characteristics by reference to repayment history for recurring
customers and current past due exposure for the new customers.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

43. TRTH ®
432 BAFERMGEIEEIERIEE &)

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
43.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

214

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal
credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit
quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring
attributed to customers are reviewed once a year. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, the management
considers that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk as at 31
December 2023 on trade receivables from the Group's largest
customer and the Group's top five major customers which
accounted for 7.39% and 16.53% (2022: 59.38% and 82.70%), of the
Group’s total trade receivables, respectively. In order to minimise
the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits and credit approvals.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on trade balances individually or based on provision
matrix except for items that are subject to individual assessment,
the remaining trade receivables are grouped under a provision
matrix based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to
repayment histories for recurring customers and current past due
exposure for new customers. Net impairment loss reversed of
HK$5,801,000 (2022: HK$454,000 net impairment loss recognised)
is recognised during the year. Details of the quantitative disclosures
are set out below in this note.
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43. TRTH ®
432 AR EIEBIERIEE &)

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
43.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Other receivables and deposits paid

For the other receivables and deposits paid, the management
makes periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of
other receivables and deposits paid based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The management believes that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition
and the Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL. As at 31
December 2023, the balance of loss allowance in respect of other
receivables HK$80,000 (2022; HKS147,000).

Short-term loan receivables

The management estimates the estimated loss rates of short-
term loan receivables based on historical credit loss experience
of the debtors. Short-term loan receivables with known financial
difficulties or significant doubt on collection are assessed
individually for provision for impairment allowance. As at 31
December 2023, the balance of loss allowance in respect of
these individually assessed receivables were HK$10,000 (2022:
HK$12,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

43. TRTH ®
432 BAFERMGEIEEIERIEE &)

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

43.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

EERMRKRREFNG @

RITHEER

IRITHAGNEERRER RAREF

FRERREERERETREETR

NEERFIRT - AEE2EIBEES

TR EEmNEREETIRERE

FENMERENBRENER &

IRITEERIN12E B FRRERBE

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the counterparties
are reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit agencies. The Group assessed 12m-ECL for
bank balances by reference to information relating to probability of
default and loss given default of the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit rating agencies.

FEBNABEERRTDFEEE
LUR 4R

The Group's internal credit risk scoring assessment comprises the
following categories:

Trade receivables Other financial assets

Internal credit rating Description

REMEE T4 et B 5 FEULER R HittSREE

Low risk The counterparty has either a low risk of default and  Lifetime ECL — not 12m-ECL
does not have any past-due amounts or frequently credit-impaired
settles after due dates but usually settle in full

ERR HFEFNENRRREE L EEFMARE 2HEREEHE- 2ERRREEHIE
BN REE BEETHEE BIEERE

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL - not
risk since initial recognition through information credit-impaired credit-impaired
developed internally or external resources

BI&E BHZEBAESIINEERBENER TS SHBEHRES SHATEERGE S
MR EE R ERBEE B8 — |5 e — &5

ERE SRE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL — credit-  Lifetime ECL — credit-
impaired impaired impaired

PN BERBETEELRESRE LHATRHAE EEE- 2HTRIGEERE-

EERE EERE

Written-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in  Amount is written-off ~ Amount is written-off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

24 BERBRATEBABRRNBRENTBEE & MHRIE W EE TR IR
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. EMT A @
43.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies 432 MFRAMEEEEREE @

(Continued)

EER SRR EFTE @)
TRFINAEBRBETHBEEEE
FENTHEENEERE :

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's
financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

Financial assets at amortised cost

Internal 2023

creditrating  12m or lifetime ECL

ABEETR 12ERR2BRAEEHE

HK$'000
FET

Gross carrying amounts

—E_CFREAE

HK$'000
FET

2022
Gross carrying amounts
B
HKS$'000 HKS'000
THET THET

REHRAENESRHER
Trade receivables 21 Note'l Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 165,026 5179
- Provision Matrix
EGLEEA {hEal LHEREEEE ®EEAE)
— R
Loss Credit-impaired 20,365 185,391 20,803 25982
BE EERE
Other receivables and deposits paid 22 Lowrisk 12m-ECL (note 2) 59,659 76,907
EtEBTIERB RS RER 18R BHEEEE ()
Short-term loan receivables 24 loss Credit impaired (note 2) 65 66
FEUIZHER BE EERE (i)
Bank balances 25 Lowrisk 12m-ECL 201,745 554,705
RITHRER RER EAEHEEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

43. TRTH ®
432 IR EIEEEREE @&

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
43.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) S8 &b KR B 5T ()
Note: Mzt

MEZEBERME  AEEERAE
BUBHREERFRNEEH EREH
RAEEREEHEER - RABE
AEFAEERENEFZ AN £EH

(1) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in (1)
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors
with significant balances or credit-impaired, the Group determines the
ECL on these items by using a provision matrix, grouped by past due

status. fER B RE D ME B BB FE [ 7 B &
FIHEMRAEEESE-

13517 5B P — FE LU RR IR AR Y
ERFAEREERREERN —&2 &
SECHRBRRRERETIEEEERE
EHEERERNRE RERZERTR
@%k%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ@ﬁ%%$@@
CZERHARELARBAOMERI
ﬁ%ﬁ@%m%%%ﬁ°?%kﬁﬁ%
BEBYSRRHNEERREN  ZE&
HhEReREAEERE (BEER
B) AR B FHERERERERET G -K
E_=F+_RB=+—H FREKER

Provision matrix - debtors’ aging

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’
aging to assess the impairment for its customers in relation to its wine
operation because these customers consist of a large number of small
customers with common risk characteristics that are representative of
the customers' abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed on a
collective basis by using provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired). Debtors with credit-impaired with gross carrying amounts
of HK$20,365,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$20,803,000) were

assessed individually. 20,365,000/ 7% (2= = Z 4 : 20,803,000
o) NiE ERERKRIEE ETERET
flo

Gross carrying amount IRE4R(E

2023
—m— =

—_—=

Trade receivables Trade receivables

Average loss rate

Average loss rate

218

THESRE B 5 FEUERTR FHE5IEE
HKS$,000 HK$,000
FHET FHE7T
Current (not past due) BNER (GRiEEA) 0.1% 47,195 0.5% 2973
1-90 days past due AR ZE90H 3.0% 49,846 14.1% 265
More than 90 days past due BHAFEB0H 40.6% 67,985 85.5% 1,941
165,026 5179

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for
forward- looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure

relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group provided
HK$5,801,000 (2022: HKS$S454,000 net impairment allowance) net
impairment allowance reversed for trade receivables based on the
provision matrix. No net impairment allowance (2022: Nil) were made on

debtors with credit-impaired debtors.

EEBEREXDEREHARBREHN
BEERAMSNEORMG  LREH
TEBIBE R AT EE B o] E S B9 A1 B 1%
BERMEHAR - EEEE AR DA
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
43.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment

Note: (Continued)

assessment (Continued)

2 The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been

recognised for trade receivables.

43. TRTH =
432 AR EIEBIERIEE &)

EE R KRREE @
it (&)

@ TRETENEZEWIRREDHZH

TREEEBEZE -

Lifetime ECL (not Lifetime ECL
credit-impaired) (credit-impaired)
ZHFEREERE 2URHEEHE
(EIEERAE) (EERE) E
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET FHET
As at 1 January 2022 WZEZZH—HF—H 1,391 22,081 23,472
Exchange adjustments PE R 2L (133) (1,279) (1,412)
Impairment loss recognised EERERE 1,270 - 1,270
Impairment loss reversed BRERERE (816) = (816)
As at 31 December 2022 and RZZE_-H+”-B=+—Hk
1 January 2023 —E-=%—H—H 1,712 20,802 22,514
Exchange adjustments PE o A 2 (253) (437) (690)
Addiitons through acquisition of WEEHI B AT
a subsidiary 33,425 - 33,425
Impairment loss recognised B R ERE 2,091 - 2,091
Impairment loss reversed BERERERE (7,892) — (7,892)
As at 31 December 2023 R-E_=%+"A=+—H 29,083 20,365 49,448

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that has

been recognised for other receivables, deposits paid and short-term loan

receivables.

TR ERIR
HK$'000

12m-ECL

TRITHEMEBURE - ENEER
FEW T ER E AR M S IR R R o

Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
2HATARREEA1E
(E&RE)

HK$'000

12{88

Total

st
HK$'000

As at 1 January 2022 WZEZZ&—HF—H 56 13 69
Exchange adjustments FE R R ®) ) ©)
Impairment loss recognised BRI ERE 99 - 99
As at 31 December 2022 and RZZE-Z&5+-HB=+—Hk

1 January 2023 —E-=%—H8—H 147 12 159
Exchange adjustments PE R A 2L (4] (2) (3)
Impairment loss recognised EERERE 18 - 18
Impairment loss reversed BRERERE (84) = (84)
As at 31 December 2023 R-E_=F+"A=+—H 80 10 90

MAE XK AR S FERS 2023
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 43. £ TR @
43.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies 432 MFERAMEEEEREE @

(Continued)
Liquidity risk management mENEEEEEE
Liquidity risk is the risk that funds will not be available to meet mEBETRRAARIMAMNKES
liabilities as they fall due. The Group consistently measures and AEEMZERE RAERR—WBEE
maintains a prudent financial policy and ensures that it maintains FRESENBERRURRERZER
sufficient cash to meet its liquidity requirements, SUERARBESE
The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturities TRETEAEEZEMABEN RS
at the end of the reporting period of the Group's financial RZBETEORNBHE R T ERITIR
liabilities, which are based on undiscounted contractual cash flows ENRERE (BEERSOTXTEZ
(including interest payment computed using contractual rates) and FEMR) RAEEREEZ N HE
the earliest date the Group can be required to pay: g
Liquidity risk tables B E Z EfE R

Weighted Total
average Less than Between 1 Over undiscounted Total carrying
interest rate lyear  and5years 5 years cash flows amount

L FTRRE

FIgFE LE AFIESE BiEsE  REME  AREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FER FER FER FER

As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=
+ZB=+—H

Non-derivative financial liabilities FiTtEHEE
Trade payables B3R - 126,616 - - 126,616 126,616
Other payables HitE [T - 164,134 - - 164,134 164,134
Amounts due to related parties FEfJRBARIE - 17,389 - - 17,389 17,389
Loans from non-controlling shareholders [t B /A & FEIZ AR AR

of subsidiaries =6 4.60 784 - - 784 784
Loans from non-controlling shareholders [ff B/A B 3EEEAR AR

of subsidiaries 6 - 2,147 - - 2,147 2,147
Lease liabilities HEaE 5.44 14,367 17,130 44,371 75,868 48,652

325437 17,130 44,371 386,938 359,722
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_ZT =

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

43.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk tables (Continued)

43. TRTH =
432 AR EIEBIERIEE &)

E+=A=+—BLEE

RBETEKRER
BB AR (B)

Weighted Total
average Lessthan  Between 1and Over  undiscounted  Total carrying
interest rate 1 year 5 years 5 years cash flows amount
it KERE
FIEH) = DR1E NFIESE BidsE MEAREE <EE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FEx FEx TEx TEx
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZ
+ZB=+-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities FiTEZHEE
Trade payables BREPEN = 30,241 = = 30,241 30,241
Other payables HinfE e = 127,160 = = 127,160 127,160
Amounts due to related parties e REER B = 16,083 - - 16,083 16,083
Loans from non-controlling [RjEYNSIEE229: 8
shareholders of subsidiaries £ 460 770 = = 770 770
Loans from non-controlling WA Bl IR AR R
shareholders of subsidiaries EX - 13,520 - - 13,520 13,520
Lease liabilities HE&R 600 16,001 24,760 49201 89,962 59,469
203,775 24,760 49,201 277,736 247243

MAE XK AR S FERS 2023
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222

44. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns
for equity holders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Group's overall
strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

In order to maintain with industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis
of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as total debt divided by total
capital. Total debt is calculated as total borrowings (including current and
non-current borrowings, loan from immediate holding company, loans
from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries and lease liabilities
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position) and total
equity, as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

44.

BEXmEEERE

REBEXK  rERSERFREIERARE
DUFBEEEERBEE UAEERA
ARBEHR KRS HMRERE AHEN
TRFREBRRBLUR D E R A o RE
B EERRE L —EEEMERTE-

RREREREE  AEERERBLEEXEE
BRI EERTYIZEFHBEF R E X5
H - EBBENZRER (OEGRSMHBRR
KM ZRBEIERBER ERIERAT
ER-NBRAFERKRRERREEER)
SR MBEBERNRGEMBRRERARZ
MEm stH e

BELEXR
N —E_ZER-B-_H+-F=+—H
ZEBEERMT :

2023 2022

—E-= B
HK$’000 HK$'000
TF#T TET
Total borrowings HfERR 108,536 73,759
Total equity MR 1,693,789 1,810,227
Gearing ratio =L e 6.41% 407%
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Group has entered into the following significant transactions and balances

45. FIEFR S

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the [EN =

with related parties, which in the opinion of the directors of the Company, BEERAHRER
were conducted under commercial terms and in the normal course of the RIR AR FEIT ©
Group's business.

Transaction with related parties @ FMEFRS

Sales of goods
Yunnan JLF Trading (note (i)
Ningbo Rongsui Industrial Co. Ltd. (note (i))

Guilin Xiangshan Winery Co. Ltd. (note (i)

Income from property management
Macrolink Culturaltainment and
its related parties (note (i)

Purchase of goods
Jinliufu Yitan Haojiu Trading Co,, Ltd. (note (i))

Guizhou Zhenijiu (note (ii))

Expense relating to leased office
Macrolink Culturaltainment and
its related parties (note (iv))

Expense relating to security service
Macrolink Culturaltainment and
its related parties (note (v))

HEEM
EmEAEES (i)
BENMEEXRERRAT

(P =EG)
EMRLEESRAT (HEE0))

REMESEERHIWA
HEER SRR ELRRE S (B EEain)

BEEm

ERE—EEFEESERAD
(BF5E0))

EMEHE O %)

REHERAENZH
HERSOR R ERREH S (iEEY)

KERZRBHZH
MER SRR E T (1EEV)

2023
—ca—=

—_=—

HK$'000
FAT

525

38

9,755

236

291

327

MBRREMEBOPTREI &
BT TIERRELTRG R N AF
SERAEBRZEEMERE

2022

=
—

HK$'000
THET
1017

20
39

493
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_E_=—F+_A=+—HIEFE

45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

Transaction with related parties (Continued)

Notes:

0]

(ii)

(iif)

v)

Itis a related party of the Group as Mr. Fu is the brother-in-law of Mr. Wu
Xiangdong, who is a substantial shareholder of these companies.

Itis a related party of the Group as Mr. Fu is the brother-in-law of Mr. Wu
Xiangdong, who is a substantial shareholder of Guizhou Zhenjiu.

On 13 September 2021, Diging Shangri-la entered into the 2021 Zhenjiu
Agreement with Guizhou Zhenjiu, pursuant to which Diging Shangri-
la has agreed to purchase Zhenjiu wines from Guizhou Zhenjiu with an
annual cap of RMB8.3 million (equivalent to HK$9.96 million) for each of
three years ending 31 December 2023.

It is a related party of the Group as Mr. Fu is the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Macrolink Culturaltainment.

On March 2023, Sichuan Silkroad Data Technology Company Limited
("Sichuan Silkroad”) entered into the Master Services Agreement with
Macrolink Culturaltainment, pursuant to which the subsidiaries of Sichuan
Silkroad have agreed to provide the property management services to
Macrolink Culturaltainment and its related parties with an annual cap of
RMB52 million (equivalent to approximately HK$58.76 million), RMB54
million (equivalent to approximately HK$61.02 million), and RMB56
million (equivalent to approximately HK$63.28 million) for each of the
three years ending 31 December 2023, 204 and 2025.

It is a related party of the Group as Mr. Fu is the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Macrolink Culturaltainment.

Sichuan Silkroad entered into the Master Services Agreement
with Macrolink Culturaltainment, pursuant to which Macrolink
Culturaltainment and its related parties has agreed to lease the office
premises to the subsidiaries of Sichuan Silkroad with an annual cap of
RMB2.9 million (equivalent to approximately HK$3.28 million), RMB3
million (equivalent to approximately HK$3.39 million), and RMB3 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$3.39 million) for each of the three years
ending 31 December 2023, 204 and 2025.

It is a related party of the Group as Mr. Fu is the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Macrolink Culturaltainment.

Sichuan Silkroad entered into the Master Services Agreement
with Macrolink Culturaltainment, pursuant to which Macrolink
Culturaltainment and its related parties has agreed to provide security
and guarding services to the subsidiaries of Sichuan Silkroad with an
annual cap of RMB4 million (equivalent to approximately HK$4.52
million), RMB5 million (equivalent to approximately HK$5.65 million), and
RMB5 million (equivalent to approximately HK$5.65 million) for each of
the three years ending 31 December 2023, 204 and 2025.

45, BAEFR

(a) Bﬁ@?‘i % #)

et -

(0]

(i)

(iii)

HRBEERZERTNZEIERRERM
RAEERER  WAEEBBRRESS -

HREEERBENEETERREAR
FAERER MR R EBBIRRET -

NI —FEhA+=H BEERE
FEENEBEITI S _—BERS
Bt RBE_E_=F+_/F=+—
BLERMN=EEE dEERBARER
BEMEEBELH SEFEHE £
RARBSIEEIT BERI6EHEE

7o) ©

HREEERMERURREIZERR
R MR AEENEET -

[ # SRR ARAR (MM
%J)Eﬁ%%ﬁﬁ‘ﬁ(ﬁ&ﬂi HE?{‘D?%EGF
> REEE-HAF+"B=+—H
IR =EEE > )4 BB AT H
S EE B SR e HL R IR E B IR
BYEEBE SERSEELRD
MAARE L 2BEE T (WEREBES876
BB AREES4E BT (WER B
61.02B BT ARES6EBT (WENE
163,28 @ B TT) °

FR 1 {8 55 A 2 R B B SO IR =
R MBAEBENEES -

BIER R

79 ) 1| %4 B% £33 22 B SR 57 3 48 BR 75 1
EeBIt - RBEE_T_AE4+_8
=+— B LA =B E E o B E UK
T ELRAE 75 [m100) || 44 B8 B /B A S 4R AR
EMAERBEZHCZEEREEE L
BHRBARB2BET (WERBIE
328B8T) >  ARMIEBET (WERE
3305 &) 0 ARMIEBT (WER
B3I 39EETT) ©

AR EEE RN ER SRR EIERR
RoHAANEEBRRES -

| A % B A 2 Bk AR 57 1L 4B AR 7 13
JE ° }Flﬂz RBEE-_ZE_AF+_H
=+ —HLIERNZBEFE 3 EH XK
T ELRRA RS 75 1) 1) 1| 44 B B B8 8 B 4R 1L R
ZRFZ2ERZEFREFE LR
BHARKEIEBEIT (MWFREK45288
7o) ARBSES T (WERBKS 65T
B  ARBSEBIT (MWERBS65
BETT) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

Balance with related parties

As at 31 December 2023, prepayments, deposits paid and other
receivables in note 21 above included amounts HK$21,000 (2022:
HKS$753,000) due from related companies which are controlled
by Mr. Wu Xiangdong. The amount was unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

Compensation of key management personnel

Remuneration of directors and other member of key management

personnel, during the year was as follows:

45.

FAERRS &

(b)

REE 5 45 B
RIE_=F+"B=+—H> EXf
HE2IFTETEMRIE B R EMAE
WA B IEEWREIH A S (BREEL
HEPEH]) FIE21,0008T (CE -2 F ¢
753,000 7T) ° A B A EIEE S Rt 2
BB RMEE-

FEEEASHM
FRESERTEZEEEBEASHMBEDN
BT

2023 2022

===
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
Short-term employee benefits ySEEN = F =l 2,200 2,200
Post-employment benefits BEESEH) 18 18
2,218 2,218

The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by
the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

Personal guarantee is provided by Mr. Wu Shui Lin, a director of the
Group's subsidiaries for the bank borrowings disclosed in note 31.

MAE XK AR S FERS 2023
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46. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 46. BRIEEHEE 2 BEFEHIR

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from
financing activities including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities
arising from financing activities are those for which cash flow were, or

TRATHARAEEERETHELEZER
2% (ORRERIFRTEE FHE-BRE
EHELEZEEBERNARNEIERGSGR
EREBERANDESMETHELEZRERE
FARRFEEREZER -

future cash flows will be classified in the Group's consolidated statement
of cash flows from financing activities.

226

Loans from
Loan from non-
Bank and immediate controlling
other holding shareholders Lease
borrowings company of subsidiaries liabilities Total
@A
BITR BEER E[2er]
Hitifgm ARER BRER HEaRE agt
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TET TET TET TET TET
Asat 1 January 2022 KZ2ZZF#—F—H 61,155 4,750 107,863 44650 218418
Financing cash inflows BEERESARA - 4366 - - 4366
Financing cash outflows RMERERY (62,727) (6307) (87472) (11,758) (168,264)
New lease entered WEHE - - = 26,588 26,588
Exchange adjustments (R (865) (2899) (6,129) (3401) (13,294)
Finance costs (note 10) BHRA (MEE10) 2437 90 2 3390 5945
As at 31 December 2022 and RZEZZ
1January 2023 +ZA=+—-HBk
—Z”=%—-A-H - - 14,290 59,469 73,759
Financing cash inflows HERERA 112,869 = = = 112,869
Financing cash outflows MERS R (57,972) - (11,267) (17,020) (86,259)
New lease entered HMEIHE - = = 4,254 4,254
Additions through acquisition of a subsidiary W& K18 A=) (¥5T42)

(note 42) - - - 1,928 1,928
Termination of lease contract RIFREEH - - - (1,952) (1,952)
Bxchange adjustments [ERAE (437) - (120) (1,056) (1,613)
Finance costs (note 10) B AR (HiEE10) 2,493 - 28 3,029 5,550
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+"A=+—H 56,953 - 2,931 48,652 108,536
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HEZZE-_=F+"A=+—HIFE

=1 =
47. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 47. MBARHTE
General information of subsidiaries B AE—ARE R
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December A B =FRCE___F+_-_A=+—H
2023 and 2022 were set out below: BABIZFEWBRBFIBEHIIAT :
Place of
incorporation/ Proportion of equity interest
registration and Registered/ and voting power held
Name of subsidiary operations paid up capital by the Company Principal activities
ERRL ,
HEAR%E BRkEE e M /BRRE FARRAZRARGERREELG TEEH
Directly Indirectly
i
2022 2023 2022
Bz TECC
Shangri-la Winery (note (i)) The PRC RMBS56,560,000 - - 95.0 950 Production and distribution of wine
and investment holding
EREAEE (H520) $ AR 565600007 EERDHAEBERREER
Shangri-la (Qinhuangdao) Winery Company Limited The PRC RMB40,000,000 - - 96.3 963 Production of winery products
("Shangri-la(Qinhuangdao)’) (note (i)
EREN (R28) HHEARAT f A 4000000075 LEREH
(FEREH FE8))) (z0)
Diging Shangri-la Economics Development Zone Tinlai The PRC RMB8,200,000 - - 95.0 950 Distribution of winery products
Winery Company Limited (note (ii))
BEEEENCERERRAEZERA f B 820000070 NEREE
(Bi=Ea)
Qinhuangdao Shangri-la Grape Plantation Company The PRC RMB2,000,000 - - 96.3 963 Procurement and distribution of grape
Limited (note (ii))
REEERENHEBESRAF (i) f B #2,000,00070 RERDHEE
Yantai Shangri-la Masang Chateau Company Limited The PRC RMBS50,000,000 - - 95.0 950 Production of winery products
(note (ii))
ELERENBRELERAT (f:H0) F AR 500000007 LEREE
Diqing Zimi Trading Company Limited (note (ii)) The PRC RMB2,000,000 - - 95.0 950 Production of winery products
BERNEZERAR () i AE#2,0000007 LEREE
MegaLuck South Korea KRW2,000,000,000 720 720 - - Operation of entertainment business
eSS L 2,000,000,00055 mams s
Glorious Hill South Korea KRW44,792,729,280 55.0 550 - - Development and operation of real
estate and cultural tourism
R e 44,792,729,8088 ERREERMERCIREE
%
Macrolink Australia Development Pty Limited Australia AUD100 - - 100.0 1000 Development and operation of real
estate and cultural tourism
BN 100278 HERBERME
Macrolink & Landream Australia Land Pty Limited (‘MLAL')  Australia AUD100 - - 80.0 800 Development and operation of real
estate and cultural tourism
pebl 100278 RERCEEME
Beijing Yuehao Property Management Co, Ltd. The PRC RMBS50,000,000 - - 100% - Provision of property management
service
TRRENEEERRAR g B #50,0000007 RENEEERE
Notes: o3
0) Shangri-la Winery and Shangri-la (Qinhuangdao) were formed as Chinese foreign (i) ERBAEERSKERN (REE) 2AlREH
equity joint venture companies in the PRC under joint venture agreements dated BHATZZERAFRA+EtARZZEZHERA
17 May 2005 and 3 June 2005 respectively. ZHZaEmERPERILATIEEAT
(ii) These entities are registered as wholly-owned enterprises with limited liability (i) ZEERRBEFEEAEIMABERREE -

under the laws of the PRC.

MAE XK AR S FERS 2023
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47. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 47. MEBARFHRE @
General information of subsidiaries (Continued) MBS —MRE R @)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of KANBEERA LREVNZAEENBL
the directors of the Company, principally affected the results or assets of BXTEHAEREXEIEEETLE AR
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the SEERARBEEMMNBRAB ZFBEFERE
directors of the Company, result in particular of excessive length. [ E) IR =]
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that has material BEEAFEHMESZIEZENE
non-controlling interests REVHE

Place of incorporation/

establishment/ Voting rights held by Profit/(loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of entities principal place of business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
MBI/ B/ AEEFEFIEED
BieniE TEEEHE JEERIE R TR R i/ (§548) Rt EERI S
2023 2023 2023
ZE=F k- ZgZ=
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TEr
Megaluck South Korea 28.0% 280% (16,838) (4,939 (7,160) 9,645
eSS L
Glorious Hill South Korea 45.0% 45.0% (4,165) (49,189) 37,458 51,462
AL L
MLAL Australia 20.0% 20.0% (28,075) (6,074) 218,463 185,390
B

Individually immaterial subsidiaries with non-
controlling interests (8,389) 935 1,505 7399
BRIt EE Z BRISFEANBAS

(40,689) (59,267) 250,266 25389%
Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of each of AEBBEEEAFEZFHMERZZ2ERZRS
the Group's entities that has material non-controlling interests is set HHENBMEHIN T R BFERESE
out below. The summarised consolidated financial information below ThIREE QB BIRHAT 2 &5

represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.
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47. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 47. B ARHE &=

Megaluck Ea s
2023 2022
—2-= ===
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Current assets MENE E 7,038 7,926
Non-current assets EREMEE 108,976 168,251
Current liabilities nEas (118,278) (104,791)
Non-current liabilities IEREER (23,308) (36,940)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company REHEE \EEER (18,412) 24,801
Non-controlling interests JERER R (7,160) 9,645
Revenue i 1,266 4,256
Expenses 53 (61,401) (21,894)
Loss for the year FAEIE (60,135) (17,638)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company NEEE \ELEE (43,297) (12,699)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests JEPES R R B (L S 1R (16,838) (4,939)
Loss for the year FAEIE (60,135) (17,638)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to REGEE AEEEMEE
owners of the Company s (B518) 84 (1,018)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to FEEHI R E M
non-controlling interests Wi (B518) 33 (396)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year FREMEEWE (B8) 117 (1414)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to owners of NEVEE NELEEEIBAREE
the Company (43,213) (13,717)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to FEFEHI R R R 2 E S IR 4R 8
non-controlling interests (16,805) (5,335)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FAEEEEERE (60,018) (19,052)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests EIIEESI R m TR R - =
Net cash generated from operating activities ESSEFFRR 23 IRS 7,753 3,944
Net cash used in investing activities KRERSFMAZFHE (714) (6,461)
Net cash used in financing activities MEESPMAZFRE (5,420) (2,310)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  IR&&HIRESEEBIERE N,
CRiZL) 388 1,619 (4,827)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 BEZZ-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

47. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 47. MBARFE @
Glorious Hill fRAR L EE
2022
—ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Current assets MENE E 53,375 53,869
Non-current assets FERBEE 598,377 611,220
Current liabilities nEaE (548,395) (550,730)
Non-current liabilities JERBAaE (20,119) =
Equity attributable to owners of the Company NEEE NEEER 45,780 62,897
Non-controlling interests JEEFIERE 37,458 51,462
Revenue i 1,214 1,819
Expenses 5 (10,470) (111,128)
Loss for the year FREE (9,256) (109,309)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company REGEE \ELEE (5,091) (60,120)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests JEPES R R B (L S 1R (4,165) (49,189)
Loss for the year FREE (9,256) (109,309)
Other comprehensive loss attributable REEB AEEEMEE

to owners of the Company 518 (12,026) (9,057)
Other comprehensive loss attributable JEEEHIE R EGEMEE

to non-controlling interests g (9,839) (7,409)
Other comprehensive loss for the year FREMEMEEE (21,865) (16,466)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to owners NEHEBEANEHEZEER

of the Company “aza (17,117) (69,177)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to JEFERE R B 2 A 18

non-controlling interests 4B%E (14,004) (56,598)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FAZEEEERE (31,121) (125,775)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests mIEESI R R TR R - -
Net cash used in operating activities KEEBPTAZ 3 RE (12,765) (75,205)
Net cash generated from investing activities KREFRBFMAZFRE 490 24815
Net cash generated from financing activities MEESMEZFRE - -
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RERIBEERBEE B IFEE (12,275) (50,390)
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47. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 47. B ARHE &=

MLAL MLAL
2022
TECCF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Current assets MENE E 255,388 394,557
Non-current assets FERBEE 523 3,169
Current liabilities mEEE (11,811) (112,091)
Non-current liabilities IEREER (222,525) (236,575)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company REVEB NELER (196,888) (136,330)
Non-controlling interests JEEFIERE 218,463 185,390
Revenue o 70,086 335,771
Expenses Bz (156,704) (340,595)
Loss for the year FRNEE (86,618) (4,824)
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company NEHEE NENS (B8R 55 (81,311) 1,250
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests JEPER R R B (LS 1R (5,307) (6,074)
Loss for the year FREE (86,618) (4,824)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to NEVEE AEL
owners of the Company Hihzmiks, (§518) 20,754 (36,661)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to FEFEHI M RE R PR
non-controlling interests Hith2mks, (&) 61,148 (9,165)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year FREMEEmKE (EE) 81,902 (45,826)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to NEVEE NELEEEIBAREE
owners of the Company (60,557) (35411)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to JEFERIE R B2 W m
non-controlling interests (B518) 42%8 55,841 (15,239)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FAZEEEERE (4,716) (50,650)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests EIFEES R R TR R (22,768) =
Net cash generated from operating activities KRS 23 RE 88,121 158,597
Net cash used in investing activities KRERBMAZFRE - -
Net cash used in financing activities MEESPMAZFRE (39,666) (557,358)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ~ IRE&KIFLEEFEIEE LM,/
CRiZL) #28 48,455 (398761)
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48. ZAREMRHBRARKfHEE

48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

2022
=
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Non-current assets JERENEE
Property, plant and equipment L EN =Y 16 181
Interests in subsidiaries Lnp /NI e 1,721,890 1,649,185
Right-of-use assets FREEE 3,013 962
1,724,919 1,650,328
Current assets MEEE
Prepayments, deposits paid and other receivables FENRIE BV EER
HAthFE USRS 1,042 4,169
Cash and cash equivalents Re KIS HREER 9,161 04,831
10,203 99,000
Current liabilities mEEE
Accruals and other payables FESHE B K H eI 7RIE 3,462 3,800
Lease liabilities HEaE 2,134 997
5,596 4,797
Net current assets MBEEFE 4,607 94,203
Total assets less current liabilities HEERTEAR 1,729,526 1,744,531
Capital and Reserves AR (15
Share capital f& s 32,076 32,076
Reserves G 1,696,534 1,712,455
Total equity R 1,728,610 1,744,531
Non-current liabilities JERBAE
Lease liabilities HEaE 916 =
916 -
1,729,526 1,744,531

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 March

2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Ma Chenshan
ERW
Director

EF
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48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

49.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &E_ZE_=F+_A=+—HILFE

48. KARFEHBRARKEE @

Share Share option Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
R {iEE BBt RETE1E st
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TR FHEIT TR TR
As at 1 January 2022 RZIZEZZF—HF—H 2,275,710 29,828 (589,300) 1716238
Lapse of share option BRI = (4333) 4333 -
Loss and total comprehensive loss FEBBEREEEBERREE
for the year - - (3,783) (3,783)
As at 31 December 2022 and RIBE_"&
1 January 2023 +ZB=+—8k
“2=%—F—H 2,275,710 25495 (588,750) 1,712,455
Lapse of share option RN - (1,181) 1,181 =
Loss and total comprehensive loss FEREREEBEREE
for the year - - (15,921) (15,921)
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F
+=ZB=+—H 2,275,710 24,314 (603,490) 1,696,534

The Company did not have any distributable reserves for both years.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board on 20 March 2024.

A B B F 3 AR AR R 20 R A 4 o

49. REFIHREMBIRR

EFgEN _ZMF=_F - +HHLERE
BN ER GG HRE -
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

LFEMBEE

RESULTS

e

For the year ended 31 December

#HE+-A=t+—HiLEE

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E hFE —E-EF —E--—H&F BT BT =F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FET FET

Revenue Wz 211,185 117,551 2,601,733 369,452 469,181
(Loss)/profit from operating activities ~ #&S&E X2 (B518) /&7 (105,270) (116,243) 121,724 (135,134) (127,631)
Finance costs BTSN (5.211) (5852) (29,79) (5,945) (5,550)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BrFET (B518) /) (110481) (122,095) 91,928 (141,079) (133,181)
Income tax (expense)/credit Frigk Gix%) /1g% (299) 7,785 (34,370) (30,662) 10,237
Loss from discontinued operations BIEREEKEE (118,716) = = - =
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (5518 /iaf] (229,496) (114,310) 57,558 (171,741) (122,944)

(Loss)/profit attributable to: LUREIBRES (B518) /s |

Owners of the Company RRBEBA (188,729) (92,028) 61,864 (112474) (82,255)
Non-controlling interests FEESI M (40,767) (22,282) (4,306) (59,267) (40,869)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (FBB) ah (229,496) (114310) 57,558 (171,741) (122,944)
Dividend RE - - - - -
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hEMBHHE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERARE

As at 31 December
w+=ZB=+—H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

“$-n4 =F-FF —F-—4 -F--F "T-=f

=

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THT THT THBT THETT THAT

Total assets BEE 3,882,158 4370970 2,766,840 2,144,751 2,290,535
Total liabilities mar (1,782,380) (2,303,036) (625,239) (334,524) (596,746)
Non-controlling interests FEEES M (391,279) (373,341) (332,452) (253,896) (250,266)
Shareholders'funds REEE 1,708499 1,694,593 1,809,150 1,556,331 1,443,523

MAE XK AR S FERS 2023
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
E SIS

MAJOR PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT BRPFEYE

Expected date Gross Floor Group's

Location Intended use Stage of completion of completion Site area area interest

2 BERR &P, FEstEm A GER BEEE TEE#ED

(sq.m.) (sq.m.)
(FAHK CEAK)

Zone A, Hallim Eup, Integrated resort, Under development N/A 1,202,446 226,746 55%
Kumak-ri Jejusi, residential and

Jejudo, Korea commercial

FE R BRBAEMNT REERN ZEP TEA

BMEcERone AMIE ETEkE%E
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